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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE "STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”) (the “Director(s)”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the Companys website at http.//www.chinaeco-farming.com and the “Latest Listed
Company Information” page of the HKEx http.//www.hkexnews.hk website for at least 7 days from the date of
its posting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Chairman)

Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. So David Tat Man

Mr. Li Aiming (appointed on 10 May 2023)

Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (resigned on 13 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey
Mr. Zhang Min
Ms. Yuen Wai Man (resigned on 19 July 2023)
Ms. Siu Yuk Ming
(appointed on 26 March 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. So David Tat Man
Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (resigned on 13 March 2024)
Mr. Liu Chun Fai
(appointed on 13 March 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Yuen Wai Man (Chairman)
(resigned on 19 July 2023)

Ms. Siu Yuk Ming (Chairman)
(appointed on 26 March 2024)

Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey

Mr. Zhang Min

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhang Min (Chairman)
Ms. Yuen Wai Man (resigned on 19 July 2023)
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey
Ms. Siu Yuk Ming
(appointed on 26 March 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey (Chairman)
Ms. Yuen Wai Man (resigned on 19 July 2023)
Mr. Zhang Min
Ms. Siu Yuk Ming
(appointed on 26 March 2024)

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. So David Tat Man

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (resigned on 10 May 2023)
Mr. Chan Kui Ming (appointed on 10 May 2023)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNEEH

AUDITOR

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
8/F., Catic Plaza,

8 Causeway Road,

Causeway Bay,

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Room 707, 7/F, Capital Centre,

151 Gloucester Road,

Wanchai,

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House,

2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor North

Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F,

Two Chinachem Exchange Square,

338 King's Road, North Point,

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

GEM STOCK CODE
8166

WEBSITE ADDRESS
www.chinaeco-farming.com
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (“Mr. Liu”) (EZE%4%), aged 36,
is an executive Director and Chairman of the Board. Mr.
Liu was educated in Canada. Mr. Liu has over 10 years of
working experience in legal, finance and management. Mr.
Liu has been acting as a director of Blue Sky Solar Energy
Management Limited (“Blue Sky”) since November 2018, a
company mainly engaged in one-stop solar power system
installation service. Blue Sky was de-registered in April 2022.
Mr. Liu was an executive director of InvesTech Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”);
stock code: 1087) from August 2020 to April 2022 and an
executive director of CEFC Hong Kong Financial Investment
Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange; stock code: 1520) from November 2016
to June 2019. Mr. Liu also acted as a director of Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals from 2019 to 2021. Mr. Liu joined the
Group in February 2022.

Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy (“Mr. Tin") (AR %4%) , aged
47, is an executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. Mr. Tin holds a Bachelor’s degree of Business
Administration from Oxford Brookes University in the
United Kingdom. Mr. Tin is currently the consultant of Value
Convergence Holdings Limited (“Value Convergence”) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 821) and he was the executive director of
Value Convergence from July 2011 to September 2020.
He also acted as the executive director of Carnival Group
International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 996) from
December 2020 to May 2021. Mr. Tin has over 10 years
management experience in Hong Kong listed companies.
His duties included group management, strategic planning,
investment evaluation and investor relationship. Mr. Tin
jointed the Group in February 2022.
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PROFILE OF THE DIRECTORS
EEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. So David Tat Man (“Mr. So”) (BRZEX%4), aged
39, is an executive Director. Mr. So holds a bachelor degree
in surveying from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is @ member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. So started his
career in the investment department of Savills (Hong Kong)
Limited and then worked in a company that specialized in
China property investment prior to joining the Company. He
has extensive experience in investment in China and Hong
Kong. Mr. So joined the Group in January 2014.

Mr. Li Aiming ("Mr. Li") (ZZ 8B 5% 4%), aged 51, is
an executive Director. Mr. LI has more than 21 years of
experience in corporate strategic planning, sales planning
and business management. Mr. Li is the founder and the
chairman of Sichuan Baofengxiang Co., Ltd* (PUJI| 8 L4t
A% {7 BB A &) since January 2015. He is the director of
each of Sichuan Jiu De Yuan Kang Industrial Co., Ltd* (PY)I|
NEITEEEER2AE and Jiu De Jiu Pin (Chengdu) Wine
Industry Co., Ltd* (FLEBRdn (B ) B BR A A]) since
August 2020.

Mr. Li has been appointed as an executive director of
Basetrophy Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8460)
since 29 April 2022. Mr. Li is also serving as executive vice
president of Softbank Financial Research Institute since April
2020. Mr. Li joined the Group in May 2023.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey (“Mr. Yick”) (2 EE & 4),
aged 40, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Yick
is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and
members of the audit committee and nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Yick graduated from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a Bachelor of Science degree. He
subsequently obtained the Juris Doctor degree as well as the
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (PCLL) from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yick was admitted to practice
law as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 2012. He has been a
member of The Law Society of Hong Kong since then. Mr.
Yick worked in both international and reputable local law
firms and has been working as a solicitor with emphasis on
corporate finance practice. Mr. Yick principally engages in
Hong Kong listing projects and assists in legal compliance of
Hong Kong listed companies. Mr. Yick has been running his
own practice since May 2023. Mr. Yick was an independent
non-executive director of Mengke Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1629), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange from November 2016 to December 2018.
Mr. Yick joined the Group in September 2014.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr. Zhang Min (“Mr. Zhang”) ([ REE % %) , aged 66, is an
independent non-executive Director. He is also the chairman
of the nomination committee, members of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Zhang holds a Bachelor of Philosophy Degree from the
Beijing Normal College and a Master of Laws Degree from
the Renmin University of China.

Mr. Zhang was an executive director of Value Convergence
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 821), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from June 2018 to
December 2019.

Mr. Zhang was the chief executive officer and an executive
director of Junefield Department Store Group Limited (stock
code: 758), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange from August 2016 to August 2018.

Mr. Zhang possesses over 20 years' experience in the banking
industry through his work with the China Construction Bank
Corporation Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in March
2015.

Ms. Siu Yuk Ming (“Ms. Siu”) (BBEBH &z L), aged
30, is an independent non-executive Director. She is also
the chairman of the audit committee, members of the
nomination committee and remuneration committee of the
Company. She has over five years' experience in the audit
profession. She worked in Robert Chui & Co CPA from
September 2015 to February 2016 with her last position as
audit junior. She worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers from
September 2016 to July 2021 with her last position as senior
associate in the risk assurance practice. Ms. Siu joined OJ
Consulting Limited in July 2021 and has been working on IT
audit assignment since then.

Ms. Siu obtained a bachelor degree in business administration
with a major in accountancy from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in September 2015. She has been a
Certified Information Systems Auditor of the Information
Systems Audit and Control Association since March 2021 and
a Certified Public Accountant of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since May 2021. Ms. Siu is
the independent non-executive director of King Of Catering
(Global) Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 8619), which is listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) was principally
engaged in (i) the business of one-stop value chain services,
(i) property investment, (iii) distribution business, (iv)
provision of money lending services, and (v) provision of
financial services.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recorded revenue of approximately HK$48,952,000 (2022:
HK$26,134,000), representing an increase of approximately
87.3% as compared to that of last year. Loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$20,560,000 (2022: HK$62,359,000).
The basic loss per share of the Company was approximately
HK15.82 cents (2022: HK51.52 cents).

Property Investment

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the property
investment segment reported nil revenue (2022: HK$Nil).
No revenue was generated. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group did not hold properties in Hong Kong and the PRC for
investment purpose (2022: in Hong Kong of HK$9,780,000).

One-stop Value Chain Services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the one-stop
value chain services segment reported nil revenue (2022:
HK$2,198,000), representing a decrease of 100%, as
compared to that of last year.

Distribution business

During the year ended 31 December 2023, this
business segment reported a revenue of approximately
HK$46,350,000 (2022: HK$23,613,000), representing an
increase of approximately 96.3%, as compared to the last
year.

This business segment is composed of consumables and
agricultural products, as well as food and beverages. The
consumables and agricultural products include reusable bags
and sunflower meal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Distribution business (continued)

For the reusable bag business, the revenue increased as it
received more orders from customers.

For the food and beverage business, the revenue increased
mainly because of the continued effort spent by the directors
to expand its customer base. As more demands are required
by the end customers, the Group received more orders from
food catering providers.

Provision of money lending services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's
money lending services segment reported a revenue
of approximately HK$2,602,000 (2022: HK$323,000),
representing an increase of approximately 705.6% as
compared with the last year.

Major terms of loans granted

The total outstanding principal amount of the loan granted
in Hong Kong (the “HK Loan"”) as at 31 December 2023 was
HK$2.2 million bearing interest at the rate of 8%, originally
maturing on before 31 December 2016, with unlisted shares
as collaterals.

As at 31 December 2023, the loan and interest receivables
in relation to the HK Loans (the “HK Loan Receivables”)
amounted to nil and an allowance for credit losses of the HK
Loan Receivables amounted to approximately HK$2.2 million.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
granted loans to 3 individuals in the PRC (the “PRC Loans"”)
with an aggregated principal amount of RMB12.4 million.
The PRC Loans are unsecured and bear interest at the rate of
5% per annum with a term of 12 months.

As at 31 December 2023, the net of the PRC Loans (the “PRC
Loan Receivables”) amounted to approximately RMB8.1
million and an allowance for credit losses of the PRC Loan
Receivables amounted to approximately RMB4.4 million.

Accordingly, the aggregate of the outstanding principal
amount of the HK Loans and the PRC Loans amounted to
HK$15.8 million as at 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFNWR DN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)
Provision of money lending services (continued)

Details of PRC Loans

REHE (&)
RUERERYE (8)
HEEMFE

Balance as at 31.12.2023

REZBZ=ZF+ZA=+—-BHWHER
Allowance for
Principal credit losses
as at as at Net as at
Borrower 31.12.2023 31.12.2023 31.12.2023
R-==-= R-E=-= R-ZBE=-=
+=ZA=t+—-B +=ZB=+—-HB +=A=+-—8H
BERA WEE€ WNEEBERE FpEsE-C]
RMB RMB RMB
AR¥TT AR®T AR T
Individual 1 — PRC resident 3,900,000 1,371,000 2,529,000
BA—FEEER
Individual 2 — PRC resident 3,000,000 1,055,000 1,945,000
AA2—FEER
Individual 3 — PRC resident 5,510,000 1,933,000 3,577,000
AA3I—FEER
12,410,000 4,359,000 8,051,000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Provision of money lending services (continued)

Loan impairments

The Company appointed valuer to ascertain the value for
the expected credit loss of the loans for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The impairment assessment was prepared on the basis of
Expected Credit Loss in accordance with “HKFRS 9 — Financial
Instruments”. The HKFRS 9 outlines a “Three-stage” general
approach (the “General Approach”) for impairment based on
changes in credit quality since initial recognition. To determine
the amount of impairment, the valuer discussed with the
management on the credit risk level on the status of the loans,
and split the receivables into different stage of default and then
by applying the Standard ECL Formula (i.e. expected credit loss
= exposure at default ("EAD") X probability of default (“PD")
X loss given default (“LGD")x discount factor) to come up
with the allowance for credit losses.

As at 31 December 2023, an impairment loss of the HK Loan
Receivables and PRC Loan Receivables of approximately HK$7.0
million was recognised (2022: impairment loss of the Total Loan
Receivables of approximately HK$16.9 million). The decrease
was mainly attributable to the decrease in outstanding principal
amount of the HK Loans and the PRC Loans.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFNWR DN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Provision of money lending services (continued)
Internal control system

Before granting the loans, the Group has conducted credit
assessment basically follow the Internal Control Procedures
(as defined below) of the Company including but not limited
to the background of the potential customer including its job
nature and income for their repayment abilities.

The Group has considered the factors in credit assessment
before granting the loans. In light of the economic
uncertainties, the Group would only consider granting of
loans to independent third parties with collaterals/guarantee
in the future.

Internal control procedures (“Internal Control Procedures”)
The Company will consider certain factors in credit
assessment including but not limited to (i) the background of
the potential client including its job nature and income; (ii)
the credit history such as previous loans and the repayment
durations; and (iii) the bank history in the bank statement.

Loan terms are determined with mainly reference to the
market rates, financial background of each client and value
of collaterals (if applicable).

The identity, beneficial ownership of collaterals (if applicable)
and the amount wishes to borrow of the potential customer
will be assessed. After the assessment and based on the
information provided, the application will be reviewed and
preliminary due diligence will be conducted. Upon the loan
assessment, the officer will approve the loan application and
need to ensure that the customer meet the eligibility and
approval criteria for the loan. If the applicant is considered
fail after the assessment, the application will be denied.
When the application together with the relevant results
from the credit assessment are approved, the applicant will
sign the loan agreement and the loan will be drawn to the
applicant thereafter.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Provision of money lending services (continued)
Internal control system (continued)

Internal control procedures (“Internal Control Procedures”)
(continued)

A loan register is maintained by the Group in order to keep
track of loan and interest repayments. The Group will also
remind clients before due date by telephone calls and/or
sending relevant debit notes.

If there were overdue loans, follow up telephone calls will
be made to remind clients for repayment. If clients still fail to
repay, demand letter will be issued. After a final reminder and
no response from customer, further actions included but not
limited to legal proceedings may be considered to institute to
recover the outstanding loan and interest receivable.

Provision of financial services
Due to unfavorable market conditions, no income was

generated from financial consultancy services.

Securities investments

The Group had equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss in aggregate of approximately
HK$473,000 as at 31 December 2023, representing
approximately 0.38% of the Company’s total assets (2022:
approximately HK$6,240,000, representing approximately
3.85% of the Company’s total assets).

The Company’s investment strategy is to invest in securities
that have growth potential, with the aims to capture
capital appreciation and diversify the Company’s investment
portfolio in order to reduce concentration of investment risks
in one industry and maximise value for the Shareholders. The
composition of the investment portfolio may change from
time to time during the coming year. In order to mitigate the
possible financial risks related to the equities, the investment
portfolio will be monitored regularly and appropriate actions
would be taken whenever necessary in a prudent manner in
response to changes in market situation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFNWR DN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Board admits the responsibility to environmental
protection. Over the years, the Group has committed to
reduce waste and pollution with a view of effective and
efficient resources utilisation in the office spaces. Staff are
reminded from time to time the Group’s direction in this
respect.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations
The Group's main business and operation work within
common trade practice environment and the Group
endeavours to comply with all legal and regulatory
requirements. In relation to the human resources, the
Group is committed to comply with the requirements of the
applicable laws and regulations, such as the Employment
Ordinance, ordinances in relation to discrimination, the
Privacy Ordinance and the Minimum Wage Ordinance.
The Group also values good conduct of the employees
and has set out clear guidelines to prevent bribery and to
regulate the acceptance of benefits by the employees. On
the corporate level, the Group continuously complies with
the requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM (“GEM Listing Rules”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), such as disclosure
of interests, corporate governance, Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers and “Inside
Information” disclosure. The Group employs legal and
financial advisers when undergoing acquisitions or other
corporate exercises. During the year ended 31 December
2023, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and rules by the Group.

The Group recognises importance of retaining talents to
ensure the ongoing execution of business plans. The Group
has established all-rounded staff policy and guidelines for
staff welfare, provide a safe workplace, and support the
development of talent. The Group provides incentives to
its employees based on their performance. The Group
encouraged employees to update their work-related
knowledge, skill by providing training offered by external
organisations. During the year, no violation of labour law
was recorded. The key customers of the Group include the
long term trading customers and tenants of the investment
properties. The key suppliers of the Group are the suppliers
of the trading business. The Group has established long
term and solid business relationship with the suppliers which
ensures stable supply and quality products which meet
customers’ demand. During the year, there was no material
dispute between the Group and the customers/suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$48,952,000 (2022:
HK$26,134,000), representing an increase of approximately
87.3% as compared to that of last year.

Cost of sales for the year under review was approximately
HK$40,999,000 (2022: HK$30,328,000), representing an
increase of approximately 35.2% as compared to that of
last year. The increase of cost of sales was mainly due to the
increase in the distribution business.

Administrative expenses for the year under review was
approximately HK$17,770,000 (2022: HK$47,516,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 62.6% as
compared to that of last year. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the decrease in staff cost, entertainment cost
and professional fee.

Finance costs for the year under review was approximately
HK$2,962,000 (2022: HK$4,272,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 30.7% as compared to that of
last year. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
outstanding loan principal.

The Group recorded a loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company in the amount of approximately
HK$20,560,000 (2022: HK$62,359,000). Basic loss per share
of the Company decrease from HK51.52 cents for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to HK15.82 cents for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group financed its business operations mainly with its
internally generated resources and borrowings during the
year under review. At 31 December 2023, the bank balances
and cash of the Group was approximately HK$1,616,000
(2022: HK$1,161,000).

At 31 December 2023, the net assets of the Group was
approximately HK$50,318,000 (2022: HK$71,934,000) and
the net current liabilities was approximately HK$33,367,000
(2022: HK$63,788,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gearing Ratio

At 31 December 2023, the total liabilities of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$73,464,000 (2022:
HK$90,161,000), which mainly comprised of trade and
other payables, contract liabilities, borrowings, margin loans
payables, financial guarantee contract, amounts due to non-
controlling interests and income tax payable. These liabilities
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United
State Dollars.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$123,782,000 (2022: HK$162,095,000).
The gearing ratio of the Group, expressed as the ratio of total
liabilities to total assets, turned to 0.59 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: 0.56).

Segmental Information

An analysis of the Group'’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2023 by business segment is set out in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 34 (2022: 21)
total number of full-time employees. Staff costs, including
directors’ emoluments of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023 were approximately HK$7,688,000 in
total (2022: HK$12,798,000). The Group determines the
remuneration and compensation payable to its staff based
on individual performance and expertise. Apart from basic
remuneration, share options may be granted to eligible
employees by reference to the Group’s performance as well
as individual contribution.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the Company's issued ordinary
share capital was HK$1,300,017.31 divided into 130,001,731
shares of HK$0.01 each (“Shares”) (2022: HK$1,300,017.31
divided into 130,001,731 shares of HK$0.01 each).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal of
investment properties

Acquisition of interest in certain properties in
Shenzhen, the PRC by additional acquisition of further
equity interests a subsidiary

On 17 July 2017, Yardley Wealth Management Limited
("YWML") and Skyline Top Limited (“STL"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement
pursuant to which the YWML has agreed to sell and the STL
has agreed to purchase the sale shares (the “Sale Shares”),
representing 50% of the issued share capital of Delightful
Hope Limited (the “Target Company”) for cash consideration
of HK$55,000,000. The Target Company is a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company and is owned as to 50%
by each of YWML and STL. Following completion, the Target
Company will be wholly owned by the STL and will become
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As at
the date of this report, this transaction has been completed.

Disposal of subsidiaries

On 26 July 2023, the Company as vendor, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with the purchaser, an independent
third party, pursuant to which the Company has agreed
to sell to the purchaser, and the purchaser has agreed to
purchase from the Company the entire issued share capital
of China Agricultural Finance Group Limited (“CAFG") which
was wholly-owned by the Company, at the Consideration of
HK$20,000. CAFG is the sole legal and beneficial owner of
entire portfolio of issued ordinary shares in China AF Capital
Limited, China AF Investment Limited, Philippines Investment
Holdings Limited and China-Philippines Human Resources
Services Limited respectively. The disposal was completed on
26 July 2023.

On 31 August 2023, Joy Gold Trading Enterprises Limited
("Joy Gold") as vendor, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, has agreed to sell to the purchaser, an
independent third party, and the purchaser has agreed to
purchase from Joy Gold the entire issued share capital of
King Health International Holdings Limited which was wholly-
owned by Joy Gold, at the Consideration of HK$1. The
disposal was completed on 31 August 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal of
investment properties (continued)

Disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

On 31 August 2023, YIHE Enterprise Holding Limited
("YIHE") as vendor, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, has agreed to sell to the purchaser, an
independent third party, and the purchaser has agreed to
purchase from YIHE the entire issued share capital of Huge
Famous Corporation Limited which was wholly-owned by
YIHE, at the Consideration of HK$10,000. The disposal was
completed on 31 August 2023.

On 20 December 2023, Skyline Top Limited (“Skyline Top"”)
as vendor, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has
agreed to sell to the purchaser, an independent third party,
and the purchaser has agreed to purchase from Skyline
Top the entire issued share capital of King Noble Holdings
Limited which was wholly-owned by Skyline Top, at the
Consideration of HK$1. The disposal was completed on 20
December 2023.

Disposal of an investment property

An indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Success
Royal Investment Limited (“Success Royal”), has defaulted a
mortgage repayment to Delta Wealth Finance Limited (“Delta
Wealth"), a licensed money lender in Hong Kong, and
Delta Wealth filed an originating summons against Success
Royal on 21 February 2023 under Court of First Instance
Miscellaneous Proceedings No. 275 of 2023 (the “Originating
Summons”) to, inter alia, recover possession of the Property
and claim for amounts due and owing under the Mortgage.
The amount due and owing by Success Royal to Delta Wealth
was approximately HK$10,421,000 as at 21 February 2023.

The Court ordered, inter alia, on 6 July 2023 that Success
Royal do repay HK$10,530,000 together with interest at the
rate of 12% per annum from 8 March 2023 to the date of
the Order and thereafter at judgment rate until payment to
Delta Wealth (the “Judgment Sum”), and that Success Royal
do surrender vacant possession of the mortgaged property to
Delta Wealth by 2 August 2023. Success Royal surrendered
vacant possession of the mortgaged property to Delta Wealth
on 14 July 2023.

On 27 July 2023, Delta Wealth informed Success Royal that
Delta Wealth contemplates to dispose of the mortgaged
property at the sale price of HK$9,780,000 (the “Forced
Sale”), and net proceeds therefrom will be utilised to off-set
against the Judgment Sum.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal of
investment properties (continued)

Disposal of an investment property (continued)

For further details, please refer to the announcements dated
1 August 2023.

Disposal of partial of PRC properties

On 3 November 2023 and 30 December 2023, Fuyu Zhonghe
Xinnong Market Real Estate Co., Ltd* (“Fuyu”), an ex-indirect
associate of the Company and being the property developer
of the PRC properties, entered into two sale and purchase
agreements with two independent third parties to dispose of
certain PRC properties at the consideration of RMB4,250,000
("Disposal 1”) and RMB3,500,000 (“Disposal I1") respectively
in which the Board had approved and consent Fuyu to
sell the PRC properties on behalf of the Group. As at the
date of this report, the Disposal | and Disposal Il have been
completed.

Litigation

Shenzhen Shengshi Fugiang Technology Company Limited
(Shengshi Fugiang), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, has received a claim for lost of assets at the sum
of approximately RMB1,964,000. The Plaintiff commenced
civil proceedings against Shengshi Fugiang and filed a
statement that they cannot retrieve the furniture and
equipment from the premises owned by Shengshi Fugiang
and was leased to the Plaintiff, and therefore Shengshi
Fugiang should compensate for the Plaintiff's lost. Shengshi
Fugiang has made a counterclaim against the Plaintiff for
outstanding rent and delay in deliver vacant possession at the
sum of approximately RMB980,000. The case was first heard
in Court on 26 February 2021. After second court hearing,
according to the written judgement of the court, the Plaintiff
will be responsible to pay to Shengshi Fugiang an amount
of RMB596,000 for claims and legal expense and Shengshi
Fugiang will be responsible to pay to the Plaintiff an amount
of RMB594,000 for damages and valuation fee. The Plaintiff
has made an appeal on 26 February 2022. Subsequent to
the reporting period, the Court of Appeal has dismissed the
appeal. According to the written judgement by the Court
dated 26 March 2024, the responsibility of both Plaintiff and
Shengshi Fugiang has been upheld.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Charges on Group's Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the listed equity investments
listed in Hong Kong with the fair value of approximately
HK$137,000 (2022: HK$2,161,000) have been pledged to
financial institutions to secure the margin loans payables of
approximately HK$2,065,000 (2022: HK$4,768,000).

Unlisted investment which are classified as equity instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income were
pledged to a PRC company as to secure a 3-year loan of
RMB4,550,000 granted to a private company.

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantee

At 31 December 2022, the financial guarantee provided
to Gold Wide Holdings Limited by the Group, which is
classified as an interest in associate in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, for a term loan with a
principal amount of RMB13 million, bearing interest of 8%
per annum for a period of three years up to 14 January 2022
(2022: RMB13 million). Since the term loan has been fully
settled during year ended 31 December 2023, the financial
guarantee shall be discharged accordingly.

Capital Commitments

At 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitment
amounting to approximately HK$55,966,000 (2022:
HK$43,202,000).

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates

All of the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
mainly denominated either in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi
or United State Dollars or New Taiwan dollars. The Directors
do not consider that the Group is exposed to any material
foreign currency exchange risk. Therefore, no hedging
devices or other alternative have been implemented.

Events after the Reporting Period

There were no other significant events arising subsequent to
the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this
report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

The Hong Kong economy has been stable and is expected
to be improved in 2024 led by the recovery of inbound
tourism and domestic demand. Looking forward, inbound
tourism and domestic demand will remain the major drivers
of economic growth this year. Visitor arrivals should recover
further as transportation and handling capacity continue to
catch up. The improving economic situation and prospects
should boost domestic demand, though tight financial
conditions will remain a constraint. The Group will continue
allocating its resources carefully in different segments as to
optimize its investment returns.

One-stop value chain services

Since the economy of Hong Kong has been hit hard, many
companies have minimised their budget on IT related services.
The Group tried to enter into the gaming industry by selling
gaming related products to sustain its business, however, the
Directors were of the view that it was not so sustainable.
As such, the Directors decided to focus on other existing
businesses and to expand the depth of their involvement on
such business.

Property investment

The Group originally has few property investments in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The Group is cautious of the tension
between USA and China, as well as the pessimistic global
atmosphere. After disposal of investments portfolio in 2023,
the Group has no plan to make any acquisition in the near
future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFNWR DN

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Distribution business

The Group identifies local and overseas suppliers, mainly
including manufacturers, brand owners, and wholesalers,
to sources and procures desirable food and beverages,
agricultural products and consumable, and distribute the
products in Hong Kong and the PRC.

For food and beverages, with the continuous effort of the
management of the Group in diversifying the portfolio of
food and beverages, the Group mainly offers (i) processed
seafood (e.g. crab stick, snow crab leg, scallop, fish tofu
and fish balls); (ii) fresh and frozen seafood (e.g. fish,
crab, lobster and scallops); (iii) fresh and frozen meat (e.g.
wagyu); (iv) grocery food (e.g. cereals and legumes, oilseeds,
grain and oilseed products); and (v) liquor (e.g. whisky and
wine). The food and beverage products are distributed and
marketed to a wide range of corporate customers, including
supermarkets, grocery stores, catering companies and
chained restaurants in Hong Kong. The food and beverage
products are also marketed and sold to end-customers
through online sales platforms, including the online store
on a third-party online platform (i.e. HKTVmall) and the
self-operated online store of the Group on a social media
platform (i.e. Facebook online shop).

For agricultural products, the Group mainly distributes
sunflower meals to a reputable customer, which is a Chinese
state-owned enterprise, since FY2022. Sunflower meals are
primarily used in food rations for livestock and poultry due to
its high protein content. The Group is still in the negotiation
with such enterprise in sourcing and suppling corn to it.

For consumable products, the Group mainly offers re-usable
bags to various type of customers, including government
authority (i.e. Hong Kong Post Office), corporate customers
which include companies listed on the Main Board,
educational institutions (e.g. schools, Education Bureau) and
non-governmental organisations (NGOs).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Provision of money lending services

Under the current economy environment, the Directors
believe that there will be increase demand of money lending
of individuals or corporate customers. However, at the
same time, risk of default may increase as it may be hard
for the customers to repay the loan at this difficult time.
The management will further enhance the loan approval
procedures and carefully filter and screen out customers with
high risks in order to protect the interest of the Group. The
Directors are more cautions in the development of the money
lending business. The Group will continue to maintain sound
credit control policy to balance the finance income against
credit risk from respective borrowers.

Provision of financial services

The performance of the financial services business has not
been satisfactory over a couple of years. The Directors have
scaled down the financial services business and reallocated
resources from the financial services to develop other
businesses that the Group expected to have a brighter
prospect.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

The Directors present the annual report and audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 47 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on pages 89 to 90 of
this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the principal activities of the Group
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 8 to 23 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 284 of this annual report.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers accounted for approximately
71.4% (2022: 54.3%) of the Group’s turnover, and the five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 90.0% (2022:
60.9%) of the Group’s purchase, for the year ended 31
December 2023. To the best knowledge of the Directors,
at no time during the year ended 31 December 2023, any
Director or his associates or any shareholder (who owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has
any interest in the above-mentioned customers or suppliers.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year ended 31 December
2023 in the share capital of the Company are set out in Note
37 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 93 to 94 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not have any
reserves available for cash/in specie dividend distribution to
shareholders of the Company.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

It is proposed that the annual general meeting ("AGM") of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 will
be held on a date to be fixed by the Board. Notice of the
AGM will be published on the website of the Company
at www.chinaeco-farming.com as well as despatched to
shareholders in due course.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 6 May
2011 (the “Share Option Scheme”).

The Share Option Scheme was in force for a period of 10
years from 6 May 2011 to 5 May 2021. The purpose of
the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to eligible participants the Directors may at its
absolute discretion select as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. Eligible participants include
any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including
executive directors, non-executive directors and independent
nonexecutive directors), shareholder, customer, supplier of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest; any
person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support, any adviser (professional or
otherwise) or consultant to any area of business or business
development of the Group or any Invested Entity; and any
other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance
or other business arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant shall be
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of
the Company. Where any grant of options to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company or any of their respective associates, would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:
(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue;
and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5
million; such further grant of options must be approved by
the Shareholders in general meeting.

An option may be exercised at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on the date upon which the
offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any
event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination
as set out in the Share Option Scheme. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer of the
grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of
an option before it can be exercised.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance
of the grant of an option. The subscription price for shares
under the Share Option Scheme will be a price determined
by the Directors, but shall not be less than the higher of (i)
the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price
of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 6
May 2011, the Company was also authorised to issue up to
242,459,969 shares (i.e. 121,229,984 consolidated shares
upon the share consolidation effective on 11 October 2013)
upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose,
options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group) to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group,
being 10% of the shares in issue on 6 May 2011 (the
“General Scheme Limit”). The Company may seek separate
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting to grant options
beyond the General Scheme Limit to participants specifically
identified by the Company before such approval is sought.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of
shares to be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

On 7 December 2020, the Company granted 55,800,000
share options as to 9,300,000 share options to a director
and, 46,500,000 share options under the Share Option
Scheme to 5 consultants of the Company, who are not
directors or employees of the Group (the “Non-employee
Participants”). Exercise price of the share option was
HK$0.0554 to subscribe for one ordinary share of HK$0.01
each of the Company. Closing price of the Shares of the
Company was HK$0.0550. These Non-employee Participants
provide consultancy services, business development support
to the Group, including but not limited to provision of advice
in relation to the business expansion in the grocery industry
and technical consultancy, and sourcing potential business
development opportunity to the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Board considered that the share options granted to the
consultants can help retaining and motivating these Non-
employee Participants to generate growth in the Company’s
value. The share options were granted to these consultants
to provide incentives to continuously make contributions to
the long term growth of the Group and to maintain an on-
going relationship with them.

Pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules 23.09(3) that the total
number of share options available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme was nil since the Share Option Scheme
lapsed on 5 May 2021, representing 0% of the issued shares
of the Company as at the date of the Annual Report, which
does not exceed 30% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

As at 31 December 2023, the number of Shares in respect of
which options had been granted and accepted and remained
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme was 5,614,428
after the Capital Reorganisation of the Company which
became effective on 22 October 2021 and adjusted after
the completion of the Rights Issue completed on 19 May
2022 (2022: 5,614,428 after the Capital Reorganisation and
completion of the Rights Issue), representing approximately
4.32% (2022: 4.32%) of the Company’s issued share capital
as at that date.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Chairman)

Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. So David Tat Man

Mr. Li Aiming (appointed on 10 May 2023)

Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (resigned on 13 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey

Mr. Zhang Min

Ms. Yuen Wai Man (resigned on 19 July 2023)
Ms. Siu Yuk Ming (appointed on 26 March 2024)
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
(continued)

Each independent non-executive Director has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a fixed term of two
years and may be terminated by not less than three months
prior notice in writing served by either party to the other
in accordance with the provisions set out in the respective
appointment letter.

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial fixed term of two years and
will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than six
months’ notice in writing served by either party to the other
in accordance with the provisions set out in the respective
service agreement except for Mr. Li who has signed a service
contract with the Company for a fixed term of one year
and may be terminated by not less than one month prior
notice in writing served by either party to the other. Each of
the executive Directors may receive a discretionary bonus,
the amount of which will be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion having regard to the operation results of
the Company and performance of the Directors.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at
the AGM has a service contract with the Company, which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey, Mr.
Zhang Min and Ms. Siu Yuk Ming, an annual confirmation of
their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during or at the end of the year ended 31
December 2023.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, chief executive
and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out
in Notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (the “SFO"))
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by
the Directors, were as follows:

Long position in the underlying shares in respect of the share
options of the Company (which were regarded as unlisted
physically settled equity derivatives) granted under the Share
Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 6 May 2011:

EE BETBRABRIEUGESHAL
<=
AEEEE RS TRABRAUEEHA
THMEFBED RSN S M RRMTE12
K13 e

EERBETHRAEREAQTREM
MEEE 2R HERGO R ES 2&
BEKA

RZE_=F+-"A=+—HB XxRAE=E
KB ITHABRAR R S A5 A E
(EERBHRAEGRN ([FBHKBEKG])
EXVER) Z B fh iR D R EHRERRIE
FH R EBEKRGIEXVEIE7RSD A ME A
RAIRBMZIzEGERAR (BREREES
REEGRIZERXBESHEEIRAES
R TORR) KR IEFE H M HI & (&5 55352
EARARRBFEZERM o @Em AR
URBEHERETESFRRSEBZGEMET
RAIFES 461K EFE5.67IKAMEARA T R
FTztEes KRBT :

BABRBARRR T ——FRANBAEK
M BREG RN AR EIRE (B8R
RIEEMAEY LW AITE T A) WIEREE

BN A -

Outstanding

Outstanding Lapsed as at

Exercise price asat  Granted during Exercised during during 31 December

Name Date of grant per Share  Exercisable period 1 January 2023 the year the year the year 2023
(HK$)

R=B==f R=Bz=f

SRRG -A-H +ZB=+-H

i RiLAH fEE TS ES:d EREIH ERfTE EREN AT
(%)

So David Tat Man 7 December 2020 0.5506 7 December 2020 - 935,738 - - - 935,738

FiEX “Z-Z%+-A+tH (Note) 6 December 2025 (Note)

(W) —T-FE+-A+AZ (W)

ZZZRETZARA

Note: After the completion of the Rights Issue of the Company on Bt
19 May 2022, the exercise price was adjusted to HK$0.5506 B T EERABRE0SS6ETRET — 4
and the outstanding share options granted to a director TEE 7 MARITH A IR SR 2035,738
were adjusted to 935,738. 5o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed under the section “DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS”
above, at no time during the Reporting Period, there
subsisted arrangements to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries is a party, being arrangements whose subjects
are, or one of whose objects is, to enable any of the directors
or the chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities
(including debentures) of the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of the directors of the Company, their
spouse or their children under the age of 18, had any right
to subscribe for the securities of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as the Directors are aware of and having made due
enquiries, as at 31 December 2023, the following parties,
other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions directly or indirectly
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)
Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company:

FERR (&)
REQXARDREBROG ZHR:

Percentage of

Number of issued share
Shareholder Capacity shares capital
e &1
B R g4 BHEEHE BREAzZBDL
A 'S Investment Holdings Ltd (Note 1) Beneficial owner 14,135,200 10.87%
A S Investment Holdings Ltd (Fff3£1) EnEBA
Ever Better Holdings Ltd (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 14,135,200 10.87%
Ever Better Holdings Ltd (Fff3E1) ZEGEEEE
Ms. Yeung Sau Han Agnes (Note 1) Beneficial owner, interest of 16,167,600 12.44%
B (k1) spouse and interest of
controlled corporation
EnlEa A REERR
P EE s
Mr. So Chi Ming (Note 1) (Note 2) Beneficial owner, interest of 16,167,600 12.44%
BREBRLA (MsE1) (HIsE2) spouse and interest of
controlled corporation
EnlEa A REERR
IR H A E R
VC Brokerage Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 11,300,000 8.69%
EBESFARAT (MFE3) EnlEA A
VC Financial Group Limited (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 11,300,000 8.69%
ERSREEEGR AR (MFE3) 2 A E
Value Convergence Holdings Limited Beneficial owner and interest of 12,161,600 9.35%

(Note 3)

ERERARAR (HE3)

controlled corporation

BEat A ARZIEFAE# D
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company: (continued)

Note 1: A S Investment Holdings Ltd is wholly-owned by Ever
Better Holdings Ltd (“Ever Better”). Ever Better is 50%
owned by Ms. Yeung Sau Han Agnes (“Ms. Yeung”) and
50% owned by Mr. So Chi Ming (“Mr. So”). Ms. Yeung
is personally interested in 342,000 ordinary shares in the
Company. Mr. So is personally interested in 1,190,400
ordinary shares in the Company. Ms. Yeung is the spouse
of Mr. So.

Note 2:  Mr. So is uncle of Mr. So David Tat Man, an executive

director of the Company.

Note 3: VC Brokerage Limited is wholly-owned by VC Financial

Group Limited (“VC Financial”). VC Financial is wholly-

owned by Value Convergence Holdings Limited (“VC

Holdings”). VC Holdings is a company listed on the main

board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited and has

an interest of 861,000 shares as beneficial owner.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any
other person, other than a director or the chief executive
of the Company, who held interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as at 31
December 2023 as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

REPURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the
Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or controlling shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) had any business or interest that
compete with the business of the Group or has or may have
any other conflict of interest with the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Details of the retirement benefits schemes are set out in Note
41 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’'s Bye-laws although there is no restriction against
such under the laws in Bermuda.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company's environmental, social and
governance practices are set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” section of this report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior
management of the Group is set up by the remuneration
committee of the Company on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
remuneration committee of the Company, having regard
to market competitiveness, individual performance and
achievement.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above and also in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 31 July 2001 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control and risk
management systems of the Group. The Audit Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Siu Yuk Ming (Chairman), Mr. Yick
Ting Fai, Jeffrey and Mr. Zhang Min.

The audited financial results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

AUDITOR

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (“Asian Alliance”) was
appointed as auditor of the Company on 30 November 2018
and subsequently re-appointed at the general meetings held
on 23 May 2019, 5 June 2020, 10 June 2021 and 16 June
2022. The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was audited by Asian Alliance. A
resolution for the reappointment of Asian Alliance as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board
Liu Chun Fai
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 12 July 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INTRODUCTION

The board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management
of the Company are committed to the maintenance of good
corporate governance practices and procedures.

The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls,
transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions on Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year under
review except for the following deviation:

Following the resignation of Ms. Yuen Wai Man (“Ms.
Yuen”), an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 19 July 2023:

(i) total number of independent non-executive Directors
accounts for less than three and hence the Company
fails to meet the requirement of Rule 5.05(1) of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”);

(i) the number of members of the audit committee of
the Company will fall below the minimum number
required under Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules;
and

(iii) Pursuant to GEM Listing Rule 17.104 and FAQ Series
17 No. 19F(1), the nomination committee (or the
board) shall have a policy concerning diversity of
board members. While diversity of board members
can be achieved through consideration of a number
of factors, the Stock Exchange will not consider
diversity to be achieved for a single gender board.
Where an issuer who already has directors of both
genders on board on or after 1 January 2022, but
subsequently at any time has failed to meet any of the
other requirements in the Rule, it must (i) immediately
publish an announcement containing the relevant
details and reasons and (ii) appoint appropriate
members to the board to meet the requirement(s)
within three months after failing meeting such
requirement(s). Following Ms. Yuen's resignation, the
Company maintains a single gender board. As a result,
the Company is not in compliance with GEM Listing
Rule 17.104.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION (continued)

On 26 March 2024, Ms. Siu Yuk Ming was appointed
as independent non-executive director of the Company.
Following Ms. Siu's appointment, the Company has re-
complied with the relevant GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the rules set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company was not aware
of any non-compliance with the required standard as set out
in such code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, four executive
Directors and three are independent non-executive Directors.
The Board members for the year ended 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Chairman)

Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Li Aiming (appointed on 10 May 2023)

Mr. So David Tat Man

Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (resigned on 13 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey
Mr. Zhang Min
Ms. Yuen Wai Man
(resigned on 19 July 2023)
Ms. Siu Yuk Ming
(appointed on 26 March 2024)

The Directors’ biographical information are set out on pages
5 to 7 in this report. All executive Directors have given
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.
Each executive Director has sufficient experience to hold the
position so as to carry out his duties effectively and efficiently.
There is no relationship among the members of the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company is committed to having a diversity of the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The
Company considers that having a Board with diverse culture
would assure Directors that their views are heard, their
concerns are attended to and they serve in an environment
where bias, discrimination and harassment on any matter
are not tolerated. The Board has adopted a board diversity
policy which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. Board appointments are based on merit
and candidates are considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board
including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board
consisted of three independent non-executive Directors,
except after resignation of Ms. Yuen on 19 July 2023, who
have appropriate and sufficient experience and qualification
to carry out their duties so as to protect the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. One of the independent non-
executive Directors has appropriate professional qualification
or accounting or related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules.
Each independent non-executive Director has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial fixed
term of two years and may be terminated by not less than
three months prior notice in writing served by either party to
the other or in accordance with the provisions set out in the
respective appointment letter.

The Board considers that all of the independent nonexecutive
Directors are independent and have received from each of
them the annual confirmation of independence required by
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board is responsible for approving and monitoring of
the Group's overall strategies and policies; approving of
business plans; evaluating the performance of the Group and
overseeing the management. The Board focuses on overall
strategies and policies with particular attention paid to the
growth and financial performance of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group
to the executive Directors and senior management, while
reserving certain key matters for its approval. Decisions of
the Board are communicated to the management through
executive Directors who have attended Board meetings.

The Company has arranged insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions which
may be taken against its Directors and officers in the
execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
The Board meets regularly at least four times a year to review
the financial and operating performance of the Group.

Details of the attendance record of each Director at the
meetings of the Board and general meetings of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:
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Attendance of

HE
Board General
Meetings Meetings
Exegesd RREKXE
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Liu Chun Fai BEELE 7/7 0/0
Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy AR\ EE 6/7 0/0
Mr. Li Aiming FERALE 3/5 0/0
Mr. So David Tat Man BRIEN KA 717 0/0
Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith RENKAE 717 0/0

Independent Non-executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SRS E 6/7 0/0
Mr. Zhang Min wREESE 717 0/0
Ms. Yuen Wai Man rREHTL 212 0/0
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BOARD PRACTICES

Apart from the four regular Board meetings for the year
ended 31 December 2023 which were not held due to delay
in publication of results announcement for the year ended
31 December 2022, the Board met on other occasions when
a board-level decision on a particular matter was required.
The Directors received detailed agenda and documents prior
to the meetings of the Board to ensure that the Directors
were able to make informed decisions regarding the matters
discussed in the meetings. All Directors may access the
advice, regulatory updates on governance and regulatory
matters from professional parties if necessary.

The Company Secretary and the company secretarial team
are responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committee meetings and ensure compliance
with the procedures of the Board meetings and general
meetings of the Company. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’
inspection.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses
as well as his/her responsibilities under the relevant statutes,
laws, rules and regulations.

The Company provides regular updates and presentations
on changes and developments relating to the Group’s
business and the legislative and regulatory environments to
the Directors at the Board meetings. Trainings conducted by
professional service provider regarding Listing Rules’ updates
on corporate governance have been provided to the Directors
to ensure a high standard of corporate governance is upheld
and that the Directors possess up-to-date information to
discharge their duties.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

The Directors are committed to complying with Code
Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training.
All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills and provided a record of training they received for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to the Company.

All of the Directors have either attended seminars organized
by external professionals relevant to the business or directors’
duties or read professional materials published by regulators
or professional bodies for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The positions and roles of chairman of the Board and chief
executive of the Company should be held and performed
separately by two individuals to ensure their respective
independence, accountability and responsibility. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has a chairman
and a chief executive officer respectively.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) had been formed in 2005
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board. Following the
re-domicile of the Company from the Cayman Islands into
Bermuda in October 2007, it was re-established pursuant
to a resolution passed by the Board on 15 February 2008
and specific terms of reference were adopted. As at 31
December 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprises
two members, all are independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey, and Mr. Zhang Min. Mr.
Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The role and function written in the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are no less exacting terms
than the Code. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.
The Remuneration Committee also reviews and recommends
the Board on its proposals relating to the remuneration
of the executive Directors with reference to the Board's
corporate goal and objectives. No Directors or any of his/
her associates can be involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration. Factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group
and desirability of performance-based remuneration are
considered by the Remuneration Committee to determine
the remuneration package of individual executive Directors
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment; or relating to
dismissal or removal for misconduct to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair, not
excessive, reasonable and appropriate.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee of the Company held one meeting to review the
remuneration packages of new appointed Director. Details of
the attendance of the meeting are as follows:

EEFMH (&)
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MFHe EFRRNEEHMLE AREH
8 PR AR 1F I B R IR S S M e B R 3%
femBETEMNTESNHFMTE  BHEFS
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Attendance
Name of members KREBRR HE IR
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey (Chairman) GREEBRE (FE) A
Mr. Zhang Min REESE 11
Ms. Yuen Wai Man REHL 1/1
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) had been formed in 2005
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board. Following
the re-domicile of the Company from the Cayman Islands
into Bermuda in October 2007, the Nomination Committee
was re-established pursuant to a resolution passed by the
Board on 15 February 2008 and specific terms of reference
were adopted. As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee comprises two members, of which all of them
are independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yick
Ting Fai, Jeffrey and Mr. Zhang Min. Mr. Zhang Min is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are reviewing
and supervising the structure, size and composition of the
Board, identifying qualified individuals to become members
of the Board, assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and senior management.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination
Committee will carry out the selection process by making
reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates, including the independence status in the case of
an independent non-executive Director, the Company’s needs
and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations.

The Board has also adopted a board diversity policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
Accordingly, selection of candidates to the Board is based
on a range of measurable objectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience and qualifications, skills, knowledge
and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s
own business model and specific needs from time to time.
With the existing Board members coming from a variety
of business and professional background, the Company
considers that the Board possesses a balance of skills,
experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Company’s business.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the nomination of a
new Director. Details of the attendance of the meeting are as

EEZRESE (E)
EEREREFER
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follows:

Attendance
Name of members REER HE IR
Mr. Zhang Min (Chairman) RR&EE (FE) 11
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SREB L 11
Ms. Yuen Wai Man REHL 1/1

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) on 31 July 2001 with written terms of reference

in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The
of the Audit Committee are to review and

primary duties
supervise the

financial reporting process and risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. As at 31 December 2023, the
Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey and Mr. Zhang

Min.

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement

of the external auditors, and any questions

of resignation

or dismissal of such auditors; reviewing the quarterly,
interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group; and
supervising the financial reporting process and effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems of the

Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
of the Company have not held any meeting due to the delay
in publication of the results announcement for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and suspension of trading of the
Company.
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Details of the attendance of the Company’s Audit Committee AN EBEEEEeeENEEEEN T :
meetings are as follows:

Attendance
Name of members RE&B R
Ms. Yuen Wai Man (Chairman) REGLZ L (E) 0/0
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SREE L& 0/0
Mr. Zhang Min RESA 0/0
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION P EERBEE
The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate EEeNEaRETOEET B EZ2EE
governance duties with its written terms of reference as set EEERY T
out below:
a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and a) FIRT R A RRI BB EE AN

practices on corporate governance;

b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

Q) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

e) to review the Company's compliance with the
corporate governance code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$1,200,000 (2022:
approximately HK$1,337,000) was charged to the
Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2023. Remuneration to the auditors of the Company, Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, amounted to HK$1,200,000
(2022: HK$1,337,000) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A resolution for re-appointment of Asian Alliance (HK)
CPA Limited as auditors of the Company will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Board concurs
with the views of the Audit Committee in determining the
re-appointment of auditors of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment
of the Group's performance and prospects. The Directors are
aware of the reported loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$20,560,000 and had net cash
used in operating activities of approximately HK$10,795,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December
2023, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$33,367,000, in which total
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$31,937,000,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately HK$1,616,000 only.

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in
the normal course of business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

MANAGEMENT’'S AND AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEWS ON

THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Directors have given careful consideration to future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available
sources. The Directors have taken and are taking certain
measures to manage its liquidity needs and to improve its
financial position which include but are not limited to:

(i Developing existing business

The Group’s existing business is operating as usual
and the Company is using its best endeavours to
improve the Group's operating results and cash flow
by focusing on the existing distribution business. The
Group is in the course of negotiating with suppliers
in obtaining additional distributorship with an aim
to enhance the product mix and profitability of the
Group as a whole. On the other hand, the Group has
been actively seeking new business opportunities in
supplying its products in a long run.

(ii) Revolving loan from Directors
The Company has entered into a revolving loan
agreement with each of the two executive Directors,
namely Mr. So David Tat Man and Mr. Liu Chun Fai,
respectively, for a total loan facility of HK$20 million
in January 2024 which will be used as working capital
of the Company, as appropriate.

(iii) Potential fund-raising activities
The Company has proactively explored additional
funding such as rights issue, placing of new shares,
issue of new shares and/or convertible bonds,
depending on the prevailing market conditions and
the development of the Group's businesses.

(iv) Repaying outstanding liabilities and collecting
account receivables
The Company is actively negotiating with relevant
parties and will use its best endeavor to repay the
outstanding liabilities. Additionally, the Company has
proactively negotiate with relevant parties in relation
to the recovering of its other receivables.
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MANAGEMENT’'S AND AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEWS ON

THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

(v) Loan capitalisation
The Company is in negotiation with the creditor(s)
of the Group in relation to potential capitalisation of
the debt. It will not only reduce the debt but will also
increase the shareholder base of the Company.

(vi) Exploring business opportunities
The Directors will continue to explore business
opportunities and implement stronger measures
aiming at improving the working capital and cash
flows of the Group, including enhancing the over
profitability of the Group by introduction of higher
gross profit margin products, closely monitoring the
incurrence of operating expenditures and streamlining
unnecessary expenditures of the Group.

(vii) Enforcing cost-saving measures

The Company will use its best endeavours to

minimise its expenditures including but not limited to

administrative expenses as well as operating costs.

COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Chan Kui Ming
was the Company Secretary. Pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the
GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Chan has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Right to convene special general meeting

The Directors, on the requisition of shareholder(s) of
the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the rights, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Right to convene special general meeting (continued)
The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
and must be signed by the persons making the requisition
and deposited at the registered office of the Company in
Bermuda and its principal place of business in Hong Kong for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the persons making the requisition, may themselves convene
a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of two months from the said date.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the head
office of the Company in Hong Kong or the registered office
in Bermuda, or by e-mail to info@chinaeco-farming.com for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

On the requisition in writing of either (i) any number
of shareholder(s) of the Company representing not less
than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates; or (ii)
not less than 100 shareholders, the Company shall, at the
expense of the persons making the requisition: (a) to give to
shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice of the
next annual general meeting notice of any resolution which
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; (b) to circulate to shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them any statement
of not more than one thousand words with respect to the
matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business
to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the persons making the
requisition and deposited at the head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong of the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear,
timely and effective communication with the shareholders
of the Company and investors. The Company has disclosed
all necessary information to its shareholders and investors
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. Moreover, the
Board maintains close communications with the shareholders
and investors of the Company through a number of formal
communication channels which include (i) the publication of
the Company’s latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars; (ii) the general
meetings providing an opportunity for the shareholders
of the Company to raise comments and exchanging views
with the Board; and (iii) the Company’'s website provides an
effective communication platform between the Company
and its investors.

During the year of 2023, there has been no significant
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.

POLICY ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends
(“Dividend Policy”) on 30 November 2018 pursuant to
E.1.5 in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules’ Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report with
effective from 1 January 2019.

The Policy sets out principles to determine the amount that
can be distributed to the Shareholders as dividend. The Policy
and the declaration and/or payment of future dividends
under the Policy are subject to the final determination of the
Board that the Policy and the declaration and/or payment of
dividends would be in the best interests of the Shareholders
and the Company. The Board will use their best endeavour to
maintain a balance between the Shareholders’ expectations
and prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend

policy.

The Company has always strived to enhance the
Shareholders’ value. The Directors believe that distributing
dividends to the Shareholders is an important method to
create value for them.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

POLICY ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS (continued)

The Policy includes the following parameters/factors to be
considered by the Board for declaration of dividend from
time to time:

Circumstances under which the Shareholders may or
may not expect dividend

Il. Financial parameters/factors that shall be considered
for declaration of dividend

Ml Internal and external factors that shall be considered
for declaration of dividend

IV. Utilisation of retained earnings
V. Multiple classes of Shares

The Board will review the Policy from time to time and may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary. There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount for any given period.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Goals and objectives

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such risk management
and internal control systems are designed for managing risks
rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Risk management policy has been established to formalize
the risk management of the Group, to build up a standard
and effective risk management system, improve the ability of
risk prevention, so as to ensure the Group is operating in a
safety and steady environment, the operation management
level could be increased and the Group’s operational strategy
and target could be achieved. The current practices will be
reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest practices
in corporate governance.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Board resolved to delegate its responsibilities (with
relevant authorities) of risk management and internal
control to the Audit Committee. Terms of reference of
the Audit Committee included the followings: (i) review
the Group's financial controls,
management systems; (ii) discuss the risk management
system and internal control systems with management to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have an
effective internal control systems; and (iii) to consider major
investigation findings on risk management and internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings.

internal control and risk

The Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board) oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 31 December 2023. To ensure the efficient and
effective operation of the business and operations, relevant
internal control policies and procedures have been set up for
safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition,
controlling over capital expenditure, maintaining proper
accounting records and ensuring the reliability of financial
information used for business and publication. These
policies and procedures are monitored and reviewed from
time to time and updated where necessary. All employees
are made aware of the policies and procedures in place,
with understanding enhanced by staff communications and
training.

The Board has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems, at
least quarterly, through the Audit Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks

As a routine procedure and part of the risk management
and internal control systems, executive Directors and
management would meet on monthly basis to review the
financial and operating performance of each department. The
management of the key operating subsidiaries is also required
to keep executive Directors updated of material development
of the department’s business and implementation of the
strategies and policies set by the Board on regular basis.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key
processes of the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the
likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritizes the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and
internal control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate
the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk
and ensures that appropriate internal control processes
are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal

control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and

o Report the results of risk monitoring to the
management and the Board regularly.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks (continued)

The Board has in place an internal audit function within
the Group as required under code provision C.2.5 of the
Corporate Governance Code. The Group has engaged an
independent professional adviser (the “Internal Control
Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The scope of review
included revenue and receipt cycle, expenditure cycle, cash
management and treasury cycle, and financial reporting
cycle for the Company and two of our operating subsidiary.
Internal Control Adviser has reported major findings
and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee. All
recommendations from Internal Control Adviser would be
followed up closely to ensure that they are implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Group therefore
considered that the Group’s risk management and internal
control processes are adequate to meet the needs of the
Company in its current business environment and that
nothing has come to its attention to cause the Board to
believe the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems are inadequate.

Inside Information Disclosure Policy

An inside information disclosure policy is in place to
ensure potential inside information being captured and
confidentiality of such information being maintained until
consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Chun Fai
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 12 July 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The purpose of this Environmental, Social and Governance
(the "ESG") Report (the “ESG Report’) is not only to
communicate the sustainability strategies, management
approaches and performances of China Eco-Farming Limited
and its subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group” or
“we") with the stakeholders, but also strengthen the Group'’s
understanding towards their ongoing activities in sustainable
development of the society and the environment as a whole.
This ESG Report summarizes the efforts and achievements
made by the Group in corporate social responsibility and
sustainable development.

Sustainability Approach

We embed sustainability into the Group's core principles
by operating with transparency and integrity, fostering our
Group’s culture, building a resilient business, operating
responsibly and creating shared value with our stakeholders.

Across the Group, we work proactively and diligently to
monitor and reduce our environmental footprint, to ensure
effective and ethical governance and to invest in ways that
promote sustainable economic growth. Being a responsible
corporate citizen, we strictly comply with all applicable laws,
take into account the environmental, social and governance
factors and risk management strategies in our operations and
fulfill our social responsibilities with good practical deeds.

Scope of the ESG Report

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report covers our Hong
Kong business of trading of grocery food products, trading of
consumables and agricultural products, property investment,
provision of money lending services, one-stop value chain
services and provision of financial services for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting
Period”).
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RE -HERERRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)

Reporting Standard

This ESG Report is prepared in compliance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
The four reporting principles, namely materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency, form the backbone of this ESG
Report.

For further information regarding our corporate governance,
please refer to the section of “Corporate Governance
Report” in this Annual Report.

Reporting Principles

o Materiality — The Group has identified and analysed
material ESG issues through materiality assessment
during the Reporting Period, and made the identified
material ESG issues the focus of the Report. The
materiality of the issues has been reviewed and
confirmed by the Board. For further details, please
refer to the two sections headed “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.

° Quantitative — Information regarding the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation
references and sources of key conversion factors used
for KPIs are stated wherever appropriate.

o Consistency — The ESG Report aims to disclose data in
an objective way, which aims to provide stakeholders
with a balance overview of the Group's overall ESG
performance.

o Consistency — Unless otherwise specified, the
Group will follow the same disclosure and statistical
methodology in the last year for meaningful
comparisons. If there are any changes that may affect
comparisons with previous reports, the Group will add
explanatory notes to the corresponding content of the
Report describing the changes of information in the
scope of reporting and calculation methods.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)

Reporting Principles (continued)

To ensure the quality of the content in this ESG Report, we
observed the principles of balance, comparability, accuracy,
timeliness, clarity and reliability. The data has been obtained
from reports generated from our internal systems and we
have relied on internal data monitoring and verification
to ensure its accuracy. The ESG data and information are
reported in good faith and have not been verified by an
independent third party.

Board Statement on ESG Governance

The Board takes the overall responsibility for the Group’s
sustainability strategy and reporting, evaluation and
determines the Group's ESG-related risks and ensures that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place.

Feedback

We will continue to improve and refine the content and
format of our ESG Report. We welcome your feedback and
suggestion. Please send your feedback to us via post at Room
707, 7/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We believe understanding the views and opinion of our
stakeholders is of paramount importance to the long-term
success and growth of the Group. Sustainable development
embraces not only our own ESG performance but also our
relationship with stakeholders. As such, we are devoted to
maintaining close and harmonious relationships with our
stakeholders.
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RE -HERERRE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued)

It is crucial to maintain communication with our stakeholders
and obtain valuable advice. We continue to adopt the
following communication channels with stakeholders to
ensure we learn their opinions and suggestions timely
and accurately, so that our business could be improved
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and developed in a continuous manner. Stakeholders
communications and expectations can be summarized as

follows:
Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations and concerns
B0 E BBERN HEREIER
Employees Internal meetings Employees’ compensation and benefits
B8 N e & EEHEREN
Performance assessment Health and safety working environment
BRGTE BERZZHITERER
Company activities Career development opportunities
NALEE BRBRERE
Training
=gl
Customers Business communication High quality product and service
®P HER BEEmNMRE
Customer service hotline Protect the rights of customers
xRS 2R REE PR
Email
EBE
Suppliers Business communication Fair and open procurement
HRER BER PAREYNEL
Visits Win-win cooperation
Hilia EREE
Email
B
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued)

Stakeholders
B &

Communication channels

BELRX

RE #HERERBE

KnEZ2RE (R

Expectations and concerns

MERBESE

Shareholders

BR

Community

s\ oz

JAWAN

Government and
regulatory bodies

B R EERE

Shareholders’ meetings

& PN

Regular reports and announcements
IR E LA

Official website

B @k

Official website

B Ak
Charitable activities
BRERY

Information submission
REXAH
Email

T

Return on investments

1% & Bl iy

Information disclosure and transparency

AR AR

Protection of interests and fair treatment of shareholders
RIER R R AT

Involvement in communities
HES2H

Business compliance

EEY

Environmental protection awareness

RIRTE

Compliance with laws and regulations
EFERRER
Promote regional economic development and employment

TR R Ml 5
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RE -HERERRE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To better understand stakeholders’ opinions and expectations
on the Group's ESG performance, the Group engaged its
stakeholders to conduct a materiality assessment survey.
Both internal and external stakeholders were selected based
on their influence and dependence on the Group. The
selected stakeholders were invited to express their views and
concerns on a list of sustainability issues via an online survey.
As a result, the Group was able to prioritise the issues for
discussion. The result from the materiality assessment survey
has been mapped and presented as below.
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RE #HERERBE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued) BEEMEML (E)
NUMBER

5% LIST OF MATERIAL TOPICS EEREEE

1 Employee diversity and equal opportunities BEEZTILR TSRS
2 Turnover rate MK E

3 Occupational health and safety BERRETE

4 Training and development Fl R ERE

5 Child labour and forced labour BETIRBRHEST

6 Employment relationship and communication ERBERRER

7 Employee remuneration and benefits EE®M EAEA

8 Sewage disposal aKER IR

9 Greenhouse gas emissions REREBHER

10 Air emissions RERHEN

11 Treatment of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes EREEERESEREY
12 Energy and water conservation BREARK

13 Natural resources (includes water and energy) BRER (BEKEER)
14 Supplier environmental and social assessment HEBRE R &7 h
15 Carbon trading system X HEE

16 Supplier selection process HEREGERRE

17 Anti-fraud and corruption [ BREF R 8 B

18 Business continuity plan BB E

19 Product and service quality EmkRBEE

20 Complaints handling RFEE

21 Intellectual property HMBERE

22 Customer privacy PR

23 Research and development ik

24 Community participation HEeE

The Group built a two-dimensional materiality analysis
matrix and prioritised the 24 issues accordingly. With
respect to this ESG Report, the Group identified quality of
work environment and product and service responsibility
as issues of the highest importance to its stakeholders and
the Group. This review has helped the Group to prioritise its
corresponding sustainability issues and highlight the material
and relevant aspects so as to align them with stakeholders’

expectations.

AEFERY T _#EZMoMEMEE - WAE
FE M 24 B FIR1E LB HE T o BEARESGHR S
mME ANEBEZHATERREEME® KR
BEAREFOHERAEEMERAEEN
BE-RABRAENAEEBHENTFE
BEMEBETLEEFASEZERAEBER
EEERN UEFHENHERE B
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT

As a responsible corporation, we are aware of the shared
responsibility to protect and preserve our planet. We
endeavor to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopts effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction. Due to our business nature, apart from emissions
and use of resources for electricity and water, our operation
does not have other significant impact on the environment.

Emission Management

Our greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions primarily stem
from petrol consumption from the use of vehicles (Scope
1), indirect emissions produced by externally-purchased
electricity consumed in offices (Scope 2), and indirect
emissions (Scope 3). We have implemented various initiatives
to reduce the amount of GHG emissions, as further explained
in the subsection headed “Energy Management” of this ESG
Report.

The Group’s objective is to achieve a 15% reduction of
emission per production unit by 2025 from the base year of
2020 (scope 1, 2 & 3). Accordingly, a Group Sustainability
Committee has been established aiming to manage and

EERER

ER—FKABRTNRR HPIAMBRED IR
AREE-RMEHETERRERENZ
BRER UIRBARIERNAERERNEX
A~ BRI RE IR OB D BEZE W) o IR PIA 3
BHEEER  REREERE N KKERIN
RPN EEHRRLELMEATE -

HER

BAEERE (DEERE ) HREEHRR
RERRBERERN VB (BE1) A
EHINEE N (SLE2) E £ w9 A 5 JF A K
B PER (FE3) - R B S RE AR
PRERBME £ — P IBEHNNESGH
EREREE] nHfe

N—ZE-TF[/EREF (BE 283) A&
EHNERRY T _hFERESELEEEN
EVBERIR D 15% Bt - NEB KL T Al #F
BRRZES FHEEEREREEREN

monitor the upgrade of production facilities. FH -

2023 2022  Unit
Air emissions REHER —BC=F —BoCE Ef
Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx") REY ([NOx]) 0.0 00 kg
Sulphur Oxides ("SOx") el ([sox]) 0.0 00 kg
Particulate Matter (“PM") AME (TPM]) 0.0 00 kg
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

%iﬁ * ?‘i%&%ﬁ:/é

wE

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued) THEIRIE ()
Emission Management (continued) HREE (&)
2023 2022  Unit
GHG emission' BERBHER —BC-=F “ECZF EfL
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) BEREENRS 45 7.9 Tonnes of CO,e
(#E1-2K3) —&ftiE e ()
Direct emission (Scope 1) B (EE) 0.0 42 Tonnes of COe
—&ftixEe ()
Indirect emission (Scope 2) B (EE2) 0.5 0.5 Tonnes of CO,e
—&ftiEe ()
Other indirect emission? (Scope 3) HEmb s pe(#E3) 4.0 3.2 Tonnes of CO,e
“SMciEE (1)

Intensity of total GHG emissions BERBHEMAERE 49.0 219 kg of CO,e/m?

8l REE

(Fr/FHK)
Energy Management BEEREE
The energy consumption information is shown as follow: BEFEE R R T
2023 2022  Unit

Energy consumption Bt —E-=H “E--F Ef
Total energy consumption BaE 700.0 16,003.4  kWh

TRE

Intensity of total energy consumption BRFeE (5REER) 7.7 443 kWh/m?

(per floor area) BEYFARTRE

Electricity consumption? rES 700.0 800.0 kWh

TRE&

Petrol R 0.0 15,2034  kWh

TRE&

Note 1:  As the scope of total electricity consumption excluded MizE1 : HREEESEHET Eﬁ DEHTE A T
those usage in shared office rented by few subsidiaries, RN ERARA=HREE HESS
which the electricity consumption data were included ﬁ%,‘m)\aﬁgﬁﬁﬂﬂ‘ M5 B & R
in the management fee paid and unable to be obtained B Eg e r~e S
for the occupied areas, the GHG emission data has not _r,\ﬁﬁ WAEHEEEEL -
included the electricity used by those shared office.

Note 2:  GHG calculation for air travel were made reference to Misk2 : MTERITHEERRAERCRXEZFRER
the International Civil Aviation Organization Carbon BB TR BE PR B SR o
Emissions Calculator.

Note 3:  The scope of total electricity consumption excluded Miz¥3: @BESSHET &ﬁ CHHEATEA
those usage in shared office rented by few subsidiaries, HMERABRAEESe HETs e
which the electricity consumption data were included in MABRE @%ET BePME R EES -
the management fee paid and unable to be obtained for
the occupied areas.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Energy Management (continued)

As GHG emissions are positively correlated to electricity
and energy consumption, the Group tries to reduce the
consumption of both aspects in its daily operation through
the following specific measures:

o Adopt natural lighting where possible, while energy-
efficient light bulbs are used to reduce electricity
consumption

o Modify the set temperature of air conditioners in the
offices based on the season

o Consider with higher grading of energy efficiency
when selecting electronic devices

o Encourage our employees to switch off idle equipment
(such as computers and lighting equipment) when the
equipment is not in use or employees are getting off

work

o Office copy machines will be automatically switched
to energy saving mode when left idle for a set period
of time

o Encourage our employees to replace business travels

with telephone conference or video conference when
appropriate to reduce related GHG emissions caused
by the transportation required for business travels

o Encourage employees to schedule visits or offsite
meetings within one trip to reduce the frequency of
travel

China Eco-Farming Limited FEI|R £ EER A7
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Water Use and Sewage Discharge

Due to our business nature, we do not consume a large
amount of water resources or generate a large amount of
sewage in our operation. Sewage produced by the Group is
mainly generated from the daily water usage from its staffs
during working hours in office, which is further discharged
to the municipal wastewater treatment plant through the
sewage pipe work. We encourage our employees to build
up the habit of saving water through the following specific
measures:

o Post notice in office pantries and washrooms to
encourage water conservation

o Remind employees to turn off water taps when they
are not in use

o Any leakage or dripping found in office should also
be reported promptly to prevent unnecessary water
consumption

As we operated in leased office premises in Hong Kong
of which both the water supply and discharge were solely
controlled by the respective building management. Hence,
the water usage data was unable to be obtained by us as an
individual occupant. As our business is located in Hong Kong,
there is no issue in sourcing water.

RE #HERERBE

BRIRIE (F)

IR A KI5 KBEM
HREMOEBEEER RANEERIL
REBRERKENKER MAREEKNE)FKHE
M- RAEBEERNSKEZREGE TR
AERBEAMNBERAK LAEBSKEELRE
HE—FHRETEISKEREK - R IF@BIA
TEERESBEMBEEIEKRBHORAKNE

/‘\

fil

r

. EMAE

AKX

MFERABS  SBEL

. REERBETA/KE /KR

. KERER D EANHEOERIREX
TIRKIE S - VAR LET 1 Z 8 A 7K

HRBEMERENHERAETLEER A
HKRHKE RS B KEETE B EBES -
At EREAERE  HABZETRAKE
BB -BRBRMANEBUREL WNHRNERF
IKEIRFTER B B
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Waste Management

The Group adheres to the waste management principles and
strives to properly manage and dispose wastes produced
by our business activities. Our waste management practice
has been compiled with laws and regulations relating to
environmental protection. Due to the business nature, our
operations do not directly generate hazardous waste. The
non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group's operations
are mainly consist of paper and domestic garbage generated
in office. The wastes were collected and handled by building
management. The total paper waste generated during the
Reporting Period was 0.0 tonnes (2022: 0.0 tonnes) with
an intensity of 0.0 kg (2022: 0.0 kg) per square meter. We
seek opportunities to reduce resource consumption and
waste generation, reuse and recycle materials in an aim of
minimizing overall quantities of waste. As paper is mainly
consumed by the Group in its offices, the Group has adopted
the following practices to reduce the consumption:

o Encourage both-side printing and the use of recycled
paper for printing and copying

° Disseminate information by electronic means (i.e. via
email) as much as possible

o Provide bins and trays in offices to collect waste paper
for further recycling

o Encourage staff to reduce paper consumption and to
share tips and information on how to adopt a more
environmentally-responsible lifestyle

The Group strongly advocates green office, strengthens
daily operation and management, integrates low-carbon
environmental protection concepts into the daily work of
employees by implementing energy-saving office environment
reforms, promoting paperless office management, raises
employees’ awareness of energy conservation, and
cultivates the environmental habits of employees. With the
implementation of the measures above, we believe the
objectives of saving energy, reducing waste and preserving
the environment can be achieved.

The Group's objective is to achieve a 15% reduction of non-
hazardous wastes per production unit by 2025 from the base
year of 2020.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Packaging Material Use

Due to the business nature, the Group does not produce any
finished product and does not have any industrial facilities. As
the suppliers would arrange delivery to our customers directly
for the trading business, we do not consume a significant
amount of packaging materials in our daily operations.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations
related to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste. The Group did not have any significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

Climate Change

Climate change and global warming are the major
environmental concerns in the world. Despite having no
significant impact on the Group’s businesses, the Group still
strives to put forward environmental conservation and raise
the environmental awareness of the employees.

Due to the business nature, climate change does not have
significant impacts on the business directly. With a higher
temperature in the future, the Group may need to allocate
more spending on cooling.

On the other hand, the Group may experience productivity
loss due to increased extreme weather, like typhoons and
heavy rain. The Group will review the existing measures for
adverse weather conditions and ensure the safety of the
employees.

RE #HERERBE

EERE (&)

BEMEER

HﬂﬁA%i‘%’lﬁgﬁi@i'$EIT$FEH§%W
CMEERATERE AR RERN S LA
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B
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EEEYMESENEBENMERNEG K
SEHRELEBAERIGEMNEATE -

RIRE1L

RIRBC R 2IRERR2IREZNIRFERE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Our dedicated and skilled workforce is our biggest asset. We
are committed to providing training, equal and development
opportunities for our people to enable them to reach
their potential in a healthy, safe and respectful working
environment.

Equal Opportunities

The Group believes that it is important to provide employees
with equal opportunities based on the principles of fairness
and fairness. We provide fair opportunities for recruitment,
compensation, training, transfer and promotion to our
employees regardless of their gender, ethnic, background,
religion, colour, age, marital status, family status, retirement,
disability or pregnancy.

In addition, the Group adopts a zero-tolerance attitude
towards gender, ethnicity, disability discrimination, and
workplace harassment. We respect human rights and
prohibits discrimination, harassment, child labor and forced
labor in the workplace.

We have established whistleblowing policy, which provides
our staff a private channel to voice out any concerns
about possible discrimination or harassment. We keep the
whistleblowers and their report contents confidential, and
protect the legitimate rights and interests of whistleblowers,
thereby encouraging employees to report violation and create
a good business environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Employee Remuneration and Benefits

We offer a comprehensive and competitive remuneration
package to enhance our staff morale and satisfaction. In
addition, the Group conducts staff performance assessments
regularly in accordance to changes in macroeconomic factors
(e.g. national policies and price levels), market trend and the
overall effectiveness of the Group, and makes corresponding
adjustments to staff remuneration. Outstanding employees
will get promotion as reward and recognition. Apart from
competitive remuneration packages, we also grant share
options and special bonuses to eligible personnel, depending
on their performances and our financial conditions, in
order to attract and retain the most talented people. Our
employees also enjoy the statutory holidays, annual leaves,
maternity leaves and compassionate leaves regarding to
the relevant laws and regulations. Our employee handbook
outlines the standard working hours, paid leaves, rest periods
and dismissal policy in protection of the rights of our staff.
We disseminate the handbook to all our staff to keep them
well informed of our principles and policies.

Recruitment and Dismissal

To attract high-calibre candidates, the Group offers fair
remuneration and benefits based on the individuals’ past
performance, personal attributes, job experiences and career
aspiration. We follow the principles of fairness, equality,
competitive and non-discrimination to hire outstanding
talents, and devote to protect human right and privacy
of employees. We recruit employees based on a number
of factors, such as professional experience, educational
background and capabilities, and they are not discriminated
against because of their age, sex, sexual orientation, race,
disability, marital status, pregnancy, religion, political factions
and referrals, so as to maintain employment equality.

All employees of the Group have entered into written
employment contracts and such contracts include dismissal
term where the Company has the right to terminate such
contract with an employee who willfully violates local laws
and regulations and the Group's policy.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - HERERRE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Recruitment and Dismissal (continued)

BERSZEIER (&)
RER#RE (&

The Group had a total number of 34 employees as at 31 HE_E-_=#+_-_A=+—H K&EEH

December 2023. The employee compositions by gender, age B34EZEE MR - FERERERBRE S 2

group and geographical region were as follows: BEMAKINT :
Number of Percentage of
employees as at employees as at
31.12.2023 31.12.2023
R=ZB-=F R=-E==
+t=-A=+-—H +t=-A=+-—H
Employee Structure EBEHAE MEEHAE HNEERD L
Number of Employees EEHBE 34 100%
Gender Male 20 59%
145 S
Female 14 41%
g
Rank Senior Management 6 18%
BAR BREEE
Middle Management 5 15%
PREEE
General Staff 23 67%
EBET
Age Group Under 30 years old 0 0%
FERA R 305 A T
30 - 50 years old 31 91%
30E505%
Over 50 years old 3 9%
50 A £
Geographical Region Hong Kong 12 35%
i@ BB
Mainland China 22 65%
B A3
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE #HERERBE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued) EBERSIER (&)
Recruitment and Dismissal (continued) PER#E (&
Number of
employees
resigned in
Year 2023 Turnover Rates
—E-=F
EBR
Employee Structure EE#E EEEE AR
Gender Male 26 163%
14 5] S
Female 20 174%
gk
Geographical Region Hong Kong 8 53%
b & BB
Mainland China 38 304%
A B A
Age Group Under 30 years old 0 N/A
Fi a5 305% AT iE
30 — 50 years old 42 183%
30E505%
Over 50 years old 4 89%
S50BRJA £
Promotion of work-life balance BETEEEZN T

We believe a culture of healthy work-life balance supports
us to build an energetic and more collaborative team. By
providing five-day working week and organizing a wide
variety of recreational activities for our staff, we believe it can
uphold the excellent work performance of employees and
benefit the growth of the Group.

Training and Development

We believe our sustainable growth is largely derived from
the continuous development of our staff. We place a great
emphasis on career development of talents and are dedicated
to providing our employees with abundant opportunities for
career development.

IR AR B A T B AR 7 8 3L 7 AP
B —EFEmE N R E A mBIFIER EE -
BERFEAPARNIFERRRETEBE
BREZY HMARKBEIARELRIFTLE
MTHERR EMANRAREAERER-

BIERE

BARERMNAIFEERERKEE LR
BREMEINFEER - AMAFFEBRA
THREXER BOREERMHTRENRBE

LREE-
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Training and Development (continued)

We provide and encourage employees at all levels to
participate in various internal and external courses, including
technical and vocational training seminars, forums, on-job
and continuing training courses. We also offer educational
subsidies to our employees to attend academic and
commercial course. These not only enhance their job-

BREREIER (&)

BAERE (&)
BHAEARERBRYZBHRELETEW
WAL K SN BB RAR - BR SR R B R I )BT - AR
RE EBREFEFIRE - HATRAZME
MEBMERENRERUAE M -ZFE
ETERS T RS ETERBA R R ANE
NRREFRHEEE FIREFANRFHE-

related skills and knowledge, but also provide them equal

opportunities for learning, training and promotion.

Year 2023
Occupational Training Data B 2T T BB —E=ZHE
The percentage of employee trained by Gender Male 100%
BERBSNZIETEAL St
Female 100%
pgid
The percentage of employee trained by Rank Senior Management 100%
BERBREINZIEIEIL SRERE
Middle Management 100%
hAREEE
General Staff 100%
EBET
Average training hours of employees by Gender Male 3
BURE DN TP REREEIER S
Female 3
gk
Average training hours of employees by Rank Senior Management 3
BRI N FIIREEIGH SRERE
Middle Management 3
hAREREE
General Staff 3
EBET
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any incidents of non-compliance with the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the laws of Hong Kong) and
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485
of the laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group pays great attention to the physical, mental
and occupational health of its employees. We aim to offer
and maintain a safe and healthy working environment for
employees to protect them from work-related accidents or
injuries.

We are committed to achieving this goal by implementing
the measures including but not limited to:

Provide personal medical insurance and business travel
insurance for all employees

o Provide sufficient first-aid kits and personal protective
equipment at workplaces

o Prohibit smoking in all enclosed areas within our
offices without exception

o Perform regular checking and maintenance of
machines, equipment and fire extinguishers

During the Reporting Period, there is no workplace accidents.
In case the accident occurred, it will be investigated and
reported to the relevant authorities and measures have been
put in place to prevent the recurrence of the same. During
the past three years, the Group did not record any work-
related fatality of employees.

RE #HERERBE
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a8
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RE -HERERRE

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY (continued)
Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with The Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards. We also did not receive any reports
on work-related injuries or causalities during the Reporting
Period.

LABOUR STANDARD

In strict accordance with applicable local laws and
regulations, we adopt a zero-tolerance approach to unethical
labour practice including but not limited to child labor and
forced labor. Once any breach of regulations is discovered,
the labour relationship will be terminated immediately. All
recruitment procedure and promotion are managed by the
Human Resource Department to ensure no child labour
or forced labour is employed. If use of child labour or
forced labour is discovered, the Group will terminate the
employment contract and investigate if further action is
needed.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with the Employment of
Children Regulations made under the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) or other relevant laws
and regulations on preventing child or forced labour.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

We value mutually beneficial and longstanding relationships
with our suppliers. Our major suppliers are suppliers of
grocery food products, consumables and agricultural
products, external business consultants and general office
supply. The selection of suppliers is based on criteria
such as quality, cost, business scale and reputation, with
preference given to potential suppliers that demonstrate their
commitment to the environment. Full compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations is a must for our suppliers.
When a supplier is found to be inconsistent with our policy
or contractual requirements, we will terminate future
cooperation until the situation got improved.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT (continued)
During the Reporting Period, 5 of suppliers sourced in Hong
Kong.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware that
any key suppliers had any significant actual and potential
negative impact on business ethics, environmental protection,
human rights and labour practices, nor any of them had any
non-compliance incident in respect of human rights issues.

CARING FOR CUSTOMER

The Group attaches importance to quality, safety and
environment, and endeavors to fulfill social responsibilities
and facilitate sustainable development of the food industry.

Product Responsibility

As one of our principal business is trading of grocery food
products, we have always endeavored to provide safety
food products to our customers. We have registered as
food importer and food distributor under the Food Safety
Ordinance (Chapter 612 of the Laws of Hong Kong). We
have registered as a food importers/food distributors under
the Food Safety Ordinance. In order to demonstrate that
we are committed to selecting cooking oil suppliers with
adequate and appropriate records, we have registered
as registered supplier to the Hong Kong Cooking Oil
Registration Scheme under Hong Kong Quality Assurance
Agency (“HKQAA") on voluntary basis. Regarding to
product recall, we attach great importance to the food alerts
issued by Centre for Food Safety as well as related market
information. Once we noticed our product is involved with
quality and safety issues and necessary to be revoked, we
will fully collaborate with related regulatory authorities and
recall the relevant products as required. Recall arrangement
will be announced and the recalled products will be handled
appropriately. During the Reporting Period, no product recall
has been incurred.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

CARING FOR CUSTOMER (continued)

Privacy Protection and Intellectual Property

In accordance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group handles the
personal data of our customers carefully by collecting only
necessary personal data and ensures that the information
obtained is protected from unauthorised or accidental access.
Our employees are constantly reminded the importance of
respecting the privacy of personal and business data.

No significant issue related to intellectual property rights was
noted for the Reporting Period. However, the Group is aware
that relevant steps should be taken to follow all relevant
regulations in order to protect intellectual properties which
belong to itself or any other third parties.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the Consumer Goods
Safety Ordinance (Chapter 456 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Food Safety Ordinance (Chapter 612 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Food and Drugs (Composition and Labelling)
Regulations (Chapter 132W of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations that
constitutes a significant impact on the Group in relation to
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

We regard honesty, integrity and fair play as core values that
must be upheld by all directors and staff at all times. The
Group strictly complies with applicable laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud or anti-money laundering.
Any misconduct related to bribery, extortion, fraud or anti-
money laundering are strictly prohibited within the Group. To
ensure full compliance with the Group’s anti-fraud and anti-
bribery policies, the Group had conducted anti-corruption
briefing and training sessions for its employees.

We have established reporting channels where employees
can report illegal and non-compliance conducts that they
have noticed by in-person, phone, email or letter. The
reporting content will be confidential and never be exposed
to third party.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ANTI-CORRUPTION (continued)

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant laws and regulations and there was no legal cases
concerned with corrupt practices were brought against the
Group or Directors or employees.

CARING FOR SOCIETY

We are committed to participating in community events and
the improvement of community wellbeing and social services.
We support and encourage staff to actively participate in a
wide range of charitable events outside working hours, raise
awareness and concern for the community, last but not least,
inspire more people to take part in serving the community.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made contributions
to various charitable organization, such as The Hong Kong
Federation of Youth Groups.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR &

/l Er(EEB)EHMEBRAERATE
A

sian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA ECO-FARMING LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued into
Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 89 to 283, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In
all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

1.

Limitation of scope on the settlement in relation
to disposal of investment properties

As disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, on 6 September 2022, BEHFIREHR
R 2 & (the "Vendor”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, had disposed of a property located in
Fujian Province, at a consideration of RMB3,425,000
(the "Consideration”) to an independent third party
(the “Purchaser”).

During the course of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022, we have been told by
the management of the Company that part of the
Consideration, amounted to RMB3,125,000, had
been received by Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy (“Mr. Tin"),
the chief executive officer and executive director
of the Company, on behalf of the Vendor, in order
to settle the taxation issue of an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company in the PRC as
he was willing to travel to PRC under compulsory
quarantine requirement during the material time
of COVID-19 pandemic. On 31 October 2022, the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
has approved Mr. Tin to keep RMB1,125,000 out of
the amount received by Mr. Tin in his personal bank
account. For the remaining RMB2,000,000 out of the
amount received by Mr. Tin, Mr. Tin had deposited
RMB100,000 into the Vendor's bank account, and
had remitted RMB1,900,000 to the bank accounts of
other subsidiaries in Hong Kong through a remittance
company.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2023, Mr. Tin did not use the proceeds
to settle the taxation issue as mentioned above
and has not even repaid the amount received of
RMB1,125,000 to the Group. Therefore, as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2023, the amount
due from Mr. Tin was RMB1,125,000, further details
are set out in Note 25(c)(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR &

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

1.

Limitation of scope on the settlement in relation
to disposal of investment properties (continued)
However, we have not been provided with the
supporting documents from the Board that would
satisfy ourselves as to the reasonableness of
authorising Mr. Tin to receive part of Consideration on
behalf of the Vendor. There were no other satisfactory
audit procedures that we could adopt to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence in this regard.

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above
matters might have significant consequential effects
on the consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2023 and the related disclosures thereof
in the consolidated financial statements.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of

Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and

its subsidiary (collectively referred as the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King
Noble")

As disclosed in Note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, a winding-up order was made by the
High Court against Seal Eco at the hearing of the
Petition on 16 November 2022 (the “Deconsolidation
Date”). The Official Receiver of Hong Kong and
the joint and several provisional liquidators were
appointed pursuant to the Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter
32 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The books and
records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were kept
and maintained by the bankruptcy administrator,
which were not made available to the Group's
management subsequent to the Deconsolidation Date.
Consequently, the Group had deconsolidated the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries (the “Deconsolidation”)
as the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
considered that as the Group no longer had the
power to govern the financial and operating policies
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, the Group’s control
over the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries had been lost on
the Deconsolidation Date.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of

Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and

its subsidiary (collectively referred as the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King
Noble”) (continued)

Under the circumstances as explained above, we
were not able to carry out procedures which we

considered necessary on the books and records of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, to satisfy ourselves as to:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the existence, rights and obligations,
completeness, accuracy, valuation and
classification of its total assets of approximately
HK$5,987,000, total liabilities of approximately
HK$14,629,000 and the cumulative translation
reserve of approximately HK$2,677,000 as at
the Deconsolidation Date;

its loss and total comprehensive expenses for
the period of approximately HK$22,915,000
and HK$25,086,000, respectively for the period
from 1 January 2022 to the Deconsolidation
Date;

the segment information of distribution
business and other related disclosure notes in
relation to the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries,
as included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022; and

the accuracy of the gain on deconsolidation of
subsidiaries of approximately HK$3,982,000, as
included in the profit or loss of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

There were no other satisfactory audit procedures
that we could adopt to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B2 RS

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of
Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and
its subsidiary (collectively referred as the

“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King

Noble"”) (continued)

Financial information in respect of the Deconsolidated

Subsidiaries is set out below:

Income and expenses of the Deconsolidated

FrRERER (&)

2. HUHREARBHEELRBRBEFR
RA([BHREE)REKE AT (&
BRIBUEGREARMBEAR]) R H
EREZERERERAR (RER
King Noble Holdings Limited ([King
Noble |) (&8 E R (%)

ISR S ARKERA0H A
BT

HUB#R & AR B A R B A KRR :

Subsidiaries:

From 1 January
2022 to
Deconsolidation
Date
BE-_E -4
—A—BEEH
A AR A H
HK$'000
FAT
Revenue W s 10,389
Cost of sales 85 & XA (16,327)
Gross loss E£i8 (5,938)
Other income H b Y A 304
Administrative expenses TR X (17,281)
Loss before tax FR 1% Al BT 18 (22,915)
Income tax expense FrigfiMx -
Loss for the period HNEE (22,915)
Other comprehensive expense Hih 2 EAX (2,171)
Total comprehensive expense for the period HAN2EMAX 8 (25,086)

Total comprehensive expense for the period JEAREAN 2 7 2 4858

attributable to:

Owners of the Company = WNGIE 2= DN (18,778)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR AR R = (6,308)
(25,086)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of

Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and

its subsidiary (collectively referred as the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King
Noble"”) (continued)

Assets and liabilities of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries:

BB ®E

THRER (#&)
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RE(BREED RENBATE (4
BRIBHGEEARMEAR]) R
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King Noble Holdings Limited ([King
Noble |) #y €8 E PR &) (%)

HUBSR A ARMBARINEERAE:

As at

Deconsolidation

Date

R EUH

e AR A

HK$'000

FHT

Plant and equipment 5 K & 323
Trade and other receivables JREE LT AR R B L A R KRR TR 3,272
Amount due from the Group Bl BEHEEKIE 2,173
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeFE 219
Trade and other payables JRE A-F B SRR % LAt JE A< TR TE (12,798)
Loan from a shareholder REE R (750)
Amount due to the Group B BE5EFIE (181)
Amount due to non-controlling interests JE 1 FE 4% AR AR R 4 25 R IE (900)
Net liabilities of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries BUH%RA AR B AR & EF58 (8,642)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company & A &% A AEHEZS (6,445)
Non-controlling interests FEFE R AR R 2= (2,197)
(8,642)

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the
above amounts would affect the amounts recorded
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in respect of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries for the period from
1 January 2022 to the Deconsolidation Date and
consolidated statement of financial position in
respect of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries at the
Deconsolidation Date, with a corresponding effect on
the gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries and gain
on written-off of current accounts, net for the year
ended 31 December 2022, and the related disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR &

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of

Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and

its subsidiary (collectively referred as the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King
Noble”) (continued)

Also, as at 31 December 2022, included in other
payables, was an amount of approximately
HK$2,173,000 which represented amount due to
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries as a result of the
Deconsolidation. We are unable to obtain supporting
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the balance is free
from material misstatement. There were no other
alternative audit procedures that we could carry out
to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
to verify the accuracy, rights and obligations and
completeness of this balance as at 31 December
2022. Accordingly, we were unable to satisfy ourselves
as to whether the amount due to the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries was fairly stated.

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above
matter might have significant consequential effects
on the consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and
the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements. Our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 was modified because of the possible effect
of this matter on the comparability of the related
current year figures and corresponding figures in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

As disclosed in Notes 43(a)(iii) and 43(a)(iv) to the
consolidated financial statements, during the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group has disposed
of the entire share capital of King Health and King
Noble.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of

Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and

its subsidiary (collectively referred as the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King
Noble”) (continued)

However, as explained above, we were not provided
with sufficient appropriate audit evidence in respect of
other payables in aggregate of HK$2,173,000 due to
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from King Health and
King Noble, on the respective dates of disposals of
King Health and King Noble. Consequently, we could
not ascertain the net liabilities of King Health and King
Noble on the respective dates of disposals, and hence,
we could not ascertain whether the gains on disposals
of HK$4,239,000 and HK$2,063,000, respectively, are
fairly stated, for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above
amounts would affect the amounts recorded in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in respect of King Health and
King Noble for the period from 1 January 2023 to
the respective dates of disposals and statements of
financial position in respect of the King Health and
King Noble at the respective dates of disposals, with
a corresponding effect on the gain on disposal of
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023,
and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

Multiple fundamental uncertainties relating to
going concern

As described in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group reported loss attributable
to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$20,560,000 and had net cash used in operating
activities of approximately HK$10,795,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December
2023, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by approximately HK$33,367,000, in
which its total borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$31,937,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$1,616,000 only.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR &

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

3.

Multiple fundamental uncertainties relating to
going concern (continued)

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and therefore it may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

The Directors have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial
position as described in Note 3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared by the Directors on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
on the Group’s ability to obtain sufficient future
funding. Due to the uncertainty of the Group’s ability
to maintain adequate future cash flows, we were
unable to ascertain whether the assumptions made by
the Directors in preparing the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis are proper and
appropriate.

Should the going concern assumption be
inappropriate, adjustments would be necessary to
reclassify all non-current assets as current assets,
write-down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts and to provide for further liabilities which
may arise. The consolidated financial statements
have not incorporated any of these adjustments.
However, the uncertainties surrounding the Group's
future cash flows raises significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. We
consider that appropriate disclosures have been made
in the consolidated financial statements concerning
this situation, but we are unable to obtain adequate
evidence concerning the Group's ability to meet any
financial obligations as and when they fall due and we
consider that these material uncertainties relating to
going concern basis.

We consider the cumulative effect of the above matters on
the consolidated financial statements is so extreme that we

have disclaimed our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. However, because of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “"Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Cheng Ting Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: P06598

8/F Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

12 July 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEREREMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ZT_=F+_A=t+—HIEFE
2023 2022
—=E-= T
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt FHEx FHET
Revenue I &5 5
Goods and services 7 M AR 1% 46,350 25,811
Interest under effective interest REBRNEEFENFE
method 2,602 323
Total revenue Fell g 48,952 26,134
Cost of sales & AR (40,999) (30,328)
Gross profit (loss) ER (18) 7,953 (4,194)
Other income, gains or losses, net HAup A - W s E 1B -
ik 7 2,430 2,668
Impairment losses reversed (recognised) 8 Hi{z & & 1E18 18 T # (D
under expected credit loss model, net (¥R ABEERE F5E 9 3,209 (7,479)
Loss from changes in fair value of KREMERN R FEE
investment properties, net 518 F 58 18 = (1,697)
Gain (loss) from changes in fair value R A FEFFAEZRE 2 £/
of financial assets at fair value BEAFEZEHKE
through profit or loss (E518) 1,685 (1,930)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries EUBAR& A BRI E 2 &M
W %5 42 - 3,982
Gain (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries,  H & M B A A&y S
net (E518)  #8 43 7,358 (5,305)
Gain on written-off of current account, Hi$5 4 F R B Uk - F5E
net - 9,952
Loss on settlement of deposits paid HEENIEeERE 23 (24,878) -
Impairment loss recognised on deposits FTHERE (Fix & MR EE B
paid 23 (2,403) (7,219)
Gain on settlement of other receivables 4% & £ b & I 20 IE & U 25 8,912 -
Selling and distribution expenses HE RDIERX (311) (370)
Administrative expenses 1THRFA X (17,770) (47,516)
Share of results of associates DR E N E A 21 (3.453) (6,326)
Finance costs ELE=ID N 8 (2,962) (4,272)
Loss before tax B 5 A ES 1B (20,230) (69,706)
Income tax credit PSR e 10 26 948
Loss for the year KEEEE 11 (20,204) (68,758)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEBERRHEMEZEKE R
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_E-—F+-_A=+—RHIEE

2023 2022
—E_= =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B3t FHET FAT
Other comprehensive (expense) income: i 2 (I3 ) Yezs
Item that will not be reclassified T EE L B2
to profit or loss: EH -
Fair value loss on investments in BEAVEGFAREMEE
equity instruments at fair value Wiz Em TEREN
through other comprehensive NEEEE
income (2,802) (3,935)
Items that may be reclassified R B 7 HE R
subsequently to profit or loss: HH -
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBEEZER
translation of foreign operations ZHE 1,551 7,513
Release of cumulative exchange reserve 188, BUE4RA AR HE
upon deregistration/ deconsolidation/ /8 4M 3 T B £ bk 251
disposal of foreign operations b X (163) 2,677
1,388 10,190
Other comprehensive (expense) income ANEEE#i2HE (%)
for the year, net of income tax Wzt HIBRFTS T (1,414) 6,255
Total comprehensive expense for the ~ AFE 2 HEF X B
year (21,618) (62,503)
Loss for the year attributable to: JEIEARFEEEE:
Owners of the Company IN/NETEZZ =N (20,560) (62,359)
Non-controlling interests FEVERR IR SR AE 2 356 (6,399)
(20,204) (68,758)
Total comprehensive expense EIEAFELEMA B
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company iN/NETEZ =N (21,829) (55,716)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR AR R A 2= 211 (6,787)
(21,618) (62,503)
Loss per share: BREE:
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR S (GENl) 15 (15.82) (51.52)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR &R

At 31 December 2023
RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—=E-= —_EF-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FHEx FHEIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Plant and equipment B 16 212 112
Investment properties KREWE 18 - 9,780
Goodwill EES 19 - -
Intangible asset BmEEE 20 758 758
Interests in associates AN I - 3] 21 20,358 23,811
Equity instruments at fair value BN EF AR
through other comprehensive ZHNRGZERTA
income 22 - 2,865
Deposits paid [RENE& 23 62,357 98,396
83,685 135,722
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories BE 24 2,612 -
Trade and other receivables JEUBR R M EE b fEU TR 25 34,767 19,860
Loan and interest receivables FE W E R F B 26 - 1,328
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFABRRZ
profit or loss TREE 27 473 3,375
Restricted bank balance X PR IIRTT 4 8 28 629 649
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFE 29 1,616 1,161
40,097 26,373
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables ER RN R A ERRIE 30 35,330 40,096
Contract liabilities aHEE 31 1,103 4,243
Amounts due to non-controlling JE A FE4E AR AR 3R 4 2 3IE
interests 32 2,745 2,745
Borrowings B 33 31,937 37,781
Margin loans payables ERESE K 34 2,065 4,768
Financial guarantee contract HBEREH 35 - 141
Income tax payable JE 1~ PR 5 A% 284 387
73,464 90,161
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e M B R &

At 31 December 2023
RZZFZ=F+=HA=+—H

2023 2022
—=E-= =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FETT
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEEFE (33,367) (63,788)
NET ASSETS EEFE 50,318 71,934
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRFE
Share capital % 7 37 1,300 1,300
Reserves R 12,503 34,318
Equity attributable to owners of the ZAN/NSIE S DN
Company 13,803 35,618
Non-controlling interests FEI7E A% AR B A 2 36,515 36,316
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 50,318 71,934

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 283  #89E283BMiRA M KHEMEETE R T

were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of “HFELtA T HAH#ERKERNE - WAHT
Directors on 12 July 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: JIEERAEE:
So David Tat Man Liu Chun Fai
BRIE BEE
Director Director
EBFE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEREREHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRAREAE AR
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed  revaluation Share options ~ Translation Special Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve  Other reserve |osses Subtotal interests Total
RAEMR ki FiER
BE  RGEE  HARR G fE  AHEE  BRIEE  HbEE  ZHBR Pt RRER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TER TEr Thr Thr TEL TET TET TET TET TER
(Note (a)  (Note (b))
(@) (o)
At 1 January 2022 W-Z--F-f-8 1,060 - 650,298 (31,964) 1,800 (1,602) 6,026 (6,321) (531,023) 88,274 40,906 129,180
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - (62,359) (62,359) (6,399) (68,758)
Other comprehensive (expense) income ~ AFEEH2E (F%)
for the year: Ugs :
ltem that will not be redlassified HTEEHFHZ B
to profit or loss: Fg:
Fair value loss on investments in equity ~ RAFEFAEMLZE
instruments at fair value through ez EaTARE
other comprehensive income NATEEE - - - (3,935) - - - - - (3,935) - (3,935)
Items that may be reclassified BRI EZ Bl
subsequently to profit or loss: Ef:
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEBELL
translation of foreign operations ERER - - - - - 829 - - - 8,296 (783) 7513
Release of cumulative exchange RBGAAE/ L8
reserve upon deconsolidation/disposal SN EFE B
of foreign operations 2 ESEE - - B - - 228 - - - 2,28 395 2,671
- - - - - 10,578 - - - 10,578 (388) 10,190
Other comprehensive (expense) income A FEM2E (H%)
for the year, net of income tax W35 MRFAEH - - - (3,935) - 10,578 - - - 6,643 (388) 6,255
Total comprehensive (expense) income  AFE 2 (H%) Mz
for the year EE - - - (3,935) - 10,578 - - (62,359) (55,716) (6,787) (62,503)
Issuing of new shares upon rights issue B IR B /TR R (A
(Note 37) (Ma37) 240 3,607 - - - - = - - 3,847 - 3,847
Transaction costs attributable to issuing ~ RMERARTHR K
of new shares upon rights issue EEHRBRA - (787) - - - - - - - (787) - (787)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BEGAAEHBAR - - - - - - - 4,555 (4,555) - 2,197 2,197
At 31 December 2022
1,300 2,820 650,298 (35,899) 1,800 8,976 6,026 (1,766) (597,937) 35618 36,316 71,934
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_Z-=F+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRRERAEE
Investment Share Non-
Share Share Contributed revaluation options  Translation Special Other Accumulated controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
REEf FER
Bx  RGEE HARS i BRERE REEGE BIRE HbRE  RHEE Mt REER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Fan Fax Fax Fign Fign Fign Fitn Fin Fan Fan Fan Fax
(Note (a)  (Note (b))
(K@)  (Kz(b)
At 1 January 2023 W-Z-=F-f-R 1,300 2,820 650,298 (35,899) 1,800 8,976 6,026 (1,766)  (597,937) 35,618 36,316 71934
Loss for the year TEREEE - - - - o = = = (20,560)  (20,560) 356 (20,204)
Other comprehensive (expense) income A% 27 (513
for the year: Ugs:
Item that will not be reclassified HIBEHFHZER
to profit or loss: Fg:
Fair value loss on investments in equity ~ RATFEFAKHEZE
instruments at fair value through Bz BRTARE
other comprehensive income MATESE - - - (2,802) - - - - - (2,802) - (2,802)
Items that may be- redlassified EREHFHZ Bl
subsequently to profit or loss: Ef:
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEBELL
translation of foreign operations ERER - - - - - 1,696 - - - 1,696 (145) 1,551
Release of cumulative exchange HHEINEBH
reserve upon deregstration of BREHER
foreign operations - - - - - (163) - - - (163) - (163)
- - - - - 1,533 - - - 1,533 (145) 1,388
Other comprehensive (expense) income ~ AEEEM2E (H%)
for the year, net of income tax Mgk MBRFEH - - - (2,802) - 1,533 - - - (1,269) (145) (1.414)
Total comprehensive (expense) income A E 2 (%) Mz
for the year ag = = = (2,802) - 1,533 - - (20,560) (21,829) M (21,618)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 43) HEWBAR (HFHa3) - - - - - - - - - 2 2
Partial disposal of subsidiary without
change of control (Note 44) - - - - - - - 14 - 14 (14) -
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%+2A
=t-A 1,300 2,820 650,298 (38,701) 1,800 10,509 6,026 (1,752)  (618,497) 13,803 36,515 50,318
Notes: PaE
(a) The special reserve represents the difference between the (a) BRI EREAD B RTHE QR GS mE &K
nominal amount of share and share premium of the former NREERBE T - FEBEAMETH
subsidiary of the Company and the nominal amount of the ARBBRMHEEZERZHE -
Company's shares issued pursuant to a group reorganisation
in 2002.
(b) The other reserve has been set up and dealt with in (b) HMFEFEDRERL —FEKB AR TERERE

accordance with the accounting policies for the changes in
ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss

of control.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

2023 2022
—E=-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES mEEK
Loss before tax PR A& B (20,230) (69,706)
Adjustments for: S TFIIEE EH A
Finance costs ELEEID N 2,962 4,272
Depreciation of plant and equipment WE REETE 72 375
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE - 382
Loss from change in fair value of KEMERNTEEZEEE
investment properties, net FER = 1,697
(Gain) loss from changes in fair value of BRATEFABRZ &/
financial assets at fair value through BEATEZS (KH)
profit or loss K518 (1,685) 1,930
Impairment loss, net of reversal RAEEE - IR E
— deposits paid —BfiZe 2,403 7,219
— financial assets and other items under - cREEREHEES
expected credit loss model BEATHEMIER (3,209) 7,479
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BUBARE ABRM B A FHY
W g - (3,982)
(Gain) loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEWB QR (W)
SRR (7.358) 5,305
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries LM B A A A Es (163) -
Gain on settlement of other receivables 458 H Ath JE WGRIB ) Y 5 (8,912) -
Loss on disposal of investment property HEREYENEE 177 -
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment B R F k& e W (13) -
Loss on written-off of other receivables B8 L A B W R IE 2 B 1B - 242
Loss on settlement of deposits paid HEENReEE 24,878 -
Share of results of associates DB E N A A 3,453 6,326
Interest income FMEHA (1,796) (1,211)
Operating cash flows before movements T R&EEEESR AT 2
in working capital RERESR (9,421) (39,672)
(Increase) decrease in inventories F& (1gm) R (2,612) 2,716
(Increase) decrease in trade and JrE UK BR FR R E A U
other receivables I8 (3Hn) Rk 2> (4,018) 1,417
Decrease in loan and interest receivables JE W B R B R B 6,296 140
Increase in trade and other payables JE A5t B SRR % EL A FE AN SR IE
0 2,138 9,164
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities aH8E C/d) (3,140) 1,739
Cash used in operations X¥BFARS (10,757) (24,496)
Income tax paid [RENEIREY (38) (26)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZEFTAREFHE (10,795) (24,522)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E=-= Tz
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEH
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets HERAFEFABEN
at fair value through profit or loss EREEMNFTIENIA 4,587 3,475
Proceeds on disposal of asset classified HENPRRFELEZ
as held for sale EEMFTS A = 7,997
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR ATEKIE 14 227
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties &% & ¥ M FT1S A - 5,020
Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment & E & & E R TS E 13 -
Interest received 2 U F B 4 19
Purchase of plant and equipment EERE MR (172) -
Deposit paid for acquisition of further equity ~ FLUE— B ARHNE %
interest in a subsidiary IREMTIRE - (742)
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of BUEERE ABRMB AR 2
subsidiaries WE ML FE - (219)
Disposal of deposits paid for acquisition of HERBEMEMTIES
properties 3,837 -
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBHELHRSTFHE 8,283 15,777
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METH
New borrowing raised MERER 4,318 1,100
Repayments of borrowings EEBK (1,525) (2,917)
Decrease in margin loans payables ERHMRBESEFR LD (3,083) (1,774)
Repayments of lease liabilities ERBEEAE - (527)
Proceeds from issue of new shares upon R AR & 21T R AR < FT 13
rights issue IB - 3,847
Transaction costs attribute to issuing of IR 1& 31T 3 IR (0 FE A5 AY
new shares upon rights issue R SR - (787)
Interest paid BFE (545) (3,335)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZEFTARESFE (835) (4,393)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERASESERDFHE
EQUIVALENTS (3,347) (13,138)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHZRERREEE
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,161 2,850
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes /NEEZRSFH & 3,802 11,449
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZRERREEE
AT THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash NIRITHESR RIRE TR 1,616 1,161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands under the Company
Law of the Cayman Islands on 30 November 2000.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 5 February 2002.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the
Company re-domiciled from the Cayman Islands into
Bermuda by way of de-registration in the Cayman
Islands and continuation as an exempted company
under the laws of Bermuda. The change of domicile
was approved by the shareholders of the Company on
15 October 2007 and the Company was continued
into Bermuda with limited liability with effect from 29
October 2007.

The addresses of the registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
and the principal place of business of the Company is
Room 707, 7/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong. The directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) do not consider any company to be
the ultimate holding company and parent company of
the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the "Group”) are principally engaged in the
business of one-stop value chain services, property
investment, distribution business, provision of money
lending services and provision of financial services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company. Other than those
subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") whose functional currencies are
Renminbi (“RMB"”), the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries is HK$.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October  Insurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to Hong Kong Definition of Accounting Estimates
Accounting Standards
("HKAS") 8

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two Model Rules

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments define
accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items
in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an
entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by the accounting policy. The
amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, and changes in
accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current
year has had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

2.

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the
first time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements is amended to replace all
instances of the term “significant accounting policies”
with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group's accounting policies set out in the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
HKFRS 10 and Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture'
HKAS 28

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
HKFRS 16

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current or
HKAS 1 Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?
HKAS 1

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2025.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
in the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation

5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within 12
months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional
on the compliance with covenants, the requirements
introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been
modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022
Amendments specify that only covenants with which
an entity is required to comply with on or before the
end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date. Covenants which
are required to comply with only after the reporting
period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=1+—HILFE

AN REETERTBRE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation

5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
(continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the
disclosure requirements about information that
enables users of financial statements to understand
the risk that the liabilities could become repayable
within twelve months after the reporting period,
if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right
to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the
entity complying with covenants within twelve months
after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective
date of applying the 2020 Amendments to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the
2020 Amendments, are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with
early application permitted. If an entity applies the
2020 Amendments for an earlier period after the issue
of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply
the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2023, the application of the 2020 and
2022 Amendments will not result in reclassification of
the Group's liabilities.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group reported a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$20,560,000
and had approximately HK$10,795,000 net
cash used in operating activities and, as of 31
December 2023, the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$33,367,000, in which its total borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$31,937,000,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$1,616,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)
Although the Group has been continuously
incurring losses in these years, the Directors
are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its operating
cash flows as and when they fall due for
the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period given that:

(@  the Company is developing its existing
business by, including but not limited
to, expanding the product mix and its
number of suppliers and customers of
the Group;

(b) the Company has entered into a
revolving loan agreement with each of
the two executive Directors, namely Mr.
So David Tat Man and Mr. Liu Chun Fai,
respectively, for a total loan facility of
HK$20 million in January 2024 which
will be used as working capital of the
Company, as appropriate;

(e) the Company has proactively explored
additional funding such as rights
issue, placing of new shares, issue of
new shares and/or convertible bonds,
depending on the prevailing market
conditions and the development of the
Group's businesses;

e BB RHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

3.

3.1

(d)

the Company is actively negotiating
with relevant parties and will use its
best endeavor to repay the outstanding
liabilities. Additionally, the Company
has proactively negotiate with relevant
parties in relation to the recovering of its
other receivables;

The Company is in negotiation with the
creditor(s) of the Group in relation to
potential capitalisation of the debt. It
will not only reduce the debt but will
also increase the shareholder base of the
Company;

the Directors will continue to explore
business opportunities and implement
stronger measures aiming at improving
the working capital and cash flows of
the Group, including enhancing the over
profitability of the Group by introduction
of higher gross profit margin products,
closely monitoring the incurrence of
operating expenditures and streamlining
unnecessary expenditures of the Group;
and

The Company will use its best endeavours
to minimise its expenditures including but
not limited to administrative expenses as
well as operating costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that the
Group will be able to have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due
for a period of not less than the next twelve
months from 31 December 2023. Accordingly,
the Directors are of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare these consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 on a going concern basis.
The consolidated financial statements do not
provide for further liabilities which might arise,
and do not include any adjustments relating
to the carrying amount and reclassification of
assets and liabilities that might be necessary
should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange
for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial
asset takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment
properties which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the
transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes,
fair value measurements are categorised into
Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs
to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement
date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
guoted prices included within Level
1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs
for the asset or liability.

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company:

o has the power over the investee;
° is exposure, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the

investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect
its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstance indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of
the voting rights of an investee, it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or
not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion
of holdings of the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the
Group, other vote holders or other
parties;

o rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances
that indicate that the Group has, or does
not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control of the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’'s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted,
and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary
and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for
as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEI|R £ EER A7
Annual Report 2023 =T = = F &

3.

ma

MHERREUEERERS

ATERESR (&)

3.2

BEREHBEREN (#)

FEFRBEEHE L A2
25

AREERHBERR ZEm LR
e B BMEMAKELEZL
EHMB AR RS G A
R ABR ALK B AR A
P EB 0 B 3F 12 i R 2 2 R
HESTAFE  URBREER

FRAR IR AN 55 18] Ko 3F 12 e R #E
a5 B L ) B A o A AN B B B OF
% P B SR M 2R 2 D 1T AR A
BREFE

FEE MR B R A 25 BT 8 B 2 BUER
BRI EZ A FER
BEZRNER HERNERRE
RILFERARBHB A -

fiw AN 52 (B Sk =TT J8 2 =428 51 4
AIEERZMNBRAGIMNEE
REEARIEERRFERER (0
B)ohmskEBEENIEBESERL
R AT A (E 2 A FE RAEMAR
BHEZEZAFELMEGHEAR
RIEBAEBLZNBARZE
EREmE)rEERAEZ
MM EREFE kRN EME2E
WHERZNB AR R ZATE
RE eRBIAEECHEER
EZMBARIZHBEESXA
BAR (MZEREASY RS
HERIFEIR R MEN S EE
BRI EEE S —EIER) -
REEESIEZEBERRER
ARBZAERNKEZATE &
BRIBB BV BHRE LR FIR L
BTA([BEYEHRELERFES
SR1) sk (203 ) ¥ 4A e 58 A B
ERRKAEREZREZK
AR BVIEERAZ A FEERE
%EETERIE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or group of
CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of
the CGU within the group of CGUs, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within
a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the CGU)
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the
group of CGUs) retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is described below.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control of those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of
associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the
associate other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in an
associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as
a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates
The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture. There is
no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates
(continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest
in an associate but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies
to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or
loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are
classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the asset (or disposal group)
is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual
and customary for sales of such asset (or
disposal group) and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the
sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year
from the date of classification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)
When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving disposal of an investment in an
associate, the investment or the portion of the
investment that will be disposed of is classified
as held for sale when the criteria described
above are met, and the Group discontinues
the use of the equity method in relation to the
portion that is classified as held for sale from
the time when the investment (or a portion of
the investment) is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups)
classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their previous carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue
is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not
create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

3. HAVBBRENEEREARE

STECRESR (&)
3.2 EXREHEERESN (#)
EF&EA W (&)

W TF & LA T~ B rp — IR 22 All3E
IR EERS MR 2E
MR A B 2 To Rk S B
R -

. BEPRA KB E X R
Y ER K2 B FE AN SR B B 4O FiT
Rt MR

. AEE 2 BROEIZNKIES
BEPRAKE E QK2
ZEBE N

. AEBZEAORBIZEAR
SEAEERARZE
E AKEHCZTRIEE
SERK Y B #) SR IEB A] 58
BT HORER) o

B BERNEFPEBHEES R
sk AR 75 2 12 ) 4 By 0 K — flEl By
e B R R o

BHEERAEERAEED
MEFPEEEmIRSEmHR
R WERAR B 2 REF (18 R BK
RERG) BEEEVBERE
RIS T HIRE - AR - FEUR
FIEIE A S BRI E 2 &K
R R EIHNRATES
e HER o

BHAEEARERERETEFR
BRAE (HRESHEDIB)MA
AEFBREmRE2EE-

China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7
Annual Report 2023 =% = = F F 3}

119



120

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

A contract asset and a contract liability relating
to the same contract are accounted for and

presented on a net basis.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in

exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the date of initial application of HKFRS
16 or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract
will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a

contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-

lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease

components as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases of offices that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and
o an estimate of costs to be incurred by

the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of
the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as
a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the
Group recognises and measures the lease
liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend

on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option
if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating
a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are
classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023

me

B=
3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as lessor (continued)

Classification and measurement of leases
(continued)

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except
for investment properties measured under fair
value model.

Rental income which are derived from the
Group's ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are
accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments from lessees.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency of
that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group's foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date
of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserves
(attributable to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal
of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or
loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates that do not result in
the Group losing significant influence), the
proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and retranslated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Government grants (continued)
Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the
useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that
are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to
the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

The benefit of a government loan at a
below-market rate of interest is treated as a
government grant, measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value
of the loan based on prevailing market interest
rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution
retirement benefit plans in Hong Kong and
the PRC are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-
term employee benefits are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group
in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities" carrying amounts resulting from
service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Share-based payment

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-
based payments determined at the date of
grant without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve. The share options that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
options granted is expensed immediately to
profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Share-based payment (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (continued)

Share options granted to non-employees
Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions with parties other than employees
are measured at the fair values of the goods or
services received, except that where fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service. The fair values of the goods
or services received are recognised as expenses.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
loss before tax because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred
tax for leasing transactions in which the
Group recognises the right-of-use assets and
the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the
lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease
liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 /ncome
Jaxes requirements to the leasing transaction
as a whole. Temporary differences relating
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation
on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss, except when they relate to items
that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business
combination.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes. Plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of assets less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured
at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair
values.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which
the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
that are acquired separately are carried at cost
less any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Intangible asset with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impairment at least annually and
whether there is an indication that it may be
impaired.

The recoverable amount of plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group
of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with
the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro-rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or
the CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or the CGU or a
group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position
include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand
and demand deposits, excluding bank
balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances
no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises
of short-term (generally with original
maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other
purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on a first-in, first-out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Provisions (continued)

Restoration provisions

Provisions for the costs to restore leased
assets to their original condition, as required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, are
recognised at the date of inception of the
lease at the directors’ best estimate of the
expenditure that would be required to restore
the assets. Estimates are regularly reviewed and
adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances.

Contingent assets/liabilities

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation
arising from past events but is not recognised
because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount
of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable
for an obligation, the part of the obligation
that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is
not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine
whether an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits has become probable. If it
becomes probable that an outflow of future
economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in
which the change in probability occurs, except
in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a settlement date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Interest/dividend income which are derived
from the Group’s ordinary course of business
are presented as revenue.

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss when:

(@  the entity’s right to receive payment of
the dividend is established;

(b) it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to
the entity; and

(c) the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HEr-Z2—=

= t=A=T—BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of
a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated
and effective as a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)
In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that are required to
be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using
the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves

so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from
the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information
(continued)

3.

3.2

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (continued)

(i)

Equity instruments designated as at

FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income (“OCI")
and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in
equity instruments are recognised in
profit or loss when the Group’s right
to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in
the “other gains or losses” line item in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains or losses”
line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL") model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, loan and interest receivables, loans
to associates, restricted bank balance and cash
and cash equivalents and financial guarantee
contract) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information
(continued)

3.2

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS

9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

J an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the
credit default swap prices for the
debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HIFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 (continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk

(continued)

° existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

J an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
= =F+ZA=1+—HItFE

3. %n,\ﬁiﬁiﬁiéﬁﬁzgziﬁ-&ik%

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS

9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

(continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group
assumes that the credit risk on a
debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if
the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low
risk of default, ii) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when it has
an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts,
the date that the Group becomes a
party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there
has been a significant increase in the
credit risk since initial recognition of a
financial guarantee contract, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that
the specified debtor will default on the
contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
=F+ZRA=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

me

B=
3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS

9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

(i)

(continued)

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of default
occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS

9 (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of
the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower,
for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active
market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 (continued)

3.

3.2

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient
in estimating ECL on trade receivables
using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking
information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEI|R £ EER A7
Annual Report 2023 —Z = = F 4§

REMBRREREERERS

ATERESR (&)
32 EASHEEEH(H)

THTH (&
TR EE (&)
REBBUBRELERFEIFIHR
TRREFENEREERHE
I B RE (&)

S BUR

(iv)

BBREMBRELEER
Yl 8 8 (Pl an sz 5 4 75
WEHENDEAKERRT)
- Sl E 5 B WGRIA M
S EAHEFAANEA
MER (ARFHLEER
) ANEEEME TR
BE - RERERES (W
BA) EMENERE
EFRENAETAREEK
B2 F N TTE ) o i
A8 A BUH R S 1 o (T
fa] EL 1& B Y [] 25 170 48 25 T

27
e ©

EHEEBE T8 N E

BHEEBRAERE
MR EZHBRE (A
ENREBERX)) RED
BF L B il 1 2 K 880 3B 40
BR MEMB KRR Z A
Ty E R S BUiE K B B 1
BEH-FAHEEBENE
EIERERRMESRE
NEBBREENNRRS
RERT - AKEEEE
BEEEBREREZER
BB RAATHEE
AR E 5 RIGRIRR
BHMEEER YRHBA
BN URAEASNE A
FIEFHATEEERHER

L



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information
(continued)

3.2

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS

9 (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

(continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the
Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value
of the expected payments to reimburse
the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts
for which the effective interest rate
cannot be determined, the Group will
apply a discount rate that reflects the
current market assessment of the time
value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if,
and to the extent that, the risks are
taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the
cash shortfalls being discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
3.

=Ft-A=1+—HULHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS

9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

(continued)

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group
takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the

grouping:
° Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of

debtors; and

o External credit ratings where

available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents
of each group continue to share similar

credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based
on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

(continued)

Except for financial guarantee contracts,
the Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception
of trade and other receivables, loan
and interest receivables and loans to
associates where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023

me

HEr-Z2—=

3.

F+-A=t—BILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on
initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investments revaluation reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred
to accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted
directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using effective
interest method or at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, borrowings, margin loans payables
are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract
that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contract liabilities are measured initially at their
fair values. It is subsequently measured at the
higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9;
and

o the amount initially recognised

less, where appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised over the
guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the Directors are
required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

The assessment of the going concern assumptions
involves making judgement by the Directors, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
Please refer to Note 3.1 in relation to the going
concern assumptions adopted by the Directors.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent professional
valuers. The determination of the fair value involves
certain assumptions of market conditions which are
set out in Note 18.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. Changes to these assumptions, including
the potential risk of any market violation, policy,
geopolitical and social changes or other unexpected
incidents as a result of change in macroeconomic
environment, travel restrictions implemented by many
countries, or other unexpected incidents would result
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on
the risks of change in macroeconomic environment
through performing sensitivity analysis in relation to
the Group's investment properties.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the
Group's investment properties is approximately HK$Nil
(2022: HK$9,780,000).

Estimated impairment of deposits paid for
acquisition of properties

Deposits paid for acquisition of properties are stated
at costs less accumulated impairment, if any. In
determining whether a deposit paid is impaired,
the Group has to exercise judgement and make
estimation, particularly in assessing whether an
event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the value of the underlying asset. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the potential risk
of any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social
changes or other unexpected incidents as a result
of change in macroeconomic environment, travel
restrictions implemented by many countries, or other
unexpected incidents, could materially affect the value
of the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of deposits paid for
acquisition of properties (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of
deposits paid for acquisition of properties subject
to impairment assessment were approximately
HK$16,603,000 (2022: HK$52,642,000), after taking
into account the impairment losses of HK$2,403,000
(2022: HK$7,219,000) in respect of deposits paid for
acquisition of properties that have been recognised.
Details of the impairment of deposits paid for
acquisition of properties is disclosed in Note 23.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s unlisted equity
instruments amounting to approximately HK$Nil
(2022: HK$2,865,000) were measured at fair value
with fair value being determined based on significant
unobservable inputs using valuation techniques.
Judgment and estimation are required in establishing
the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to
these factors could result in material adjustments to
the fair value of these instruments. See Note 39(c) for
further disclosures.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix. The provision
rates are based on aging of debtors as groupings
of various debtors taking into consideration the
Group's historical default rates and forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade receivables are disclosed in Note 39(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE
EXETHABRGAHTRERE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision of ECL for deposits and other
receivables and loans to associates

Provision of ECL for deposits and other receivables
with significant balances and loans to associates
are assessed for ECL individually. The provision rate
are based on internal credit ratings and taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL of the
Group's deposits and other receivables and loans to
associates are disclosed in Notes 39(b).

Provision of ECL for loan and interest receivables
The Group estimates the loss rates of loan and
interest receivables based on historical credit loss
experience of the debtors as well as the fair value of
the collateral pledged by the borrowers to the loan
and interest receivables. At every reporting date, the
management assesses the collateral and credit quality
of each borrower based on borrower's background
information, financial position, past experience and
relevant factors.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL of the
Group's loan and interest receivables are disclosed in
Note 39(b).

Provision of ECL for financial guarantee contract
The determination of the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs requires an estimation
of discount rate. The discount rate is based on
management best estimate of the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks
that are specific to the cash flows.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL of the
Group's financial guarantee contract are disclosed in
Note 39(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLFE
5. REVENUE 5. K =
(i Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) EESAKENDE
with customers

One-stop value Distribution
chain services business Total
— 3=
EEERS DHEH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT THET FTHET
For the year ended HE-EC-=
31 December 2023 TZB=t+—-HLEE
Geographical markets BiE TS
Hong Kong ) - 25,201 25,201
PRC # - 21,149 21,149
- 46,350 46,350
Timing of revenue recognition W3 7 52 (Y 5 B
At point in time HEnsra 2 - 46,350 46,350
Sales channel/type of customer $5ERE BFER
Wholesale # 2 - 45,080 45,080
Retail TE - 1,270 1,270
- 46,350 46,350
For the year ended BHE-T-—F+=A
31 December 2022 =t+—HILEFE
Geographical markets & 3571 9%
Hong Kong BE - 22,433 22,433
Australia BA R 2,198 - 2,198
PRC HE = 1,180 1,180
2,198 23,613 25,811
Timing of revenue recognition g 25 e 3R A B
At point in time F A2 2,198 23,613 25,811
Sales channel/type of customer HERE/BFPREY
Wholesale 1 2,198 23,300 25,498
Retalil TE - 313 313
2,198 23,613 25,811
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_T_=F+-RA=1+—HIL&EE
REVENUE (continued) 5. W (&)
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () ZEFEHNWEMNSE(E)

with customers (continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the
revenue from contracts with customers with the
amounts disclosed in the segment information.

TXHINEF &L WD &
BERMBENSENERK-

Segment revenue

7 2B UK &
2023 2022
—E_-= —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
One-stop value chain services — N EEERS - 2,198
Distribution business DIHETS
— Reusable bags —IRRE 4,221 2,716
— Recycle plastics — Bl Y 2Bk} = 10,389
— Ramen and udon AR PN =ES i - 793
— Sunflower meal —ZIEH 20,833 -
— Frozen foods, seafood and —RRRM EENEM
others 21,296 9,715
46,350 23,613
Revenue from contracts EFEAHWE
with customers 46,350 25,811
Interest under effective interest EEBRAEETENFE
method 2,602 323
Total revenue 48Uy 2= 48,952 26,134
China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_-A=+—RHIFE
REVENUE (continued)

5.

(i)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Provision of one-stop value chain services
The performance obligation is satisfied when
services are rendered and the credit period
granted to the customers is normally due upon
completion of the service.

Sales of reusable bags and recycle plastics

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the goods. The Group typically
receives a deposit on acceptance of orders and
the balance payment is generally due within
0 to 90 days from delivery. When the Group
receives a deposit before the delivery of the
goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract until the goods have
been delivered to the customer.

Sales of ramen and udon

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the goods and payment is generally
due within 30 to 60 days from delivery.

Sales of sunflower meal

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the goods and payment is generally
received before delivery. When the Group
receives a deposit before the delivery of the
goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract until the goods have
been delivered to the customer.

Sales of frozen foods, seafood and others
The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the goods and payment is generally
due within 0 to 60 days (2022: within 0 to 90
days) from delivery.

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

All revenue contracts are for period of one
year or less. As permitted by HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Information reported to the board of Directors (the
“Board”), being the chief operating decision maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of goods or services delivered or provided.
No operating segments identified by the CODM
have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group reorganised its internal reporting structure
which resulted in changes to the composition of its
reportable segments. Trading of consumables and
agricultural products and trading of grocery food
products are combined into Distribution Business
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Specifically, the Group'’s reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 are as follows:

6.

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE
RE D
RETERIERDBRRFEAE
2 (([E2g] NEBLEREE
(E2E2ERRE]) )RENEHZE
BERXRNEREENE I RGN E
Al MEBAREEN A 28, - =
BEEERREVERABRNONEE D
BREE 48 o

HE_ZT__F+_A=+—HLF
B AEEEHARNIZHREE B
Ha 2|y MEamees -2 -
FHZA=+—HILFE BEEGLE
EnBSkRHEREmESEAHED

LER NEEREREM GRS LR
FE8RB| WA 2RO AT :

provision of total solution services including trading,

packaging and logistics solutions

HE)

RUZ2EBRTERY (BRES BELRYREIR

generated rental income from operating leases of

Group’s investment properties

AEERENELEHEEENHES KA

processing and trading of consumables and agricultural

products, and trading of grocery food products

R BUE R

HREMEEEMMIEES MEHRRMES

provision of money lending services

provision of financial and investment advisory and

corporate financial services

a. One-stop value chain services -
—uE B E R -
b. Property investment -
MERE -
C. Distribution business -
RGES -
d. Provision of money lending -
services
RS RS -
e. Provision of financial services -
R 28RS -

REM S LI BB AAR B R E RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

H= =F+-_A=+—HIFE
6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 6. KL a IR ()
Segment revenues and results MR REE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue

LATZ%ZXEI&—JEi&& K= B S

and results by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

P2 W R EE DT
BE_ZT-_=F+-A=1t—HLFE

One-stop Provision of Provision
value chain Property Distribution money lending of financial
services  investment business services services Total
- Bt Bt
EEERY WERE DHEH HER® SRR® @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TER TER TER
REVENUE 163
External sales HohEE - - 46,350 2,602 - 48,952
Segment profit (loss) 2R (HE) - (4,632) 6,397 6,352 (176) 7,941
Unallocated corporate other gain, net AOBRAREMME T8 2,444
Unallocated corporate expenses APBARAMT (6,070)
Gain from changes in fair value of ﬁﬂ;fﬁuﬁ\}ﬁﬁﬁmfﬂﬁﬁ
financial assets at FVTPL EEle 1,685
Share of results of associates E s M’\ NES (3,453)
Loss on settlement of deposits paid *” [bEi&a E’]Eﬁ B (24,878)
Impairment loss recognised on deposits paid ?JEEHT RORERS (2,403)
Gain on settlement of other receivables %ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂguﬁl%ﬂlﬁﬂwﬂlé 8,912
Impairment loss recognised on HEMEYGRERRS
other receivables, net HEEE T8 (9,105)
Impairment loss reversed on HUBERENEDE
financial guarantee contract REEE 138
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries FHERB AR E 163
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net HENBARMKES FE 7,358
Finance costs BERK (2,962)
Loss before tax BB ATE R (20,230)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B EZ-_—_F+-_A=1+—HIFE
One-stop Provision of Provision
value chain Property  Distribution ~ money lending  of financial
services investment business services services Total
- Rt bt
EEERY MERE DEEH WER AR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THET THT FHT FiEr THET
REVENUE &
Biternal sales EPR S 2,198 - 2613 3 - 26,134
Segment loss ABER (623) 4067)  (22,457) (3.479) (1,088 (31,710
Unallocated corporate other gain, net RORAREME FE 2,668
Unallocated corporate expenses RABRAFAL (25,061)
Loss from changes in fair value of ROTEFABRNERERE
financial assets at FVTPL ATEZYER (1,930)
Share of results of associates EBERREE (6,326)
Impairment loss recognised on deposits paid ?JEEHTR%E@ R REER (7219
Impairment loss recognised on B E A YT IR HER Y
other receivables, net REEBE F8 (5,859)
Impairment loss reversed on RABERSHEDH
financial quarantee contract RERE 11,326
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BUBR & A KRB QA8 e 3,982
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net HENBAANER F8 (5.305)
Finance costs BMEKA (4.272)
Loss before tax BB AIEE (69,706)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in Note 3.1. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit
earned (loss from) by each segment without allocation
of central administration costs, directors’ emoluments,
other income, gains or losses, net, gain (loss) from
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL, share
of results of associates, impairment loss recognised
on deposits paid, gain on settlement of deposits
paid, gain on settlement of other receivables, certain
impairment loss reversed (recognised) on financial
assets/financial guarantee contract, net, gain (loss) on
disposal of subsidiaries, net, gain on deregistration of
subsidiaries, gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

6.

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

e ER ()

DEE R EE (F)
DR R FT R B SE3 1 AT AL A
AEESHEREAR - 2 8EHN (BHR)
EEL MG (BR)  TeE sk
PRITEEA EEFME HibKA-
W18 FE RO FEFARR
ZeMEEAFEEZH KRS (BR)
DIEBMERREE RO NRESHER
MREBE SECNRENRE &
HHMBKSREN KRS ReBMEE/
MBERANERD (BR)WE TRE
ERE FE LENBEARNKE (B
18) R EHENB AR KE  BUH
fre ARKEB AR Y MR B R -
HHRAEREERREZHRITE A
ETERD I R R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
6.

=Ft-A=1+—HULHFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 6. RKEDI(4E)
Segment assets and liabilities FMEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and LAT/*%$$ EizAE2mkgEsE
liabilities by reportable and operating segments: AT EEHRBESH:
2023 2022
—E== T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Segment assets TEEE
One-stop value chain services —uh BB RS = 4,154
Property investment YERE 1,463 14,047
Distribution business DEEETE 25,175 5,936
Provision of money lending services R RERS 4 1,329
Total segment assets DEEERE 26,642 25,466
Unallocated corporate assets ROMAREE 97,140 136,629
Consolidated assets CAEEE 123,782 162,095
Segment liabilities DEHEE
One-stop value chain services —uh B E RS - 4,212
Property investment YERE 2,158 3,799
Distribution business DIEER 12,065 4,811
Provision of money lending services R RERS 144 25
Provision of financial services RIS FRSE - 555
Total segment liabilities DEEEER 14,367 13,402
Unallocated corporate liabilities APBEAREE 59,097 76,759
Consolidated liabilities meEas 73,464 90,161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances
and allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than certain plant and equipment,
goodwill, intangible asset, interests in
associates, equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, deposits
paid, certain other receivables, financial assets
at FVTPL and certain bank balances and cash
and restricted bank balance; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than certain other payables, amounts
due to non-controlling interests, margin loans
payables, borrowings and financial guarantee
contract.

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

S =F+ZA=1+—HILFE

6. %%ﬁ}% (?.E)
THEERERE (F)
MEEZDBRARASTSBOERE
JRME -

. FTBEEEHSER g%ﬁ%ﬁ'“
THE R EE - &R
NN o E ?*/A LB 5t
AEEEREOEZTA B
ﬁﬁzi‘E:F/HJ’@}EW/AIE‘BZ

REEFABEZEREEN
MEFRITEHEBRERZR
HIRITHEBRBR N &

T

. FIBEREEDEEREN L #
T H A A R AN IR AR
REDZFR BRRIESER
BB B HER B KRR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 6 e ()
Other segment information Hih o IEER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_E-_=F+-HA=+—HLEE
Provision
of money Provision
Property  Distribution lending  of financial
investment business services services  Unallocated Total
Rt Rt
NERE PEES HER% SRR% ES @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn FEx Fi#n TFiEx FET T
Amounts included in the measure of ~ REF 25 BRI D E
segment profit or loss or segment  EEF DT ANEE
assets
Depreciation of plant and equipment i R & & & - (22) - - (50) (72)
Impairment loss reversed on trade  FiEMUER AR MR ERE -
receivables, net et - 7,208 - - - 7,208
Impairment losses reversed on loan  SEME R R 8 & B
and interest receivable, net HESE 8 - - 4,968 = = 4,968
Loss on disposal of investment HEREMENER
property (177) - - - - (177)
Addition to non-current asset AEFRBEE - 172 = = = 172
Amounts reqularly provided to CODM EHiR#E F T BLER K E
but not included in the measure of ~ ERFAD BEE LA
segment profit or loss or segment  AEZFEMEE:
assets:
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net ~ HEM B FIMKE FE - - - - 7,358 7,358
Gain on deregistration of Bl INGliole
subsidiaries - - - - 163 163
Loss on settlement of deposits paid ~ &E B iz MEE - - = = (24,878) (24,878)
Impairment loss recognised on RERNRERANAEER
deposits paid - - = = (2,403) (2,403)
Impairment loss recognised on other 5t & A fE U KB AE
receivables, net BB FE - - - - (9,105) (9,105)
Gain on settlement of other EEEMEKEEN KR
receivables - - - - 8,912 8,912
Impairment loss reversed on financial  5h81 % R4 X B @ R(E
guarantee contract 51 - - - - 138 138
Government grant T 8 - 40 - - - 40
Interest income FBKA - - - - 1,79 1,79
Gain from changes in fair value of AT EABENEH
financial assets at FVTPL BENATEZ KR - - - - 1,685 1,685
Share of results of associates HMEBERRIEE - - - - (3.453) (3453)
Finance costs BEMA - - - - (2,962) (2,962)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE
RgeEDE (&)
HitpHER (K)
BE_T__F+_A=1+—HLHFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 6.
Other segment information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Provision
One-stop of money Provision
value chain Property Distribution lending of financial
services investment business services services Unallocated Total
=¥ R R
BEERYE NERE PHER HERE SRERH KAE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FET FHT FiET FAL FHT FiET
Amounts included in the measure of R 2D HBRIH L
segment profit or loss or BERBHANSHE
segment assets
Loss from changes in fair value of REVELTEEDER 38
investment properties, net (1,697) - - - - (1,697)
Depreciation of plant and equipment  EE R EIE (40) (67) - = (268) (375)
Loss on written-off of other receivables 1 £ th fE M BRI 18 (242) - - - - (242)
Impairment loss recognised on trade  StEMEE KR RERE -
receivables, net Xl - (12,479) - - - (12,479)
Impairment losses recognised on loan and 3t REY & 3% & ¥ £ 2 €036 &
interest receivable, net BB FE - - (467) - - (467)
Amounts regularly provided to CODM T HIfRE FEEREARE
but not included in the measure of BRGNS BBERS B
segment profit or loss or segment BEZHENSS:
assets:
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENE - - - - (382) (382)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries  FUELRA ABRHIE D 78 M - - - - 3,982 3,982
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEMBRARAMNEE F8 - - - - (5,305) (5,305)
Impairment loss recognised on deposits 32 12 & BRM R EEE
paid - - - - (7,219) (7,219)
Impairment loss recognised on other 3t E ft IR B RE MR E
receivables, net B8 FE - - - - (5,859) (5,859)
Impairment loss reversed on financial  $tEIF ERAHBEH
guarantee contract HEEE - - - - 11,326 11,326
Government grant B8 - 31 - 7 263 647
Interest income FSMA - - - - 1,211 1,21
Loss from changes in fair value of BAFEFABRZSREE
financial assets at FVTPL ATEEHER - - - - (1,930) (1,930)
Share of results of associates PEBERAEE - - - - (6,326) (6,326)
Finance costs REMRE - (186) = = (4,086) (4.272)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 6. KRN IR ()
Geographical information i & & #

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

AEENEBUNEERFE-

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of
customers. Information about the Group’s non-current
assets is presented based on the geographical location
of the assets.

ENREEMERZS]-

Revenue from

AEERBIIBEFHMBERENE

BIREFPR 25 - AEBEIFRBE

external customers

Non-current assets

REMPEFE 2 W FREBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—B-=F —T—-— —EBE-=F —ZE-C
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAET TET FiBT
Hong Kong aBE 27,803 22,756 66,932 80,215
The PRC Fh 21,149 1,180 16,753 52,642
Australia SRR F e - 2,198 - -
48,952 26,134 83,685 132,857
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments. Mak: SERBEETBESMIA.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the

Group is as follows:

ERETEEFNER
HEFEREEFPZREMAEEL
U S HBiB10% 2 15T

2023 2022
—E-= =

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FAETT

Customer A’ EPA N/ATIE A2 7,193

Customer B! = FB 20,833 —

Customer C! BRC 7,529 N/ATT 3 2
1 Revenue from distribution business. 1 REDHER 2 WS-

2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 2 HERETEEAEERAKERD

10% of the total revenue of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ZT_=F+_A=t+—HIEFE
OTHER INCOME, GAINS OR LOSSES, NET 7. HttlA W@ EE FE
2023 2022
—=E-= —_EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Interest income: FEHA -
— bank deposits —RITEXK 4 19
— other receivables — H i fE W FRIE 1,792 1,192
Management fee income ERBIA 486 425
Sundry income MIEBA 109 385
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries  FE#85 M B A Al &Y U =5 163 -
Gain on disposal of plant and HERE k& EN K
equipment 13 -
Loss on disposal of investment property &% & ¥EMNEIE (177) =
Government grants (Note) BT Bh (BsE) 40 647
2,430 2,668

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group recognised government grants of HK$40,000
(2022: HK$40,000) in respect of participation in
export promotion activities, which relates to SME
Export Marketing Fund provided by the Hong Kong
government.

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group recognised government grants of
approximately HK$607,000 in respect of Covid-
19-related subsidies, which relates to Employment
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
government.

B & :

REBE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—H
EFE AEBER2ETE OREE
Bf) 7 72 IR T 16 B940,0008 7t (=&
Z =4 :40,000% 7T ) + BE BT
RHEMOPNDEETSHEE S AR -

RBEZZ-_=_F+=-A=+—H
EFE - AEBRFTEM A ZER
A # 52 BT 7 B £9607,0007%8 7T+ B2
ERBITIRERETE B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

8.  FINANCE COSTS 8. ®EMX
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Interest on borrowings &R F B 1,841 2,615
Reimbursement of finance costs borne &1t & J7 FrEdE 2 Bl & B AR
by lenders (Notes 33(a) and 33(b)) (FF5E33(a)Fn33(b)) = 76
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEME = 21
Interest on margin loans payables FETRE & BERAE 380 533
Interest on balancing payment for WEMBAREZERZ
the acquisition of further interest in SRR 2 F B (BF3E23(a))
subsidiaries (Note 23(a)) 740 747
Others Hip 1 280
2,962 4,272
9.  IMPAIRMENT LOSSES (REVERSED) RECOGNISED 9. TEHEEEEERNET (BO)®E

UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET

RHRERE  FHE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Impairment losses (reversed) AT RIE (BE)ERE

recognised, net, on: VERIEN 5E=RBE:2-CE
— Trade receivables — 8 5 WA (7,208) 12,479
— Other receivables — E A E W kI8 9,105 5,859
— Loan and interest receivables —EWEZNF B (4,968) 467
— Financial guarantee contract —HBERER (138) (11,326)
(3.209) 7,479

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note

39(b).
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 10. FrfEHi (E&)MX
2023 2022
—E-=fF T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNEM

— Current tax — B HNIE - 5
— Qver-provision in prior years — BT FEHBERE (26) -
PRC Land Appreciation Tax B+ i I (E R - 353
(26) 358
Deferred tax (Note 36) BRI (M45E36) - (1,306)
(26) (948)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue
to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the
Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity
is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of
the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the "EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
for both years. No EIT is provided for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 as the Group did not
derive any assessable profit subject to EIT.

BRIBEBZEFEGHONSHMRS  6&
REEEEEIRS25%N MR EN E
2,000,000/ ST T IE » W #51£16.5%
B B4 R 8 492,000,00058 7T LA 3% FI Y
ME-THFAFESHMAHERNES
FRANEF B EIR16.5%M 8 — iR
BWHE- A aEBEBRETENS
7 K 15 B 5t B 2,000,0005 7T 2 i 5T E
R F 1528.25% 5T &+ 112,000,0007%
TLUA B Z (5T FE R B R A AI1216.5% 5T
ﬁo

BIEREARLMBECEMRESRE ([
¥RMBHED REEMBRAERIK
Bl - R BB B A B % R R A R
5 A25% ° R AN 5 B 30 £5 B3 FE A A
EMSRAOTAERFRF S &
MEBEE_ZTE_=FR-_FEF_—_F+—
A=+ —BLEFEHRGEMGSHE
e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
10.

TR =F+A=t—BIFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

According to the requirements of the Provisional
Regulations of the PRC on LAT effective from 1
January 1994, and the Detailed Implementation
Rules on the Provisional Regulations of the PRC on
LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all income from
the sale or transfer of state-owned land use rights,
buildings and their attached facilities in the PRC is
subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30%
to 60% of the appreciation value, with an exemption
provided for property sales of ordinary residential
properties if their appreciation values do not exceed
20% of the sum of the total deductible items.

The tax credit for the years can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:

10.

s (ER)BEXX (&)
BEEAE—NANANE—A—BHRERD
i A R H B + Hb 3 (E 5 1T
UEE—ANAF—AZ++tHEE
ME A EE AR A ME + 2 EH 1T
GO ERMAARE EREHERE
ZERELMERAE M ENEEYRE
M ZEWRTS 0 — IR A BN T3
BEEE30% £60%H) 23 F R84 + 1
BEH MERZEFTENEETER
2 EATINFIE B 2 5120% - B ¥ s
A ER BT -

ZEFEARBRR KBRS B
Ko B 2 T My 2 3R B BR A AT &S 1R 4 AR
LIRS

2023 2022
—E_= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Loss before tax bR 5 Bl S 1B (20,230) (69,706)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate AT H E16.5%
of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) (ZEBE-—F:165%)
FFEMMIA (3.338) (11,502)
Tax relief on 8.25% on first HK$2 BH2E BB 2 ERTE &Y
million of assessable profits 8.25% M M5 R 2 - (11
Tax effect of expenses not deductible 7R F17E 5 S R 75 2 &
for tax purpose 853 1,643
Tax effect of income not taxable for BRI R AR IETE
tax purpose (1,578) (788)
Tax effect of share of results of DEEE AR EENT BT E
associates 570 1,044
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERAHREREREZ
differences not recognised HigT & (226) 20
Tax reduction 75t TE HRK - (6)
Utilisation of tax losses previously AL RER BIEER
not recognised (1,295) -
Over-provision of income tax expense BT FEFT15HFH X BBRE &
in prior years (26) (670)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERFIABGIENRIE T E 5,014 9,605
Effect of different tax rates of E M B E R @ 48 = R B B
subsidiaries operating in other NEIMTRREZE
jurisdictions - (283)
Income tax credit FIeHiR e (26) (948)
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1.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

11. XEEEE

AEEFERRME NS BEREH

2023 2022
—=E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Directors’ emoluments (Note 12) EEZ M (WHiE12) 3,439 4,062
Other staff costs (excluding directors’ HEMWE TR A (TREFEESZ
emoluments): M) -
— Salaries and other benefits — ¥ REAMEF 4,003 8,049
— Retirement benefits scheme —RRRE A ET Bl
contributions 246 687
Total staff costs (Note (a)) BIRKA4R%E (H5E@)) 7,688 12,798
Auditor's remuneration: ZERT BN 2 -
— Audit services — %8R 1,200 1,337
Cost of inventories recognised BRARX 2 FEKAR
as an expense 40,999 21,029
Depreciation of plant and equipment &= MR EITE (M b))
(Note (b)) 72 375
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREEENE (M3 0©)
(Note (c)) - 382
Loss on written-off of other receivables Hfl $5 £ b & Y 708 &5 18 - 242

Notes:

(@

(@)

Staff costs amounted to approximately HK$Nil
(2022: HK$2,100,000) and HK$7,688,000 (2022:
HK$10,698,000) have been included in cost of sales
and administrative expenses respectively.

Depreciation of plant and equipment amounted
to approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$7,000) and
HK$72,000 (2022: HK$368,000) have been
included in cost of sales and administrative expenses
respectively.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets amounted to
approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$382,000) has been
included in administrative expenses.

=

() BIRANEATL(ZTE=_Z
2,100,000 7t ) }27,688,000/% 7T
(ZZF = —4:10,698,000/&7T) 25
RIETASHER AN RITHRAS

(b) BMEREEHIENZTAEL(ZZ
— =4 :7,000/ ) &72,000% 7T
(ZZ = =% :368,000 L) E » 7l
AFASHER AN RITHAS -

(0 FRAREENENZETL(ZZ
— —4:382,000870) B AT ATTH
Mo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

12.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 12. EE2WM&
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight B2 =T __F+=_H
(2022: seven) directors and the chief executive of the —t+—BlEEFEERAABN ML (ZE
Company for the years ended 31 December 2023 and T FE ) EERESTHRAER
2022 were as follows: BENERNEEDT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE—_E-_=Ff+-A=+—HLE
E
Retirement
benefits
Other Waived Net other scheme
Fees | emoluments salaries | emoluments contributions Total
RIKEF
He Hitihe BENFE HttMeFHE TR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TET Tz TER TER TER
(Note c)
(Ktatc)
Executive directors HiTE=E
So David Tat Man HEX - 650 (50) 600 18 618
Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith REA - 1,050 (339) 711 18 729
Liu Chun Fai (Chairman) BEE(XRE) - 650 (50) 600 18 618
Tin Ka Pak, Timmy HEKME (THEH)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 650 (50) 600 18 618
Li Aiming (Note €) ZEH (MTe) - 385 - 385 12 397
Sub-total gt - 3,385 (489) 2,896 84 2,980
Independent non-executive BYFHUTES
directors
Zhang Min KE 180 - - - - 180
Yuen Wai Man (Note h) REH (MzEh) 99 - - - - 99
Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SEE 180 - - - - 180
Sub-total g 459 - - - - 459
Total emoluments A 459 3,385 (489) 2,896 84 3,439
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued) 12. EE2®ME (8)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE -4+ _-_A=+—HIF=E
E
Retirement
benefits
Other Waived Net other scheme
Fees | emoluments salaries | emoluments  contributions Total
Hith RIKEH
ke | EbBE  HENFE | METE  HEAX it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHL FAL TAL AL AL FH
(Note ¢)
(FzEc)

Executive directors BTES

So David Tat Man BEX - 1,300 (100) 1,200 18 1,218

Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith RER, - 1,300 (100) 1,200 18 1,218

Liu Chun Fai (Chairman) BER(ER)

(Note f) (B 3ES) - 627 (100) 527 16 543
Tin Ka Pak, Timmy HEMA (THER)

(Chief Executive Officer) EE))

(Note g) - 627 (100) 527 16 543
Sub-total it - 3,854 (400) 3,454 68 3,522
Independent non-executive BYFHITES

directors
Zhang Min RE 180 - - - - 180
Yuen Wai Man REH 180 - 4 - - 180
Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey 5EE 180 - - - - 180
Sub-total Nat 540 - - - - 540
Total emoluments [EAE 540 3,854 (400) 3,454 68 4,062
Notes: B5E
(@) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above (a) YRR ITEE e S A

were for their services in connection with the RAANFIRANEBELESERIZEHZ
management of the affairs of the Company and the RFE S 1~ o
Group.

(b) The independent non-executive directors’ (b) FXFRRBIERITESE 2 S H
emoluments shown above were for their services as WEETARARRZESMIREZR
directors of the Company. & AT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me

B R R M &

Fortheyearended31 December 2023

B=
12.

=Ft-A=1+—HULHFE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(@)

(e)

(f)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. So David
Tat Man, Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith, Mr. Liu Chun
Fai and Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy agreed to waive
their emoluments of HK$50,000, HK$339,000,
HK$50,000 and HK$50,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. So David
Tat Man, Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith, Mr. Liu Chun
Fai and Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy agreed to waive
their emoluments of HK$100,000, HK$100,000,
HK$100,000 and HK$100,000 respectively.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Mr. Li Aiming has been appointed as an executive
director with effect from 10 May 2023.

Mr. Liu Chun Fai has been appointed as an executive
director and the chairman of the Board with effect
from 14 February 2022.

Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy has been appointed as an
executive director and chief executive officer of the
Company with effect from 14 February 2022.

Ms. Yuen Wai Man has resigned as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 19 July 2023.
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EECME (#)

S

(©

(%

)

HE-_Z-_=F+=-A=+—H1
FE HREXEE RENLLE B
BERLENBRALEREZMER
£ 5 51450,0007% 7T + 339,000/ 7T *
50,0007 7t 150,000/ T K Bl & ©

Be_E-_—_#F#+-_A=+—H1t
FE HREXEAE RELLE B
EBAERHARBAERERER
ij\ﬂma1oooom%71 100,0003%

7T~ 100,0007% 7T }.100,0005% 7T A9 B
@ °

REE-_ZT-_=Frk=_F=_=
+ZA=+—BLEEFE AXEEY
BEEEESNTMMESESMAR
& B S AR 2 25 B S 1k A B B

2 o
BE{E -

TERALTECEZAARNTES
BE-ZE-_=FRAt+BRBEM-

BEBLLACEZTAENTES
rEEEFF BT -__F_A
T E AR

HARALECEZTAERRNT
EERTHAEH BT -__F=
A+ BEEAER-

REBZLOBHEIARRRIBEILIFHR
TEF B-FT-_=%tATAhA
AR



13.

14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during
the year included four (2022: four) directors, details of
whose remuneration are set out in Note 12. Details of
the remuneration for the years of the remaining one
(2022: one) highest paid employees who are neither
a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

13.

AMBRERMWE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_—F#+-_A=t+—HILEFE
IfuBEEHMES
FAREELUGSHFHEESEN
U (ZEZZF - MU)ESE KENF
BHEr BN sE12 - S FEEWLIF AR
RAEENRZBTRABZHT -4
—ECCF R ReTNEEZH
BHEE IS T -

2023 2022
—_E=-= =

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAETT

Basic salaries and allowances HE AR FH o NMEB 780 780
Retirement benefits scheme IRIRAE M FT IR

contributions 18 18

798 798

The number of the highest paid employees who are

RN ATEHE AL IFEEN K

not the Directors whose remuneration fell within the SHMEE AZWT :
following bands is as follows:
2023 2022
—EZ=H T
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000 7T 1 1

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
highest paid individuals (including the Directors) as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2023, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2022:
Nil).

14.

REBEZE-_=FR_T__F+=
A=Z+—BLEFERN AEBTER &
SFMAL (BREES)IFEAME
ERMARE Bk AR 2 5ZE) =k
VERBERRASE

BRE

HE S _=%+-_A=+—H8HIF
& BEE R AN B 5@ I AR R+ 3k 2
ERMEMRE B EREHRE T E
BEINEIABRE(ZE_—_F %) -

China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7

Annual Report 2023 =% = = F F 3}

181



182

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BH=E =FFT_A=+—HILFE

15. LOSS PER SHARE 15.
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

BRER
SNDEE UN LS S B
BT ER LA T B A E

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss B
Loss for the year attributable to RARHEBEANEBEARFE
owners of the Company for the BE (MEREARK
purpose of basic and diluted loss BEEEmS)
per share (20,560) (62,359)
Number of shares RGO EE

Weighted average number of ordinary 3@ N4 FH & (s &R

shares for the purpose of basic and EARREEEEmMS)
diluted loss per share

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options because
the exercise price of those share options was higher
than the average market price for shares for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. MER=ZE
Computer,
Furniture, network
Leasehold Plantand fixturesand  and related Motor

improvement  machinery  equipment  equipment  vehicles Total
Gh-£ER BN BER

HENEEE REREE xE  HERE RE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TEL TEL TAT TET  TAT  TER

cosT %
At 1 January 2022 RZE--F—-f—H 2,811 375 1,909 16 1,382 6,493
Written-off fi 8 - - - - (272) 27
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Note 42)  BUEGZA ABRMEAR
(f342) - (375) - - (39) (413

Exchange adjustment EHAE (61) - (69) = - (130)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—F

+-A=+-H 2,750 - 1,840 16 1,072 5,678
Additions NE - - - 172 - 172
Disposals e - - - - (250) (250)
Written-off M (1,791) - (1,034) - - (2,825)
Exchange adjustment A% (20) - - - - (20)
At 31 December 2023 R-BZ=Z%

+=ZA=+-H 939 - 806 188 822 2,755
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZiHE
At 1 January 2022 W-ZE--%-F—H 2,702 20 1,862 16 1,083 5,683
Provided for the year EnEE 148 59 8 - 160 375
Eliminated on written-off A SH B £ 8 - - - - 272) @272)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Note 42)  BUEGAARINEAA

(FizH42) - (79 - - (11) (90)
Exchange adjustment ERAE (100) - (30) - - (130)
At 31 December 2022 i
+ZR=1t—H 2,750 - 1,840 16 960 5,566
Provided for the year EnEE - - - 2 50 72
Eliminated on disposals R ERH - - - - (250) (250)
Eliminated on written-off A SH B £ 3 (1,791) - (1,034) - - (2,825)
Exchange adjustment 5 % (20 - = - - (20)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=%
+=A=t+-H 939 - 806 38 760 2,543
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=%
+ZA=1-H - - - 150 62 M2
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE
TZA=t-H = - 3 = 112 112

China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7
Annual Report 2023 —Z = = F 43}

183



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 16.

The above items of plant and equipment are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the

BER &k (&)
EXFRZBE REmEREE REMGE
AERFHRABERERATFERS

straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: o
Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the HEMEEE REEHRNI20%
term of the leases, (AR & B%E)
or 20%
Plant and machinery 20% % = N 1 25 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 20% R EHER 20%
equipment L
Computer, network and 20% B WKL 20%
related equipment R
Motor vehicles 20% E 20%
17.  RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. ERAREEE
Leased
properties
HEWH
HK$'000
FHET
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=%+-A=+—H
Carrying amount FREE -
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-__F+-_H=+—H
Carrying amount AREE -
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-=Ff+=-A=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge mEEH -
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_T-__F+_HA=+—HILFE
Depreciation charge hEEH 382
184 China Eco-Farming Limited FEI|R £ EER A7
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

17. EREEE (&)

2023 2022
—EC-=HF ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
Expense relating to short-term leases %2 BA7H & M RIFT X (Ff3)
(Note) 953 4,027
Total cash outflow for leases HEMREmL@E 532 1,426

Note: Expense relating to short-term leases amounted to
approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$3,825,000) and
approximately HK$953,000 (2022: approximately
HK$202,000) have been included in cost of sales and

administrative expenses respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
leases various offices for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 2 years, but
may have termination option as described below.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
offices, machinery and equipment. As at 31 December
2023 and 2022, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which
the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

Mz S HEERERINAT AT
(ZZF = —4%:3,825,0008570) &
#9953,0008 L (Z T ZF: 4
202,000/ 70 ) B 9 Bl at A8 &R A
RITHHAX -

HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLF
E ARAlRAEEEHEZRBFAE-
FAIVHEEAONETEHRA—EME
HERIBE R T X AT MR LR ERE-HE
R T IRE R B - NEEHE R
BREF AT RHERNRER A&
HEAGHANEBERLETESHNAIHIT
E"],Hﬁf'ﬁﬁ °

REBTHRMB AT R ERERT L
RHAE R-_E_=FR-FT__F
+-_A=+—B EHAEHAAEEX
FENEHHEERI P RNEHES
HELELL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
18.

TR =F+A=t—BIFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group does not lease out any premises under
operating leases.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies
of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

18.

BEWHE

HeE 2 - =FFK-_F-_—"F+=H
Zt+—BUFE AEETEMA LS
HEBE NMEE-

7R 55 [ 30 4 1 e i 0 TH B R BEE B
SRR ARMBENINEEER
EEMNYEERHE-HEANTES
M BEERE SR BEARERE
REBEYENBEEE-

2023 2022
—=E-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
FAIR VALUE NFE
At 1 January R—HA—H 9,780 16,869
Disposals & (9,780) (5,020)
Net decrease in fair value recognised M IEzE R R A FE
in profit or loss e £ - (1,697)
Exchange adjustment PE 5 S = (372)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H - 9,780
Net unrealised gain on property FABRRMESHRER
revaluation included in profit or loss W z% /558 - 50

The fair value of all of the Group's investment
properties as at 31 December 2022 has been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the
respective dates by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group.

In determining the fair value of the relevant
properties, the Group engaged a third party qualified
valuer to perform the valuation. The Directors work
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model.

There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in the prior year. In estimating the fair
value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use.
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18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the investment property
located in Hong Kong with fair value of approximately
HK$9,780,000 (the “Mortgaged Property”) has been
pledged to a financial institution in Hong Kong to
secure an other borrowing granted to the Group.
Details of the other borrowing are set out in Notes
33(d).

In light of the default of repayment of the other
borrowing, the financial institution filed an originating
summons against the Group on 21 February
2023 under Court of First Instance Miscellaneous
Proceedings No. 275 of 2023 (the “Originating
Summons”) to recover possession of the Mortgaged
Property and claim for amounts due to the financial
institution. The amount due and owing by the
Group to the financial institution was approximately
HK$10,421,000 as at 21 February 2023. The court
ordered, on 6 July 2023 that the Group should repay
HK$10,530,000 together with interest at the rate of
12% per annum from 8 March 2023 to the date of
the order. On 27 July 2023, the financial institution
informed the Group that the financial institution
considered to dispose of the Mortgaged Property
at the consideration of HK$9,780,000 (the “Forced
Sale”), and net proceed therefrom will be utilised
to off-set against the judgment sum. On 22 August
2023, the Forced Sale has been completed at the
gross proceed of HK$9,780,000. The net proceed
of HK$9,603,000 has been used to set off the
outstanding principal and interest due to the financial
institution.

Details of the disposal of the Mortgaged Property
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 1 August 2023 and Note 33(d).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain
investment properties located in PRC were disposed
to two independent third parties at the considerations
of RMB900,000 (equivalent to HK$1,045,000)
and RMB3,425,000 (equivalent to HK$3,975,000),
respectively.

18.

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=F+_A=t+—HIEFE
REM= (&)
RZBZZF+=—A=+—H QFE
#)/39,780,000%8 T I M FE B IR E
mE(EEFRDE]EERTEEN
—XeREBUAERARNEEREHHN
HAth 8 5K B & KBV 1B SR
33(d) °

ERBREEEMER ZomgED
R-ZE-_=F - -+—HitHARE
ERRRFEE (RHFARREESR
BT -—=F5%275%) ([RHFEX])
NEEEFRENEERLRREEE
NZemEERE - RZT=-=F=A
“t+—HB - AEEENZEBEED
RIEEFRIE B #110,421,00078 7T o /& BE
RZEZ=F+tANHTSAEEE
#£10,530,0008 TLERB T =_=F
“ANBREBESBHERFRNEI2%
HEANBE - RZEBE_=F+A_-++
H ZemEBERNAEE ZE i
18 & & A (89,780,000 T it & B K
A (TRBIEHE])  PAERIBFERE
HRAREBEHEEEB - RZTE_=FN
AZ+ZH #HHEETK  FTER
T8 4858 /29,780,00078 7T ° Ff 18 7K 1B )%
69,603,000 L E AN K IHE M Z 2
BEEBHREERS KB -

HECDEMWENHBERENRALQ A
AT _=F/ \A—-—HBHRER
Bt 3E33(d) °

BE-_T-_—_F+-A=+T—BL*F
E NRFBHNETRENELET
MEBILE=F " RESFNAARKE
900,0007T (48 & #1,045,0007% 7T ) &
A R #3,425,0007t (#8 & 53,975,000
BIT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE =F+ZA=1+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 18. }Qﬁ%% (£8)
The following table gives information about how TEEHEEYWER ST -_—F+—
the fair values of the investment properties as at 31 A=Z+—H®OAFEZEBEFEHENE
December 2022 are determined (in particular, the B (LEEEERFERFTREAZE) -

valuation techniques and inputs used):

Fair value
hierarchy  Fair value as at 31 December 2022 Valuation technique and key inputs

R-®==F+=A=1-7

AVEER NATE REFERIZEGAHE
Investment properties located in Level 2 HK$9,780,000 Direct comparison approach — Market unit rate, taking
Hong Kong into account the recent transaction prices for

similar properties adjusted for nature, location and
conditions of the property

REBBNREME EZ4R 9,780,00087T EENLEE-MIFEMER KEERY
EOME NERMAELAENE
UmERT BT 5B
There was no transfer into and out of Level 3 during RERNTEE=FE|7E A EL -
the year.
19. GOODWILL 19. HE
2023 2022
—E-=F - F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET
COST R 2
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BER+=ZA=+—H 23,594 23,594
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT RitEE
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BER+ZA=+—H (23,594) (23,594)
CARRYING VALUES IREIE
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H - -
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill EBETREIS HECEIIRRERS
has been allocated to the CGU which comprises EEBM BEtEEELLEERE
one subsidiary in the trading of consumables and %E’j BfEAT - R_ZE-_=F%—
agricultural products. The carrying amounts of T —F+-_HA=+—H EHREX
goodwill as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 allocated BUMEEEmAENT
to the unit are as follows:
2023 2022
—E2== —F-=
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Trading of consumables and HEmRREERE
agricultural products
— Inno-Bag Limited - KERREREEERA = -
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

INTANGIBLE ASSET

HE—_Z-_=—F+-_A=+—H1t

200 EBREE

FE

Licence
hEER
HK$'000
FET
COST AR
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and RZEB-_—_F—-A—RQB -
31 December 2023 +-A=1+—"HEZ=ZB=Z=%
+=ZH=+—H 758
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT ZitRE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and N-_EFE-——F—F—H —E-—F
31 December 2023 +-_A=+—BREKR=ZEBE-_=%+="A
=+—H -
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2023 R=-=E-_=%+=-HA=+—H 758
At 31 December 2022 RZEBE-—_F+-A=+—H 758

The licence represents the licence plate which enable
the vehicle to travel and hang licence plate in both
PRC and Hong Kong. The licence is renewable every
year at minimal cost. The Directors are of the opinion
that the Group would renew the licence continuously
and has the ability to do so.

As a result, the licence is considered by the
management of the Group as having an indefinite
useful life because it is expected to generate economic
benefit to the Group indefinitely. The licence will not
be amortised until its useful life is determined to be
finite. Instead it will be tested for impairment annually
and whenever there is an indication that it may be
impaired.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Directors conducted a review of the carrying amount
of the licence and appointed an independent
professional valuer, Valtech Valuation Advisory
Limited (”Valtech”) (2022: Valtech), to assist them
to determine the recoverable amount of the licence.
The recoverable amount of the licence has been
determined based on its fair value less cost to disposal.
The Directors work closely with the valuer to establish
the appropriate valuation technique and inputs for fair
value measurement.

ZIEREIREEWMENET B K&

N

TREBENER ZERESFAE

- E2RBE-EFERA A5E
BEFZIER YA NMULITE

Bt AEEERERRZER
ERWE AR ARBEFERK
Hidh 7N SR B B AR AR ) 2 - R W
TEwEH BEEEERABRETE
[Ret HABEFREEBY
B AT B R0 (8 B 3 ELE T TR BRI AL o

REBEE-_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—
FE ERHZEROERELET
B WEEBBEGERMAEFT
Raal ([FEFH) (Z2==
FIRFEE) BB S T R R AT Uk
HoZBRBMoke &R ER
BEREEXAET EEEEERM
B URAFEFERBEFEED
BT Ko ) A B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=

20.

21.

=Ft-A=1+—HULHFE

INTANGIBLE ASSET (continued) 200 BMEEE(#&)
In estimating the fair value of the licence, the highest RN Z R A T ERE  ZERY S
and best use of the licence is to resale it. ELEERRAEBE T EE.
Direct sales comparison approach under market M FEBE T EEEELEEE AR
approach has been used to estimate the fair value etz ATE - ZERR_E
of the licence. The estimated fair value less cost of T =EE+ - RA=1+—HB8EFAFEE
disposal of the licence as at 31 December 2023 is VB K AR 4 A£990,0008 T (=&
approximated to HK$990,000 (2022: HK$1,130,000). — =% :1,130,0008 ) °
Since the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying AR E S 2EREERE WRE
amount, no impairment loss on the licence was EZE_=FRZE-—F+=A1
recognised for the years ended 31 December 2023 :+— Eiﬁ&j[?ﬁiﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁnﬁ’]i)ﬁi
and 2022. BEEE-
For both years end 31 December 2023 and 2022, Bz 2=k _Z-_—_#+—"AHA
the recoverable amount was significantly above the =t+—HIIWAEAFEE kb eERES
carrying amount of the license, the Directors believe RZBERNEREmME EERATMAZE
that any reasonably possible change in any of these BRENTMAE A L EEH T &5 BUR
assumptions would not result in impairment. =
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. REERTZER
2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FTAT
Cost of unlisted investments in REEE QR 2 IE ETIRE KA
associates 29,528 29,528
Share of post-acquisition loss and DMEEE R EE R
other comprehensive expense Hth2EAX (6,551) (3,098)
22,977 26,430
Less: Accumulated impairment R REHRVE (2,619) (2,619)
20,358 23,811
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. REEB QT 2R (8)
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had RZE_=ZFFR_FT-_—_F+_=HA
interests in the following associates: =t+—B AEERTIHES AR T E
B
Place of
incorporation/ Proportion of ownership
establishment/ ~ Class of interests or participating ~ Proportion of voting
Name of entity Form of Entity  operation shares held shares held by the Group power held Principal activity
AL/ R/ ARBfENERE
BELR BEA fEny FisRBzEh BREASERA LA s RERELA IEER

2023 2022 2023 2022
“E-cE -E--f “E-ZE -E-C

Direct associates

EBBENT

FDC Limited (Note a) Limited liability ~ Samoa Ordinary shares 49% 49% 49% 49%  Inactive

FDC Limited (ffia) BRAT EED EER EXH

Gold Wide Holdings Limited Limited liability ~ HK Ordinary shares 25% 25% 25% 25%  Investment holding

(“Gold Wide")

SAEEARAA ([23]) ERAF B AR REZR

Note: ffzE -

(a) FDC Limited was inactive since its incorporation, the (a) FDC Limited & =F B 37 LA 3K 7 48 2
carrying amount attributable to the Group is not P& mANE EELBEmEES A E K-
significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
21.

=Ft-A=1+—HULHFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Summarised financial information of material
associate

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's material associate is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

21.

REE QT zEm (&)
FEREQRA ZUBENRR

AEBETZBHERRZUBERME
FHN T X TXAT i E B B
FEMHHREEANRREOBZ QA M
BHRERATEH -

All of the associates are accounted for using the equity REZESZAMBRE FIEBHLSATH

method in these consolidated financial statements. fE RS IED R o
2023 2022

=== ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Gold Wide AN

Current assets mENEE 13,287 13,827
Non-current assets JEMBEE 70,159 84,653
Current liabilities mBEE (2,015) (3,238)
Net assets BEFE 81,431 95,242

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Gold Wide
has borrowed a 3-year loan of RMB13,000,000 (the
“Loan B") from a PRC Company (the “Entity A").
Loan B is bearing an interest rate at 8% per annum
and repayable on 14 January 2022 and secured by
certain investment properties of the Group located in
PRC and financial guarantee provided by the Group
(Note 35).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, as Loan
B was overdue, Entity A took legal action against
Gold Wide to recover the outstanding principal and
interest payables for Loan B. Pursuant to the Civil
Mediation Document issued by Intermediate People’s
Court of Changsha City dated 21 September 2022,
Gold Wide should (i) repay RMB13,200,000 to Entity
A through the capital reduction in Entity A, (ii) settle
RMB730,000 in cash before 19 October 2022 and
(iii) repay the remaining balances of RMB2,190,000
before 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023,
Loan B has been fully repaid (2022: the outstanding
balance of Loan B of RMB2,190,000 was recorded as
current liabilities in Gold Wide's statement of financial
position).
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21.
Summarised financial information of material

associate (continued)

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

REE QT zEm (&)
FTEBREQNRA U BERRE ()

2023 2022
—E-= —ET-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Revenue Wz - -
Loss and total comprehensive AEEEEIRZERI AR
expense for the year (13,811) (25,304)
The reconciliation of the above summarised financial AR AT RS EE AN
information of the carrying amount of the interests in BEEREBHESHI WT
associates are set out below:
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TAET
Net assets of Gold Wide SO EEFE 81,431 95,242
Proportion of the Group's 25% REBRELZ25%M A
ownership interest in Gold Wide e 7 B 20,358 23,811
Goodwill EES 2,619 2,619
Carrying amount of the Group's REBEREL 2 EEREE
interest in Gold Wide 22,977 26,430
Less: Accumulated impairment R BEHORE (2,619) (2,619)
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEERSLZ ERREE
interest in Gold Wide 20,358 23,811
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
22.

TR =F+A=t—BIFE

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BAVEFAHGZEKENE
w=ITH

2023 2022
—EBEC-=5F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Unlisted investments: JEEMIRE -
Equity securities e = 2,865

As at 31 December 2023, the unlisted equity
investments of approximately RMBNil (2022:
RMB2,540,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,865,000)) represent investments in unlisted
equity securities issued by one private entity
incorporated in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the unlisted
equity securities were pledged to Entity A (as
defined in Note 21) as to secure a 3-year loan of
RMB4,550,000 (“Loan A") granted to a private
company (“Lender A"). Loan A is bearing an interest
rate at 8% per annum and repayable on 14 January
2022. The term of pledge is from the grant date
of Loan A to the date falling three years after the
repayment date. Lender A is an independent third
party and is also the lender of the interest-free
unsecured other borrowing of RMB4,550,000 as
detailed in Note 33(a).

The above investments are not held for trading,
instead, they are held for long-term strategic purposes.
The Directors have elected to designate these
instruments at FVTOCI as they believe that recognised
short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with
the Group's strategy of holding these investments for
long-term purposes and realising their performance
potential in the long run.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, fair value
loss of HK$2,802,000 (2022: HK$3,935,000) has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEPOSITS PAID

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

23. BffE$

2023 2022
—E-= - —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
Deposits paid for: RTINBEZ MRS :
— Acquisition of further equity —KE-—ENBARNES
interest in a subsidiary (Note a) A #E (FizEa) 45,754 45,754
— Acquisition of properties (Note b) ~ —UsfE#3 (Fiskb) 18,526 64,754
Less: Accumulated impairment L RETRE (1,923) (12,112)
16,603 52,642
62,357 98,396

(a)

Deposit paid for additional acquisition of
further equity interests in a subsidiary

On 17 July 2017, Skyline Top Limited (“Skyline
Top”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Yardley Wealth Management
Limited (“Yardley”), the non-controlling
shareholder of Delightful Hope Limited
("Delightful Hope"), a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sales and purchase
agreement pursuant to which Yardley had
agreed to sell and Skyline Top had agreed to
purchase 50 ordinary shares in Delightful Hope,
representing 50% of the entire issued share
capital of Delightful Hope, at a consideration
of HK$55,000,000 (the “DHL Acquisition”).
Upon the completion of the DHL Acquisition,
Delightful Hope will be wholly-owned by
Skyline Top and will become an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December
2018, Skyline Top and Yardley entered a
supplementary agreement pursuant to which
the balance payment of the DHL Acquisition
will accrue interest at 8% per annum. As at 31
December 2018, a non-refundable deposit of
approximately HK$35,250,000 has been paid
to Yardley.

() BENMBE-EHHEIRINE
ZRERNES
RZZE—tEFEA+EA XK
SAERRAE([RES]) (KA
AlZEEWB AR EAENME
EEERAR(DEH] NAF
MERRBWARAR ([HE])
ZIBEBRRR)FIL—BEE W
B ENMNERBEHERERX
BRecREBESORA R E
BRER-EFRMEMEHTRA
Z50% - {8 /&55,000,000/8 7T
(IFmEEEEERE]) - REK AR
WEERZ SRaXEE2E
EHAEBRAERRR 2B
2EMBAT -

REBEE-_T-—N\F+_A=1+—
BIUEFER - KBRS 8EE M7
R Ei Al EER
2R BRI 8% AT B
R-ZF-NE+=-A=+—8"
EREMNSXN A RERS L
35,250,000/ T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023

)

B=
23.

=Ft-A=1+—HULHFE

DEPOSITS PAID (continued)

(a)

Deposit paid for additional acquisition

of further equity interests in a subsidiary
(continued)

On 19 March 2019, Skyline Top and Yardley
entered into another supplemental agreement,
pursuant to which the deadline of the
completion of the DHL Acquisition has been
extended from 17 January 2019 to 31 March
2020 and Skyline Top shall pay interest to
Yardley at 8% per annum on the remaining
balance payment during the period from 18
January 2018 to the date of completion.

Yardley has agreed and has no right to share
the result of Delightful Hope and its subsidiary
during the transitional period (i.e. from 1
January 2019 to the date of completion).

On 31 March 2020, Skyline Top and Yardley
entered into another supplemental agreement,
pursuant to which the deadline of the
completion of the DHL Acquisition has been
further extended from 31 March 2020 to 30
September 2020.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregated
deposits of approximately HK$45,754,000
(2022: HK$45,754,000) has been paid to
Yardley and the DHL Acquisition is yet to be
completed.

The details of the DHL Acquisition were
disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 17 July 2017, 31 July 2017, 17
January 2018, 14 January 2019 and 31 March
2020, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. DEPOSITS PAID (continued)
(b) Deposits paid for acquisition of properties

(@)

Deposit paid by Chengwang
Investment Consulting (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (“Chengwang Investment”)
for acquisition of a property located
in the PRC

During the year ended 31 December
2019, Chengwang Investment, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, had
agreed to purchase and a debtor of the
Group had agreed to sell a property
located in the PRC at a consideration of
RMB13,000,000. The consideration has
been fully paid during the year ended
31 December 2019.

Due to the prolonged completion
of the acquisition, the Directors
conducted a review of the fair value
less cost of disposal of the property
as at 31 December 2022 and 2023
and appointed an independent
professional valuer, Valtech, to assist
them to determine the fair value of the
property. Since the fair value less cost of
disposal of the property exceeded the
carrying amount of the deposits paid,
no impairment loss on the deposit paid
was recognised for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, as the
legal title of the property has not
been transferred to the Group,
RMB13,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,250,000)
(2022: RMB13,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,665,000)) has
been recognised as deposit paid.

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_-A=+—RHIFE
DEPOSITS PAID (continued)

23.

(b)

Deposits paid for acquisition of properties
(continued)

(ii)

Deposit paid by China AF Finance
Limited (“CAFFL”) for acquisition of
properties located in the PRC

During the year ended 31 December
2020, CAFFL agreed to purchase and
three loan debtors of CAFFL has agreed
to transfer 133 properties located
in the PRC as to settle the loan and
interest receivables due from those
three loan debtors, which amounted
to approximately RMB15,455,000
(equivalent to approximately
HK$17,388,000). As at the date of
settlement, the legal title of those
properties have not been transferred
to the Group and the fair value of
those properties was approximately
to RMB18,976,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$21,350,000). Thus, a
gain on settlement of loan and interest
receivables of RMB3,521,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$3,962,000) was
recognised upon the settlement.

Due to the prolonged completion of
the acquisition, the Directors conducted
a review of the fair value less cost
of disposal of the properties as at
31 December 2022 and appointed
an independent professional valuer,
Valtech, to assist them to determine
the fair value of the properties. Since
the fair value less cost of disposal of
the properties as at 31 December 2022
was approximately RMB18,168,000
(equivalent to HK$20,496,000), an
impairment loss on the deposits
paid of RMB808,000 (equivalent to
HK$938,000) was recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. DEPOSITS PAID (continued)
(b) Deposits paid for acquisition of properties
(continued)

(i)

Deposit paid by China AF Finance
Limited (“CAFFL”) for acquisition

of properties located in the PRC
(continued)

As at 31 December 2022, as those
properties are still under construction
and the legal title of those properties
have not yet been transferred to the
Group, the amount paid was classified
as deposit paid and the carrying amount
of deposit paid was approximately
RMB18,168,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$20,496,000).

During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group consented the property
developer of the properties to dispose
the properties to an independent third
party, details are set out in Note 23(c).
Upon the completion of the disposal of
relevant properties, the deposits paid
has been fully settled.

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE MR
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HIFE
23. DEPOSITS PAID (continued)
(b) Deposits paid for acquisition of properties
(continued)
(iij)  Deposit paid by Shenzhen Shengshi
Fugiang Technology Co., Ltd.*
(“Shengshi Fugiang”) for acquisition
of properties located in the PRC
During the year ended 31 December
2020, Shengshi Fugiang, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, agreed to purchase and
Fuyu Zhonghe Xinnong Market Real
Estate Co., Ltd* (“Fuyu”) has agreed
to transfer a property located in
the PRC as to settle the loan and
interest receivables due from Fuyu,
which amounted to approximately
RMB3,307,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,720,000). As
at the date of settlement, the legal
title of this property has not been
transferred to the Group and the fair
value of the property was approximately
to RMB3,188,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,800,000). Thus,
a loss on settlement of loans to
associates of RMB119,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$133,000) was
recognised upon the settlement.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEI|R £ EER A7
Annual Report 2023 —Z = = F 4§

23.

eENEE (&)
(b) FUBMEXNZEE (H)

(iii)

R B EEREER
ARE([BHER])BK
B R E YT 11
B E
BE-_Z-_ZTF+=A4
=t+—HLEFE BtEE
B(RNRRZHEEZEWES
AFHRAEEE B ARF
EHMEMBEBEEBRA
(&R BEERAA
RABE —EYE - A
FRKEARNERER
RFE 2BHABARKE
3,307,0007T (B E R4
3,720,000/ L) - N & E
HE 2 EMEEEE
MAEETAER B
MENRTEHNBAR
#%3,188,0007T (FHE A4
3,800,000 7t ) ° & U -
EERBEQRERER
MEE ARE119,0007T
(#8 & M #9133,000% 7T)
EREERER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. DEPOSITS PAID (continued)
(b) Deposits paid for acquisition of properties
(continued)

(iii)

Deposit paid by Shenzhen Shengshi
Fugiang Technology Co., Ltd.*
(“Shengshi Fugiang”) for acquisition
of properties located in the PRC
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December
2021, Shengshi Fugiang agreed to
further purchase and Fuyu has agreed
to transfer 18 properties and 23 car
parking spaces located in the PRC as to
settle the loan and interest receivables
due from Fuyu, which amounted
to approximately RMB27,465,000
(equivalent to approximately
HK$33,107,000). As at the date of
settlement, the legal title of those
properties have not been transferred
to the Group and the fair value of the
those properties was approximately
to RMB22,237,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$26,804,000).
Thus, a loss on settlement of loans to
associates of RMB5,228,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$6,303,000) was
recognised upon the settlement.

Due to the prolonged completion of the
acquisition, the Directors conducted a
review of the fair value of the properties
as at 31 December 2022 and appointed
an independent professional valuer,
Valtech, to assist them to determine
the fair value of the properties. Since
the aggregated fair value less cost
to disposal of the properties as at 31
December 2022 was approximately
RMB15,496,000 (equivalent to
HK$17,481,000), an impairment loss
on deposits paid of RMB5,412,000
(equivalent to HK$6,281,000) was
recognised for the year ended 31
December 2022.

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE =F+ZRA=+—HIFE

23. DEPOSITS PAID (continued)
(b) Deposits paid for acquisition of properties
(continued)

(iii)

Deposit paid by Shenzhen Shengshi
Fugiang Technology Co., Ltd.*
(“Shengshi Fugiang”) for acquisition
of properties located in the PRC
(continued)

As at 31 December 2022, as those
properties are still under construction
and the legal title of those properties
have not yet been transferred to the
Group, the amount paid was classified
as deposit paid and the carrying amount
of deposit paid was approximately
RMB15,496,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$17,481,000).

During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group consented the property
developer of the properties to dispose
the properties to two independent third
parties, details are set out in Note 23(c).
Subsequent to the disposal, as at 31
December 2023, the carrying amount
of deposit paid was approximately
RMB2,146,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,353,000).

* English name for identification only

(c) Settlement of deposits paid
During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the property developer of the PRC properties
entered into two sale and purchase agreements
with two independent third parties to dispose
of certain properties, as stated in Notes 23(b)

(i) and 23(b)(iii),

at the consideration of

RMB4,250,000 and RMB3,500,000 respectively.
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24,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEPOSITS PAID (continued)

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
23. BEff&RE (&)

(c) Settlement of deposits paid (continued) (c) SEEOAES (F)
The Directors appointed an independent EELEB EEGER H IR
professional valuer, Valtech, to assist them to (R EEETYWERNERARE
determine the fair value of the properties at BN ATFE- BE_T_=F
the respective dates of disposal. An aggregated +TZA=+—BHLFE BRH
impairment loss on deposits paid by CAFFL and EEZUBEERTESRD iR
Shengshi Fugiang (Notes 23(b)(ii) and 23(b)iii) % B RIERS B85 (HEE23())
of approximately RMB2,178,000 (equivalent to }23(b)(ii) ) 49 AR 2,178,000
approximately HK$2,403,000) was recognised 70 (F8& 7L 492,403,0005 7T ) ©
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The aggregated corresponding carrying REAHEBEMNE M 4S
amounts of deposits paid as at the respective MEEERB2EY A AR
dates of disposal were approximately 29,340,000 (FEE R L
RMB29,340,000 (equivalent to approximately 31,652,000 70) cHH R ZEY
HK$31,652,000). Since the properties 2P EREAREKT7,750,0007T
were disposed at a total consideration of HeE Wz ZE-——F+—A
RMB7,750,000, loss of settlement of deposits =t HIFE®REED R
paid of approximately RMB21,591,000 REMEBEHARR21,591,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$24,878,000) 7T (FBE A #924,878,00055 7T ) °
was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2023.
INVENTORIES 2. EBE
2023 2022
—E:-= - F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THETT
Finished goods ZUPK om 2,612 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE
25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. FEWERARKEMEKRRE

2023 2022
—E== — -

HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET

Trade receivables arise from contracts TP ALEAWE S EWRTE
with customers (Note a) (Mf=Ea) 12,601 19,190
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEEEE (1,467) (13,312)
11,134 5,878
Prepayments to suppliers (Note b) Mt e R TEA FRIE (M akb) 1,119 4,166
Deposits i 24 40
Other receivables (Note ¢) EAth e U SR8 (M 5Ec) 37,204 24,694
37,228 24,734
Less: Allowance for credit losses B E B R R EE (14,714) (14,918)
22,514 9,816
34,767 19,860
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@

As at 1
from contracts with customers amounted to
HK$23,065,000.

January 2022, trade receivables

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
net of allowance for credit losses presented based on
the invoice dates:

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE

25. BWERARHEMERRIE (&)

B & :

(a) RZZE-_—_F—F—H BF&4
EEMNE 5 EWRFIEF23,065,000
BT e

UTEEREZEHE2INESE
WHRBEHGREEBEBRENRE D
#r :

2023 2022

—B-Z=HF —T-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
0 to 30 days 0%30H 10,896 5,298
31 to 90 days 31908 - 563
Over 90 days #3890 H 238 17
11,134 5,878

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's
trade receivables balances were debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$2,023,000 (2022: HK$3,140,000) which were
past due at the end of the reporting period. As at 31
December 2023, HK$238,000 (2022: HK$17,000)
outstanding trade receivable has been past due
90 days or more and are not considered as default
by considering the ongoing business relationship,
repayment history and expected future settlement.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, the amounts
represent the prepayments for purchasing of seeds.

R-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—H 5
T 4 {5 492,023,000 T (— & - —
£ 3,140,000 70 ) 2 FEW AR SR Y&t
AREB 2B GEWFKIBLE R Z
FEWEE RN MG RE @B - N
T-=fF+=-HF=+—H" 238,000
BT (ZZF = =4 :17,000% 7T) #
RIEEEWRRE B HI0RL LA £
EEZRINFEEBBE BRI H
MIEHARRGEE  WERBEY -

(b) R-B-—HER-_ZET_=%+_#
=+—H ZREEEEETHNE
FRIA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
25.

CECCFTA=THUEFE
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@] Other receivables mainly comprise the followings:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Group has loaned to two individuals and
five individuals with an aggregated principal
amount of RMB10,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$11,919,000) (“Loan
I”) and RMB4,900,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$5,840,000) (“Loan II"),
respectively. Loan | are unsecured and bear
interest rate of 8% per annum with a term
of two years, while Loan Il are unsecured and
bear interest rates of 12% per annum with a

term of six months.

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregated
outstanding principal of Loan | and Loan I
amounted to approximately RMB10,000,000
(equivalent to HK$11,281,000) and
RMB3,910,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,411,000) respectively have been past
due 90 days or more at the reporting date.
The Directors consider Loan | and Loan
Il as credit-impaired, and an aggregated
allowance for credit losses amounted to
approximately RMB6,200,000 (equivalent
to HK$6,994,000) and RMB2,424,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,735,000)
have been provided respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023,
one debtor of Loan Il has settled RMB50,000,
and one debtor of Loan | and one debtor of
Loan Il have fully settled the amount due to
the Group of approximately RMB5,000,000
(equivalent to HK$5,481,000) and
RMB810,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$888,000) respectively. As a result, the
outstanding balance of approximately
RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to HK$5,481,000)
(the “OQutstanding Loan
RMB3,050,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,343,000) (the “Outstanding Loan II")
due from one debtor of Loan | and 4 debtors

of Loan Il respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(o) (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(continued)

On 5 April 2023, the Group entered into
an agreement with an independent third
party (“New Debtor”), pursuant to which
the Group agreed to assign the Outstanding
Loan | and the Outstanding Loan Il to New
Debtor at a consideration of RMB9,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$9,700,000)
with a fair value of RMB8,078,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$9,211,000),
resulting in the gain on settlement of other
receivables of RMB8,078,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$8,912,000).

As at 31 December 2023, New Debtor
has not yet settled the consideration
and the amount due from New Debtor
is RMB8,750,000 (equivalent to
HK$9,592,000), and expected credit loss of
RMB2,988,000 (equivalent to HK$3,276,000)
have been provided. Subsequent to the
reporting period end, the balance has been
fully settled.

As at 31 December 2023, RMB1,125,000
(equivalents to HK$1,233,000)
(2022: RMB1,125,000 (equivalents to
HK$1,269,000)) represented the amount
due from a director, Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy
and the maximum outstanding amount was
HK$1,269,000 (2022: HK$1,269,000) during
the year ended 31 December 2023. The
amount was non-trade in nature, unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand. Subsequent to the reporting period,
the amount has been fully settled.

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
FE W BR R H Ath B UK IE (48
PisE: ()

(0 (%)
(i) (#®)

R-ZE-_=FMARA "
AEBBE-—FBILE=H
(I EB AL T LB
BUEAEERZEAREA
R #9,000,0007T (HE ®
#99,700,0007% Jo) M # (&
BAEZAFEAARE
8,078,000 (FHERH
9,211,000 L) M REEE
RIRKEBEBEERI - E4AH
tERREEERE AR
#8,078,0007T (48 E R4
8,912,000/ 7T ) °

RZEZ=F+=-A=+—
B #HEBANMKRGEER
B RBREFMEHEANSER
AR #8,750,0007T (% R
9,592,000/ t) * B BLTE HA
ZEE 1B AR%2,988,0007T
(¥8E 73,276,000/ 7T ) 5112
B RIRE KRR BB
EXEEEE -

(ii) NRZEBE_=F+=-F=+—
H: AR#1,125,0007T (18
B 51,233,000 ) (=
——4: ANR¥1,125,0005T
(H & 71,269,000 7T) )
ABEREZTHRMALER
H- B2 =-_=%F+=A
Tt HLEFE &aMEE
B8 778 A&1,269,000% 7T
(Z=Z = —%:1,269,000/8
TL) cHZABRIEESME -
mER REREREKE
BoAMEHE  ZBECE
%%{Ziao

kS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
25.

=Ft-A=1+—HULHFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(©) (continued)

(iii) As at 31 December 2023, RMB3,936,000
to HK$4,315,000)
(2022: RMB3,936,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,440,000)) represented a loan and
interest payable to a former associate, Beijing
HX, which has been reclassified from loans to

(equivalent

associates to other receivables when Beijing
HX was no longer an associate of the Group,
upon the disposal of subsidiaries, i.e. the
Konson Group, (Note 43 (b)(ii)) during the
year ended 31 December 2022. The amount
was unsecured, interest bearing at a fixed
rate of 12% per annum and repayable on

demand.

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors
consider the credit risks of the balances
have increased and are considered as credit-
impaired, and an aggregated allowance for
credit losses amounted to approximately
RMB3,936,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,315,000) (2022: RMB3,936,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,440,000)

has been made.

(iv) As at 31 December 2023, the balance of
RMB12,763,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$13,990,000) (2022: Nil) represented
loans and interest receivables for three
individuals. The loans principal are unsecured
and bear interest rate of 5% per annum with
a term of one year. The Directors consider
the credit risks of the balances are considered
as not credit-impaired, and an aggregated
allowance for credit losses amounted to
approximately RMB4,359,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$4,778,000) (2022: Nil) has

been made.

China Eco-Farming lelted FEIBELEREGRAT
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S

(©

(%

)

(%)

(iii)

(iv)

Hib EWKE (&)

RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—
B AR#3,936,0007T (48
174,315,000 ) (=&
— =& : AR¥3,936,0007T
(18 & 14,440,000/ 7T) ) B
MATHE & QR REE M
MERKEMFE REE
—E-=Ff+=ZHA=+—H
IEFEHEMB AR (B
5 E) (M sE43(b)ii)) &
IEREETHANEEEE
NEZEFREARBERQ
ARENEREFTSEEH
ﬁﬁﬂgqy/ﬁ\ EZJAIEE%ﬁ
IR LB EFFER12%E
B BEREREE-

RZEZ=F+=-A=+—
H Z=RALEHNEER
SO BAMENEEEAEE
BB W EAEHEE B R
By AR 3,936,000
7T (FE R #44,315,000/%
L) (ZEZZF: AR
#3,936,0007T (HE K%
4,440,000 7T) ) °

R-_ZE-_=F+=-A=+—
A &% AK®12,763,0007TC
(*H%E@%B%oooo;‘%ﬁ)
(ZZZZF ®|)E=-%E
ABRKBEREFE -ERA
EBEER ESF5%
A =B HRAE—F-
EERAEBNEERRKRE
RAEWEFSERE WEE
LEEBEBRBREBRBEOA
R #4,359,0007T (48 & M 4
4,778,000 L) (ZT ==
FME) o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Notes: (continued)

()

(continued)

(v)

As at 31 December 2023, RMB494,000
(equivalent to HK$541,000) (net of expected
credit loss of RMB256,000 (equivalent to
HK$281,000) and RMB2,305,000 (equivalent
to HK$2,526,000) (net of expected
credit loss of RMB1,195,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,310,000) was due from two
independent third parties in relation to the
settlement of deposits paid for acquisition of
properties (Note 23(c)).

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 39(b).

The Group’s trade and other receivables that are

denominated in currencies other than the functional

currencies of the relevant group entities are set as

below:

REMB|KRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
FE W BR R H Ath B UK IE (48

BisE: (48)
(©) (&)

(v) RZEBE-_=F+=-_A=+—
B BREDNEMNERESE
EEMEBILE = EKK
18 A AR #494,0007T (FAE
541,000 7T) ($0BRTEHEA
ZEE1E ARK256,0007T
(t8 & 281,000 L) ) &
AR #2,305,0007T (% R®
2,526,000/ 7t) (¥R TEHEA
EEEBARE1,195,000
7t (#8& 71,310,000 7T) )
(MF5E23(c)) »

B B e YR SR e H At FE WK IRDRL B RY il B9
S IEE SR EE39(b) ©

AEBIZBBEB TR S LN
B &S B A FE KB B N H b I U 3R
HEHT

2023 2022
—E_= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHEIT
Amounts denominated in: A TANE T ERFIE
RMB AR 21 7,808
United States Dollar ("USD") Emx([Z%Emx)) 1,098 3,701
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
26.

TR =F+A=t—BIFE

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 26. BWEREFE
2023 2022
—=== —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Fixed-rate loan and interest receivables & 2 JEU & 3 & F &
— Secured —F 2,219 7,238
— Unsecured —E I - 1,277
2,219 8,515
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEERE (2,219) (7,187)
- 1,328
Analysed as: oA :
Current asset (within one year) RBEE(—FA) - 1,328

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's
loan and interest receivables balance are debtors
with aggregate gross amount of approximately
HK$2,219,000 (2022: HK$8,515,000) which has been
past due 90 days or more at the reporting date and

considered as credit-impaired.

Details of impairment assessment of loan and interest

receivables are set out in Note 39(b).

The exposure of the Group’s fixed-rate loan receivables
to interest rate risks and their contractual maturity

dates are as follows:

R-ZZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—H &:t&
SR HX2,219,0008 L (Z T == F:
8,515,000/# 7T ) &Y & W BR SR ET A AR &
Er RN E R RF B &S ZEBEER
RiRE BEE @08 sk A £ B3R
RIEERE-

JEWCE 3} R F BB E A R B E AR
M 5E39(b) °

S [ 5 8 M 3 B A
B R E A WERIT

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Fixed-rate loan receivables: EERKER:
Within 1 year or repayable —FARAREREER
on demand - 1,328
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26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continued) 26.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are equal

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
= =F+ZA=1+—HItFE

F?U&E &*UE\(%E)
AEBRKEFTHERNE (RERR

to contractual interest rates) on the Group's loan AHMFNR) ZHEWMT :
receivables are as follows:
2023 2022
—E_-= —E-4F
Effective interest rate: ERFIE
Fixed-rate loan receivables FEEEWRER 8% 8% - 36%

The secured loan and interest receivables are secured
by the unlisted shares of the borrowers. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, the fair value of collaterals
held by the Group is minimal.

All loan and interest receivables are dominated in
HKS.

Loan and interest receivables, after ECL comprise:

EEMEBEREF ERERARE
EFRMNRERHEER RZTE=F K=
T —HF+-RAR=+—8 AEEHFEH
MEHRAFTEEM-

A FEME SRR M BB TTAHE

FEWE NS (FIRRFEEE B ERR)
B

Range of
Type of Securities/ interest rate
Nature of loans  Number of loans borrower Term guarantees (per annum) 2023 2022
ERHE EXREY ERAER  HR HR/ER FRR#EE —B-=F —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHT
Personal loans 1(2022: 3) Individual 1 year (2022: Share charge 8% - 1,328
1-2 years) (2022:
8%-36%)
BAER WZZEZZF:3) A —F(ZT==F:  RipEE 8%
—FEME) (ZZ==%:
8%-36% )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=

27.

28.

=Ft-A=1+—HULHFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 27. BATFEFAEBS ([BAFES
PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVTPL") ABR|)ze®mEE
2023 2022
—_E_-= —_E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FETT
Listed securities: R
— Equity securities listed in —RATEINRZNEE
Hong Kong, at fair value I RARFE 473 3,375

As at 31 December 2023, the listed equity
investments listed in Hong Kong with the fair value
of approximately HK$137,000 (2022: approximately
HK$2,161,000) have been pledged to financial
institutions to secure the margin loans granted to the
Group. Details of margin loans payables are set out in
Note 34.

For the valuation method of the financial assets at
FVTPL, please refer to Note 39(c).

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2020, bank
accounts of Shengshi Fugiang have been frozen by the
Shenzhen Qianhai Cooperation Zone People’s Court
(the “"Court”) as a former lessee of Shengshi Fugiang
has filed a statement of claim for compensation
for their loss against Shengshi Fugiang. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, those bank accounts
remained frozen. Details of the litigation has been
disclosed in Note 30(c).

Details of impairment assessment of restricted bank
balance is set out in Note 39(b).

China Eco-Farming Limited FEI|R £ EER A7
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28.

RZEZ=%+=ZHAH=+—8"
REBETHLETRAKLE (AF
BE#137,0008 0 —F = —F ¢
2,161,000 /) E 1R T & mi g - IA
AAEEERRESERIEER BN
RESEFTFBEHIN N 7E34 -

RERERAFEFARZCSREE

BB % B2 BN EE39(0) °

ﬂﬁE%‘JﬁEﬁ%"“ﬁ?

HE —EF+_RA=+—HIF

E - @ﬁm@ﬁﬂ’]ﬁﬁ TRFPERRYIANES

f’EE}\E%Fm(Dﬁﬁ?ﬂ))ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ@
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%fﬂ/\ﬁﬁ’zﬂﬁﬁ%i

nﬁ:ﬂ\ﬁjﬁﬁu BEREMBER- RN

FR-_EBE-_—F+-A=1+— E! ZE
IRITER P IR - SRAAFFIB IR B R K
5£30(c) °

PR HIERTTAE
Bt 3E39(b) °
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29.

30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include short term deposits
for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term
cash commitments, which carry interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balance are
set out in Note 39(b).

Included in cash and cash equivalents are the
following amounts which are subject to foreign
exchange control regulations or not freely
transferrable:

29.

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE
ReERREEHE
RekReSEERBFBARNMERER
RN AGNERER HRBRESE
HIRITERM R ZEN KGR -

R 1T 45 8RB0 B T A A IS BN B A
39(b) °

ATHBFARS R EEFE AXE
SMNEE FUEARMBRIR KA A B HESE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Amounts denominated in: AT E S ERFIE -
RMB AR 856 28

Under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

RIEPE A OMNEFREM) & &
B -SERNEERERTE)  AEEA
BBEFEBELINEXRBE ZRITHA
RESMREMER -

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. ENRARRHEHMEMSRKE

2023 2022
—_E_-= g

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Trade payables (Note a) Z 5 FIE (Kista ) 9,126 9,853
Other payables (Notes b to e) Hi S8 (MiEb=e) 26,204 30,243
35,330 40,096
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

B=
30.

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
=F+ZRA=+—HIFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables

FEAS BRR

XK E At FEAY R

XIE (#8)

TRARBERNRRBREXRZAHZR

presented based on the invoice date at the end of the CEGEMNTIEZEREBDNT:
reporting period:
2023 2022
—E-=H —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TETT
0 to 30 days 0£30H 5,067 3,114
31 to 90 days 31290H 500 2,739
Over 90 days to 1 year RE—F 3,559 1
Over 1 year BiE—F = 3,999
9,126 9,853
Notes: ik

(0

The credit period on purchases of goods is ranged
from 0 to 90 days (2022: 0 to 90 days). The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
time frame.

At as 31 December 2023, include in other payables
is professional fees payable of HK$1,666,000 (2022:
HK$4,153,000), in which a professional fee payable
of HK$Nil (2022: HK$1,565,000) bears a default
interest rate of 2% per month.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a
former lessee of Shengshi Fugiang (the “Plaintiff”)
commenced civil proceedings against Shengshi
Fugiang and filed a statement to the Court to claim
for compensation for their loss of approximately
RMB 1,704,000 (equivalent to HK$2,031,000) as they
cannot retrieve the furniture and equipment from
the premises leased to them by Shengshi Fugiang
in which the aforesaid premises have been sold out
during the year ended 31 December 2020. Shengshi
Fugiang has made a counter-claim against the
Plaintiff for outstanding rent and delay in delivering
vacant possession at the sum of approximately
RMB980,000 (equivalent to HK$1,168,000).

China Eco-Farming Limited FEI|R £ EER A7
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BEEMZEERNF0EWNAR (=
T F:0F90RH) - AKEBEEZAS
A BB ARRFTA N
HEREEHRNES -

RZEZ=F5+-_A=+—8"
AARMENREARNEEE
F31,666,0008 L (=ZZF ==
4,153,000 L) " EFRENEXEST
B (ZZ = — 41,565,000/ 7T)
GHEOFER2% -

BE_ZT_ZF+_A=+t—H81t
FE - EttEEN— %ﬁlﬁ@ﬁ/\(ﬂ?

EHBUERRERFRR I
FOEBERR T — B8 xi,ﬁ\nﬁa

HERMIBLL ARE,704,0007T (1
& 12,031,000 7T) - B A%
HERtERAETFHEENMERE
FERSZE EF Ll EDRE
E-F_TF+-A=+—HLHF
EEL BREERERAIMAEAS
REEXEHRERHERAROA
R #980,0007t (8 & 71,168,000/
JT) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
Notes: (continued)

()

(d)

(e)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Plaintiff raise the claims to RMB1,964,000
(equivalent to HK$2,405,000). According to
the written judgement of the Court issued on
30 December 2021, Shengshi Fugiang will be
responsible to compensate the Plaintiff for an
amount of approximately RMB594,000 (equivalent to
HK$727,000) for damages and valuation fee and the
Plaintiff will be responsible to compensate Shengshi
Fugiang an amount of approximately RMB596,000
(equivalent to HK$730,000) for claims and legal
expense. The Plaintiff has made an appeal to the
Court on 26 February 2022. On 26 March 2024, the
Court of Appeal has dismissed the appeal. According
to the written judgement by the Court, the
responsibility of both Plaintiff and Shengshi Fugiang
has been upheld.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group made
a provision of RMB1,964,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,156,000) (2022: RMB1,964,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,216,000)) for the
Plaintiff's claim for compensation.

As at 31 December 2023, amount of approximately
HK$10,419,000 (2022: HK$9,742,000) represented
accrued interest for borrowings and accrued interest
in relation to acquisition of minority interest of a
subsidiary (Note 23(a)).

As at 31 December 2022, HK$2,173,000 represented
amount due to Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal
Eco”), which has been reclassified to other payables
when Seal Eco was no longer a subsidiary of the
Group, upon the deconsolidation of subsidiaries
(Note 42) during the year ended 31 December 2022.
The amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand. During the year ended 31
December 2023, upon the disposal of King Health
International Holdings Limited (Note 43(a)(iii)) and
King Noble Holdings Limited (Note 43(a)(iv)), the
balance has been derecognised.

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
30. BRI HEMENSRIE (&)
MisE: (48)

(0 (%)

BEe_Z2-_—F+-_A=+—H1t
FE REBRESERSZEAR
#1,964,0007T (18 E 742,405,000/
L) cBBEFERR Z_FT=Z—F+=
AZ+B#EME@mH R Rt
BBAENRBAHEERHEERR
EHEHARES94,000T (BE
727,000 70) - MREHEAEH
HERFZEBERAREEREFRLY
AR #596,0007T (18 & 730,000
BIL) REER-_ZE-_—_F_-A8
Zt+ARBRAER EF - R_T -
FZA-+RB LFERDEET
FERIRBARMET AR B R
ERBRtEmmET-

RZE-_=F+=-—A=+—8"
REBERRERRNRETREE
B AR1,964,000T (BHERH
2,156,0008 L) (ZZE-=—F: AR
#1,964,0007T (10 E 7 492,216,000
BIL) ) e

(d) R—_ZE-_=ZF+=-_A=+—8"
#710,419,0008 L (=& ==
9,742,000 7T) A& & K IEETF B &
HIE—HBRAR L BEREE
Ky ERTF B (IEE23(@)) ©

(e) RZEZZ=ZF+ZA=+—8"
2,173,000/ 7T 7 FE (< /8 59 5¢ i A A2
RIEAER AR ([EH&E])RE
REBEE_T-_—_F+=-A=+—H
LEFEBHEGAE ARMKMB QR (W
FH42) B BN FET B AEAREBNE
DR ZRBEEFOEEHME
NRBE-ZREAEER 2BRE
REKER BHE-_T-_=—F1+=
A=+—HLFE REERREH
PR A R A A (M E43(a) i) ) &
King Noble Holdings Limited (Fff &+
43(a)iv) ) % FEERE R IETER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
30.

31.

TR =F+A=t—BIFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 30, EfERIRHEMEMSRE (&)
The Group’s trade and other payables that are REFUHBER TR T’ 2
denominated in currencies other than the functional B B EHE B FE T BR B % E At R R
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out BEYWOT
below:
2023 2022
—E-= - —
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
RMB AR 3,800 3,817
usb =V - 2,997
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. EHEE
2023 2022
—E=-= S
HK$°'000 HK$'000
FTHERT TET
Current: Rl ER -
Distribution business DIHER 1,103 4,243
As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to RZEBE-_—_F—A—B AHEEA

HK$2,504,000.

Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be
settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle, are
classified as current and non-current liabilities based
on the Group’s earliest obligation to transfer goods to
the customers.
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31.

32.

33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=E =F+ZA=1+—HILFE
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 31. 64 E{E (£48)
The following table shows how much of the revenue TR AEERRELZELSLNE
recognised in the current year relates to carried- EREBEHIREE MBI -
forward contract liabilities.
One-stop
value chain Distribution
services business
— ¥
BEERE D EER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE-Z-_=f+=-A=1+—H
LLFE
Revenue recognised that was included ERERTAFEL
in the contract liability balance at the BEAH KR
beginning of the year - 3,140
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z-_—_F+-A=1+—H
HEE
Revenue recognised that was included ERERTAFENEL
in the contract liability balance at the BEAHN KR
beginning of the year 947 1,557
Note: The significant decrease in contract liabilities for the fiF: 2T -_=F+=-A=+—H1t
year ended 31 December 2023 was mainly due to FE AHBERERLEETIH
decrease in pre-order agreement at the end of the REFBREELE RSB HER
financial year. Ao
AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 32. FEFERBRERERRIE
INTERESTS
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and EREZBVERR pE RAREKE
repayable on demand. Bo
BORROWINGS 33. &
2023 2022
—E-= —E--F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Other borrowings, unsecured HAth {8 30 AR 26,554 23,398
Other borrowings, secured HE g HE A 5,383 14,383
Total borrowings BER 31,937 37,781
All the borrowings are repayable within one year. FIEERER—FERNES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P WR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

33. BORROWINGS (continued) 33. EFH(8\)
Borrowings comprise: BEZaE:
Effective
Maturity date interest rate 2023 2022
FEA RS —E-=F T CF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Fixed-rate borrowings:
ERMER:
Interest-free unsecured other borrowing 31 December 2023 Interest-free 4,988 5,133
of RMB4,550,000 (Note a)
%8 AR AR E fth 55K T =F+ZA=+—H 2R
AR #¥4,550,0007T (Hizta)
Interest-free unsecured other borrowing 31 December 2023 Interest-free 14,251 14,665
of RMB 13,000,000 (Note b)
REZEEAEMER —E-=F+ZA=+—H 28
AR #13,000,0007T (KizEb)
15% unsecured other borrowing of 28 December 2019 15% 975 2,500
HK$21,500,000 (Note c)
FEB15% 2 MR E M ER “ET-NF+ZA=+NH
21,500,0005% 7T, (Pif3Ec)
15% unsecured other borrowing of 22 February 2024 15% 810 9,000

HK$810,000 (2022: 12% secured other  (2022: 7 January 2022)
borrowing of HK$10,000,000) (Note d)

FI R E15% 2 EAR IR E b 30 —E-WNE-_A-+-H
810,000 (ZE =4 : (ZEz=F: (
FEA12% 2 BEAELBER —E-_F—A+tH)

10,000,000 7T) (HisEd)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

33. BORROWINGS (continued) 33. AR (&)
Borrowings comprise: (continued) EREiE: (&)
Effective
Maturity date interest rate 2023 2022
BH8A BRF = ZBZZH T CF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
18% secured other borrowing of 11 August 2020 18% 5,383 5,383
HK$6,900,000 (Note e)
MER18% AHEMEMER —E-ZEFEN\A+—H
6,900,000/% 7 (ffizte)
10% unsecured other borrowing of 19 April 2024 10% 1,212 1,100
HK$1,212,000 (2022: HK$1,100,000) (2022: 19 April 2023)
(Note f)
MER10% BB EMER —E-MENAT A
1,212,000 7T (Z T -~ 4 (Z2-—F:
1,100,000/ 7T) (HFEf) ZZZ=FMA+AIH)
10% unsecured other borrowing of 8 February 2024 10% 2,400 -
HK$2,400,000 (Note g)
FER10% BB EMER —E-MF=ANH
2,400,000/ 7T (Hfiztg)
6% unsecured other borrowing of 2 April 2024 6% 1,918 -
RMB1,750,000 (Note h)
FEEH6% 2 EEAEMERARE “E-NMFMAZH
1,750,0007T (FfizEh)
31,937 37,781
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023

)

B=
33.

=Ft-A=1+—HULHFE

BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(@

The unsecured other borrowing was obtained
from Lender A as defined in Note 22. According to
the loan agreement, the Group has to reimburse
Lender A for its costs of financing (i.e. Loan A),
which includes the interest of 8% per annum borne
by Lender A. Those reimbursements have been
recognised as financial costs of the Group (Note 8).

On 21 February 2022, the Group and Lender A
entered into a supplemental agreement, pursuant
to which the deadline for repayment and discharge
of the principal and the reimbursement have been
extended to 31 December 2023. However, since 14
January 2022, Lender A no longer incurred costs of
financing, hence, the Group was no longer required
to reimburse the costs of financing to Lender A.

The unsecured other borrowing was obtained from
Gold Wide, an associate of the Group. According
to the loan agreement, the Group has to reimburse
Gold Wide for its costs of financing, which includes
the interest of 8% per annum borne by Gold
Wide (Note 21). Those reimbursements have been
recognised as financial costs of the Group (Note
8). However, since 23 January 2022, Gold Wide no
longer incurred costs of financing, hence, the Group
was no longer required to reimburse the costs of
financing to Gold Wide.

Pursuant to the deed of settlement dated 31
December 2019, the Group and Gold Wide
canvassed amongst themselves that, instead of the
Group repaying this borrowing to Gold Wide, the
Group shall repay to Entity A (as defined in Note 21).
Any sums paid and/or to be paid by the Group to
Gold Wide pursuant to this borrowing shall be paid
and discharged in accordance therewith.

On 21 February 2022, the Group and Gold Wide
entered into a supplemental agreement, pursuant
to which the deadline for repayment and discharge
of the principal and the reimbursement have been
extended to 31 December 2023.

China Eco-Farming lelted FEIBELEREGRAT
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ZEEAREMERTIRESA CEE
R E22) G -RBEERBE K
SHEEENETABERAE (BIER
A) - Ho BIEE T ARE R F R X
8% - ZHFENEWER/AEE
ZRRVERA (HIEES) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: (continued)

()

(e)

(f)

On 25 January 2019, other payable of
HK$21,500,000 was novated to a financial institution
and reclassified to borrowings. The amount is
unsecured, carries interest at 15% per annum
and repayable in 10 installments from 28 March
2019 to 28 December 2019. As at 31 December
2023, accumulated amount of HK$20,525,000
(2022: HK$19,000,000) has been paid to settle the
principal.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
secured other borrowing is obtained from a financial
institution in Hong Kong and is secured by an
investment property of the Group located in Hong
Kong with fair value of approximately HK$9,780,000
as disclosed in Note 18.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group had settled the principal of HK$8,190,000
and the accrued interest of HK$1,413,000 through
the net proceed arising from the Forced Sale of the
Mortgaged Property (Note 18).

After the Forced Sale, the Group and the financial
institution entered into a new loan agreement in the
principal sum of the remaining outstanding amount
of HK$810,000 for six months. The balance was
unsecured, interest bearing at 15% per annum and
repayable on 22 February 2024.

The secured other borrowing is obtained from a
financial institution in Hong Kong and is secured by
securities account which was held by a subsidiary of
the Company.

The unsecured other borrowing is obtained from
a private company. The loan bears interest at fixed
rate of 10% per annum and is repayable on 19 April
2023.

On 19 April 2023 and 19 October 2023, the
Group and the private company entered into two
supplemental agreements respectively, pursuant to
which the aggregated outstanding principal and
interest of HK$1,155,000 and HK$1,212,000 bear
interest at fixed rate of 10% per annum and are
repayable on to 19 October 2023 and 19 April 2024
respectively.

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
33. &R (&)
BeE: (&)

() R-TE—hE—A-+EB Hith
JE <t ZIE21,500,0008 TR B E
—REmMBBELENDBEEER-
ZARIE T B R  RF R E15%ET
BEWARZTE-—NF=A=+NH
BE-_Z—AF+=-_A=+N\H
STHEE-R-_Z==F+=A
=+—H BX{f&520,525000%
7T (ZZ = —4:19,000,000/% 7T )
D/\;uuérzlgi"

d  HMMFEISAHE BE-_T -

F+-A=1+—BLFE ZHHE
MEAMER TN EESREBEUS

BUREEMNREBHREWEE
- A F1E49 49,780,000 7T

Hz—_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—8H
LtFE AEECBBRFEEDR
BEDEMBSHREFELELRS
8,190,000/ 7t & FE 5T #1£.1,413,000
BT (MI3E18) ©

o 1R AR B G Bl R
M ERMGE ASEAT
%*Eaﬂﬁ&&%Wﬁiﬁ%ﬁ
BAR -#EHTEEKE RTF15%
MR RFE Y ER-_T_NFE=
A-Z+=-RHEEZ-

(e) ZEBREMERTIIREE S R
BERE BUAARR—HEKBA A
BENESESIERAT-

) FZERREMERTE —RLER
AR - BEHIR10%K F & F =
AEYER-_ZT_=FOA+IH
EiE-

T_ZFOA+ABRE
¢+ﬂ+na’$%aﬁan
R BRI LMD T 1% &
LR EEA® R S48 %FE1,155,000
75 7T 51,212,000/ T 32 10% ) 4F &

mE R

D) ]

EMEFBWDFNER T =4
+A+NABR=ZZ=-_WFMNA+ I
HEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P WR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

33. BORROWINGS (continued) 33. fBER (&)

Notes: (continued) Mizx: (88)

(9) The unsecured other borrowing is obtained from an () ZEEEEMmERTTE—REA (B
individual, an independent third party. The loan bears NEZH)EF -BERIRI0%MFE
interest at fixed rate of 10% per annum. The loan is THERHF B - BEHER T —OF
repayable on 8 February 2024. —ANBEEZE-

(h) The unsecured other borrowing is obtained from (h) mEmEMmERTIE—2EA (5
an individual, an independent third party. The loan NEZH)ES ERIR6%ME
bears interest at fixed rate of 6% per annum and is TEHEEBEWER —F Q4] A
repayable on 2 April 2024. —HEE-

The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in ANEBAHBER TR e 2748

currencies other than the functional currencies of the HESAEMEREWMT

relevant group entities are set out below:

2023 2022
—_=E_—= —ET-—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

RMB AR 21,157 19,798

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has REIEH R NEBBENRERNEE

the following undrawn credit facilities: EERERINE

2023 2022
—E—= —=E_—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FHET

Fixed rate & 7E A1 &

— expiring within one year —R—F R EH 75,000 -
— expiring beyond one year ——F A EEIH - 75,000
34. MARGIN LOANS PAYABLES 3. BEHARBEZER

As at 31 December 2023, the margin loans payables
were secured by the listed equity securities placed in
financial institutions under the margin accounts as
disclosed in Note 27, with fair value of approximately
HK$137,000 (2022: HK$2,161,000).

The margin loans payables were repayable on demand
as they were subject to margin call from the financial
institutions and interest rates at 10% per annum
(2022: 10% per annum).
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35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group issued
financial guarantee to Entity A (as defined in Note
21) as to secure the Loan B granted to Gold Wide,
an associate of the Group. The term of the financial
guarantee contract is from the grant date of Loan
B to the date falling three years after the due date
(Note 21). Gold Wide is the lender of the interest-
free unsecured other borrowing of RMB13,000,000 as
detailed in Note 33(b).

As at 31 December 2022, if the guarantees were
called upon in entirety, the aggregate amounts of
principal and accrued interest that could be required
to be paid was RMB2,190,000. As at 31 December
2022, the outstanding balance of Loan B was
RMB2,190,000 and the financial guarantee had not
been utilised by Gold Wide.

As at 31 December 2022, expected credit loss
of approximately RMB125,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$141,000) has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, as Loan
B had been fully settled by Gold Wide, the financial
guarantee has been released. Details of the loss
allowance for financial guarantee contract are set out
in Note 39(b).

35.

e MBEHRRHE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE
MBERRER
RZEZ_=FR_FT-__F+=-H
=+—HB FAEEMEBA(EREMN
2D BTHBER AR TE5L (K
SEZBME RGN EXBIEER-
MBERSHNNERABEXBEH
JBRENHBAE=F2H (i
21) AR EEERAMERAR
#13,000,0007t 2 & 77 ' 5518 R Mt &%
33(b) °

RZFZZF+ZA=1+—H HEX
S EEER BAZNORE RER
T BEE A ARK2,190,0007T R =
T _F+_A=+—HB EXBEHRK
EE#&E#H A/ ARY2,190,0005T B £ 354
W ARE R TEHELR o

RZZFZZF+ZA=+—H HAR
#125,0007T (1B & 7 49141,0007% 7T )
MIEHEEBBREREEUBRRAEK
BR-EBEE-T-_=F+-_A=+—H
IFEE ARERBE AL REEE

E B ERE R R - BB ERREO8
BB R B H AT 5E39(D)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
36.

TR =F+A=t—BIFE

DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the current
and prior reporting periods:

36.

BB IE
WA 74 R 4 HA S R 1 905 AR
EO AL RIAS &R AR

Fair value
changes of
investment

properties
REMEN
N EZE

HK$'000
FET

At 1 January 2022
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10)
Exchange differences arising from the balances

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 R_ZT -

R—ZE-_—_F—H—H
sFABE (BiEE10)
BEMELMEL =5

1,390
(1,306)
(84)

F+-—A=+—8BEK

—EB-=H+Z-A=1+—H -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$288,353,000
(2022: HK$280,896,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax has been recognised
in respect of such losses (2022: Nil) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$7,947,000 (2022: HK$9,317,000). No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

37. SHARE CAPITAL

= =F+ZA=1+—HItFE
37. Hﬁztx
Nominal value Number of
per share shares Amount
SREE RH&E
HK$ HK$'000
BT THET

Authorised ordinary shares:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December
2022 and 31 December 2023

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares:
At 1 January 2022
Issue new shares upon rights issue
(Note)

At 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2023

Authorised convertible preference
shares:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December
2022 and 31 December 2023

Issued and fully paid convertible
preference shares:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December
2022 and 31 December 2023

Note:

EEERRK:
RZZE-ZZf—-A—8:
—E--F+ZA
=t+-BRZBZ=%
+=B=+-H

ERTRESREAR:
RZE-—#—H—H
R R ZTHRD

(FI3E)

RZE-—F+-R
“+—HRZBZ=%
+=A=+-H

FEABRBRELR:

RZE-ZF—H—A8-:
;o
“+—HRZBZ=F%
+=A=+-H

BETREHRMO AR

BER:

R-ZE-_—f—H—-AH-:
—E-—F+-R
“+—HRZBZ=%
+=A=+-8

On 3 March 2022, the Company announced a rights issue
on the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares
held by shareholders of the Company at a subscription
price of HK$0.16 per rights share. The rights issue was
completed and 24,046,488 ordinary shares were issued on
19 May 2022. The net proceeds from the rights issue were
approximately HK$3,060,000. Details of the rights issue
were disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 25

April 2022.

All new shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in

all respects.

0.01 18,260,869,570

182,609

0.01 105,955,243

0.01 24,046,488

0.01 130,001,731

0.1 173,913,043

17,391

0.1 -

GEE

RZZEZ—F=A=H AR EHUZK
AR AR 1901678 TT B SR B (& (A AN A A AR 2R
LA PR AR 3R B AR 10 38 3% — IR AR AR (0 3 77
HAZ - HRE R B —FER A+ BT
1%ﬁm0%4%& IR AR 1D o AR PR 1S
FIBFRE#) /3,060,000/8 T o R FFIB B
RAATBHMA-_SE-_—_FWA_-+HA

R ERRRIEE-

FAEFBREME T EAEME HTRNOZF

B HERMAL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
38.

39.

TR =F+A=t—BIFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. EXEKRERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities AREBEEBAEBAAERAERE
in the Group will be able to continue as a going BE S TR g W B BB (L E R
concern while maximising the return to shareholders R AR E AR R KD R ANEE
through the optimisation of the debt and equity BN E TR M
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of net REEBZENBERERESE (BED
debts, which includes amounts due to non-controlling BUFABTEE32 - 33 %34T 52 My i {~ JE Iz
interests, borrowings and margin loans payables as IR EERTIE B REMRESE
disclosed in Notes 32, 33 and 34 respectively, net ) (BB RESEEIUNEARAT
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable VB ANE(EREZS BB BITIRA L
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share ) 4B A% ©
capital and reserves.
The Directors review the capital structure on a regular EETHRNEEARERE - BMeE 2
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider Hh—HoAEEZEEL KA RE
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each RBESHEANNEE AR -REEE 2
class of capital. Based on the recommendations of HEE RS NEB BB IBERITHIN R
the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital THEER BLREEEMEGHE
structure through the new share issues as well as the KA R R o
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 39, €@MIA
(@) Categories of financial instruments @) S£RIEZER
2023 2022
—E=-= - F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Financial assets cREE
Financial assets at amortised cost (&SRR ANt E T S RAE 35,893 18,832
Financial assets mandatorily R AT EFABRE
measured at FVTPL ZEBMEE
— held-for-trading —B1EEE 473 3,375
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAFESAHMEE YR
ZiEmTH - 2,865
Financial liabilities A=K
Amortised cost #EH R AR 72,077 85,390
Financial guarantee contract B ERE L - 141
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include
equity instruments at FVTOCI, trade and other
receivables, loan and interest receivables,
financial assets at FVTPL, restricted bank
balance, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, borrowings, margin loans payables
and financial guarantee contract. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The Directors manage and monitor these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

() Currency risk
The Group has certain subsidiaries
operate in the PRC and Taiwan, and the
functional currency of these subsidiaries
established in the PRC and Taiwan are
RMB and NTD respectively. The RMB
is not freely convertible into other
currencies. However, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through authorised banks to
conduct foreign exchange business.

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
= =F+ZA=1+—HItFE
39. ﬁr‘:ﬂlﬂ (&)
(b) EEEREEBERBE

$EIME TRMIABRR
N EF AR M 2 W a2
3 T - B WRR SR R L At B K
B REREREME -EAFE
ﬁkﬁé%@@ﬁ%‘ﬁ@%ﬁ
TR HekBeFE BN
m&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ KR e IR
hk%%*mm1ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
BEERRYBEREKN - AR
iﬂIEMﬁ1ﬁ% S #E A BfY
ToHEZE SR T AR @R
&%m%ﬂﬁ(f%H © Rl &
B K H A B AR R ) - 15 & R
R RRBE AR B BOEDR
%R BREN N &

EUZERRETEERER

NEREFEAERMEREE 2

=D

5 & B2

(i) =gy
rEEFETHBRARTR
RERAERE MZE
AR B K2 & K S Y B B

RAEIZNEEE DRI BA
RERHa®E AREDT
EEEmRABREME-
AW R E A S
EEERD) & CHEIE
EERNEERRE)
AEBERBBERELS
SNEETS Z RITHARE
RBREME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

39. & TR (&)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SEEMREEBZREE(E)
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) mEE ()
(i) Currency risk (continued) (i) EMEf (&)
The Group currently does not have - EIRERETTI N  as)
a foreign currency hedging policy. HE-ARAm KNEEEIR
However, management of the Group BeeRINERK e
monitors foreign exchange exposure and REZEREZEHHEK
will consider hedging significant foreign GNP o
currency exposure should the need arise.
The Group have foreign currency bank N EE B A R 1T INE 45 65
balances, loan and interest receivables, U B K R B - ([ B 2
loan to associates and borrowings which NEMER B E R A& K
expose the Group to foreign currency SREBEIINERE -
risk.
The carrying amounts of the Group's REBAINETEHEE
foreign currency denominated monetary HEENEEHEEENR
assets and monetary liabilities at the end ESHAR VEEmMEWN T :
of the reporting period are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
af EE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f —T--F ZB-=ZE —T-—-F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TEx TEX
RMB AR 24,956 23,615 21 7,808
usD e - 2,997 42 3,761
The Group is mainly exposed to RMB REEBFTEEBRARK R
and USD. ETTE AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Bz

=Ft+-A=+—HLFE

39. ﬁﬁ'ﬂlﬂ (%)
(b) SRMEABREEEBERIE (K)

T mEE (E)

(0 Currency risk (continued) (0 B mE by ()
Sensitivity analysis x@?&n #r
The following table details the Group's TRV AEREETH
sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%) change B B8 YN EE 1) [ R 2 E)5%
in HK$ against the respective foreign (ZET = ZF : 5% X
currencies. 5% (2022: 5%) is the EBoiZs% (ZE - —F:
sensitivity rate used when reporting 5% ) & & Jh [A] 55 B (A &F
foreign currency risk internally to key E’j‘}af%fi}\éilii&ﬁ\\ﬁ%
management personnel and represents S B P B M BURRE L
management’'s assessment of the Zﬁ:'ﬂzﬁi'% 1 B ¥ M
reasonably possible change in foreign [EXRA e IS EEEN
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis Mo RE O ESE
includes only outstanding foreign AINEABEZ BRI NE
currency denominated monetary items, BIEE > WHRRE HRE
and adjusts their translation at the end LA SN B BE 3 #)5% (=
of the reporting period for a 5% (2022: T F:5% ) EE LT
5%) change in foreign currency rates. o N IF &8 7 ik 5
A positive number below indicates T H B AN R B - B
a decrease in post-tax loss where g BB A2 o ki
HK$ weaken against the respective IT K, ME e R A
foreign currencies. For a 5% (2022: 5% (ZEZ_F:5%)
5%) strengthening of HK$ against the Bll& ¥ R B 18 E R RS A A
relevant currency, there would be an ééjjﬂajia’j%g‘ il
equal and opposite impact on the post- ERise sRaE-
tax loss and the balances below would
be negative.
RMB impact USD impact
ARBZE Ey 2
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f ZT--% ZB-zZf —T_-
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER TET TET
Decrease (increase) in post-tax B i 14 E5 235
loss (#10) (1,041) (660) 2 32
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
=F+ZRA=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

me

B=
39.

(b)

(i)

(ifi)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-
rate other receivables, loan and interest
receivables,
loan payables, as set out in Notes 25,
26, 33 and 34 respectively. The Group
is also exposed to cash flow interest

borrowings and margin

rate risk in relation to its variable-
rate restricted bank balance and bank
balances as detailed in Notes 28 and 29.
The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

Bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the management
considers that the exposure of cash
flows interest rate risk arising from
variable rate balances is insignificant.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price
risk through its investments in equity
securities measured at FVTPL and
FVTOCI. For equity securities measured
at FVTPL quoted in the Stock Exchange,
the management manages this exposure
by maintaining the investments with
appropriate level. In addition, the
Group also invested in certain unquoted
equity securities of which the investee
is operating in tourism industry sector
for long-term strategic purposes which
has been designated as FVTOCI. The
Group has monitored the price risk and
will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Other price risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been
determined based on the exposure to
equity price risk at the reporting date.
Sensitivity analyses for unquoted equity
securities with fair value measurement
categorised within Level 3 were
disclosed in Note 39(c).

If the price of respective equity
instruments held had been 10%
(2022: 10%) higher/lower, post-
tax loss for the year would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$39,000
(2022: HK$282,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of held for trading
investments.

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, loan and interest receivables,
restricted bank balance, bank balances and
financial guarantee contract. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risk associated
with its financial assets and financial guarantee
contract, except that the credit risks associated
with loans and interest receivables is mitigated
because they are secured over properties/
securities.

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_-A=+—RHIFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

39.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application
of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually or
based on provision matrix. In this regard, the
Directors consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in Hong Kong,
which accounted for 100% (2022: 100%) of
the total trade receivables as at 31 December
2023.

The Group has concentration of credit risk
as 23% (2022: 27%) and 68% (2022: 54%)
of the total trade receivables were due from
the Group's largest customer and five largest
customers respectively, all within distribution
business.

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade
balances collectively based on provision
matrix. Trade receivables are grouped
under a provision matrix based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the historical
observed default rates adjusted by forward
looking estimates. Reversal of impairment,
net of impairment loss, of approximately
HK$7,208,000 (2022: impairment loss, net
of reversal, of approximately HK$12,479,000)
was recognised during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in
this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the
Directors make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of deposits and other
receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information.
Except for amounts that the Directors believe
there are significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on lifetime ECL, the
Directors believe that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of other receivables since
initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. Impairment
loss, net of reversal, of approximately
HK$9,105,000 (2022: HK$5,859,000) was
recognised during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in
this note.

Loan and interest receivables

The Group’s management manages and
analyses the credit risk for each of their
new and existing borrowers before standard
payment terms and conditions are offered. The
management assesses the collateral and credit
quality of each borrower based on borrower’s
background information, financial position, past
experience and relevant factors. The Group also
reviews from time to time the financial position
of the borrowers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

39.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Loan and interest receivables (continued)

The Directors estimate the estimated loss
rates of loan and interest receivables based on
historical credit loss experience of the debtors
as well as the fair value of the collateral
pledged by the borrowers to the loan and
interest receivables. Reversal of impairment,
net of impairment loss, of approximately
HK$4,986,000 (2022: impairment loss, net
of reversal, of approximately HK$467,000)
was recognised during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in
this note.

The Group has concentration of credit risk
as 100% (2022: 63%) of the total loan and
interest receivables as at 31 December 2023
was due from the Group’s largest borrower.

Restricted bank balance and bank balances
Credit risk on restricted bank balance and bank
balances is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The
Group assessed 12m ECL for restricted bank
balance and bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default
and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external rating
agencies. The 12m ECL on restricted bank
balance and bank balances is considered to be
insignificant and therefore no loss allowance
was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Financial guarantee contract

For financial guarantee contract, the maximum
amount that the Group has guaranteed under
the guarantee contract was the principal
amount of RMB13,000,000 plus the accrued
interest.

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors have
performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that the credit risk of the guarantee
has been decreased and accordingly, the loss
allowance for financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group is measured at an amount
equal to 12m ECL. Reversal of impairment
loss of approximately HK$11,326,000 was
recognised during the year ended 31 December
2022.

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors have
performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that the credit risk of the guarantee
has been decreased and accordingly, the loss
allowance for financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group is measured at an amount
equal to 12m ECL. Reversal of impairment loss
of approximately HK$138,000 was recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Details of the financial guarantee contract and
quantitative disclosures are set out in Note 35
and this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BH=E =FFT_A=+—HILFE
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. 2@ T A (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) L2EEBEEBEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment BB R EFIE (&
(continued)
Financial guarantee contract (continued) BIFEJE(RAH (425)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating Description

7R S (8] 19 7 55 15 B B 0 5T AR 5T
fEEETAHHE:

Trade receivables

Other financial assets

R EE TR Bk E7RKTE HittemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
e RpEFNENERREATECMANCE HRAGCERE- NEAEHEEER
BEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
usually settle in full credit-impaired
BERYE BEEARFTRHES ERFETHEN CPHEREERE- NEARHEEEE
BIEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL - not

risk since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources

R ABELRRESMBRRNERBREERR
NI HEREEEZEM

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

BE BREETRECHREENE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor

is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

fifi 3 BREETEBABARENBRERFEE
BE&ERAREFIE
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credit-impaired

PHEREEEE-
EEERE

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

PHREBEEEE-
FERME

Amount is written-off

TROMHE

credit-impaired
rPHEREEEE-
BEERE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
PHRBEEEE-
EERE

Amount is written-off
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=F+_A=t+—HIEFE
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. £ETA(E)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREMREEEEZEREE(H)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures
of the Group's financial assets and financia
guarantee contract, which are subject to ECL

=B R E G (&

TRFANAKEFETEBAGE
EBEFE 2 EREERME
ERANZEERR-

assessment.

External Internal 2023 2022
Notes  creditrating ~ credit rating ~ 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
MEE ABEE nNERZ2EES -g-=f S
fig  F4 R FEER AR BEGE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn THn Tt TEn
Financial assets at amortised costs
REERASIBNEREE
Restricted bank balance 28 Baa3 N/A 12mECL 629 649
RBHETHS Baa3 Tam NEABSEEEER
Bank balances 29 Aa2-Baa3 N/A 12mECL 1,581 1,125
Riks ABa3  TER NEABSEERE
Trade receivables 25 NA (Note 2) Lifetime ECL (Provision matrix) 12,601 19,190
EoRYGE NER (Hz2) PHEBCERE (ARRR)
Deposits and other receivables 25 NA Low risk 12mECL 30,639 2,355
& REMENE ER EER NEARSHESEE
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 2,214 247
RE PHEDBCERE (BRERE)
Loss Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 4315 37,28 20,132 24,734
B& PHEDBCERE (RRRE)
Loan and interest receivables 2% NA Loss Lifetime ECL - credit-mpaired 2,219 8515
EHERRAE NER B& PEEBCEER-ESHE
Other item
HftER
Financial quarantee contracts (Note 1) 3B NA Low risk 12m ECL - 2471
BBEREH (i) NER R NERRBEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

39.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Notes:

1

2)

For financial guarantee contract, the gross
carrying amount represents the maximum
amount the Group has guaranteed under the
guarantee contract.

For trade receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL on
these items on a collective basis by using a
provision matrix, grouped based on past due
status.

As part of the Group’s credit risk
management, the Group uses debtors’ aging
to assess the impairment for its customers in
relation to its businesses of one-stop value
chain services, trading of consumables and
agricultural products, trading of grocery food
products and provision of financial services
operation. Their customers consist of a large
number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms.
The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on
provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
39. &®TIA(HE)
(b) =2HEREEEEREX (&)
=B /m B R B E L (&

B : (4&)

2) (continued) 2) (&)
Gross carrying amount BRI 43
2023 2022
—E-=F% —EoCE
Estimated Trade Estimated Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
&t EHEK fhat Z 5N
FEx A BEX M
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET
Distribution business DHER
Current to 30 days past due ENERZ# 30 9.45% 12,033 10.13% 5,895
31 t0 90 days past due #AHE31H £90R 35.57% - 35.02% 866
90 days to 1 year past due BHAE—F 58.09% 568 61.57% 43
Over 1 year BE—F 100% - 100.00% 12,386
12,601 19,190

The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates
(2022: historical observed default rates)
over the expected life with forward looking
adjustment that is available without undue
cost or effort and empirical study on loss
given default rate.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group
provided approximately HK$ 1,467,000 (2022:
HK$13,312,000) impairment allowance for
trade receivables based on the provision
matrix.

HEtBEBRNE ERE
HERANBEERENR
(ZEZ—F BEEREY
K)BE WIEHBELEER
Z kAN S8 1 BN E] 1S 0 A
AR RENBAERNE

B

RZEZ=F+ZA=+—
B N5 BB E R EE -
REHERZKEBEFFEY
1,467,000 0 (T = =
£ 113,312,000 7T ) 89 36 (&
A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_Z_=—F+_A=+—HLFE
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. @I A (&)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) £HREMETEEEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EEREEBRBETFE (&
(continued)
The following table shows the reconciliation TxXB LU E HEWTIEEDR
of loss allowance that has been recognised for 7 58 B B
trade receivables:
Lifetime ECL (not Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired)  (credit-impaired) Total
2HENEEFE 2HENGEEER
(BEEHE) (FEHE) @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
As at 1 January 2022 RZBE-—%—fF—H 1,474 - 1,474
Changes due to financial instruments R-ZE--#—A-H
recognised as at 1 January 2022: EReBIAMLRE
- Deconsolidation of subsidiaries - A AERB LA (641) - (641)
— Transfer to lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) -ERRRHRECEER
(EERE) (568) 568 -
- Impairment losses reversed -RORESE (265) - (265)
~ Impairment losses recognised -ERRESRE - 11,817 11,817
New financial assets originated RENFEREE 927 - 927
As at 31 December 2022 R-Z--F+-A=1+-AR 927 12,385 13312
Changes due to financial instruments RZE-=#-A—H
recognised as at 1 January 2023; BASBIAMMREE:
- Disposal of subsidiaries —HEHB A - (4,637) (4,637)
~ Impairment losses reversed -BEREESR (927) (7,748) (8,675)
New financial assets originated RENTEBEE 1467 - 1,467
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=#+-A=t-H 1467 - 1467
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. ©RT A (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREREEEEREE(E)

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade
receivables are mainly due to:

EEmER B ETE (E

EHREKSIEBRRERD
e

2023
—EC-=F
(Decrease) increase Decrease in lifetime
in lifetime ECL (not ECL (credit-
credit-impaired) impaired)
2HEHEE 2HEBEE
B Ori2) 8 m EER D
(REERE) (FEWHHE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT

Settlement in full of trade debtors with &4 E BRE (B 514,553,000/ 7T

a gross carrying amount of fE SRR

HK$14,553,000 (927) (7,748)
New trade receivables with gross carrying BRI 421E 412,601,000 T

amount of HK$12,601,000 (38 7 1,467 -
Trade debtors with gross carrying & BB 1 R BUR R A AR E

amount of HK$4,637,000 derecognised ~ #21&44,637,000/% T & 5 BE3X

due to disposal of subsidiaries - (4,637)

2022
—E-F

(Decrease) increase
in lifetime ECL (not Increase in lifetime
credit-impaired)  ECL (credit-impaired)

SHEHEE 2HEREE
B8 Ofd) BiEEm
(EEERE) (EERE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Settlement in full of trade debtors with ~ E& % & RME B {E 510,852,000/ 1T
a gross carrying amount of HEHER
HK$10,852,000 (265) -
New trade receivables with gross R 48 56,804,000/ LK)
carrying amount of HK$6,804,000 8 5 EWGRA 927 S
Trade debtors with a gross carrying BRE 48 {E 512,386,000/ LK)
amount of HK$12,386,000 BHEHEK
defaulted - 11,817
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

39. & TR (&)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) £HREMETEEEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EEREEBRBETFE (&
(continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of TEMTRADHES R EME
loss allowances that has been recognised for W =k TE e S 1 R T T BR
deposits and other receivables:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit-  ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HEH 2HEH
12EAEH FEBE FEFR
FEFE (BEEHE) (EEHE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TR TiEx TiEx
As at 1 January 2022 RZE-—F—F—H - 2,766 6,059 8,825
Changes due to financial instruments RN - —F—F—HBER
recognised as at 1 January 2022: SRMTAMPRE
~ Reclassify from loans to associates ~ — B A& A FIfEH B3
ENHE - 994 - 994
— Transfer to lifetime ECL -HREZZHESEERE
(credit-impaired) (EERE) - (3,760) 3,760 -
~ Impairment losses reversed -BERESE - - (2,930) (2,930)
— Impairment losses recognised ~BRREBE - 706 8,020 8,726
New financial assets originated RENTEREE 11 52 - 63
Exchange adjustments ERARE - (25) (735) (760)
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE=-=—F+=-A=+-H 11 733 14,174 14,918
Changes due to financial instruments WZFZ=F— A —BH#R
recognised as at 1 January 2023: SRMIAMLRE
— Transfer to lifetime ECL -BRZZHEHEERE
(not credit-impaired) (BEERE) (1) 11 > :
— Impairment losses reversed — B EREEE - (43) (3.974) (4,017)
— Impairment losses recognised —-HRBEEE - 30 3,341 3,371
~ Written-off upon assignment — R BRI
of debts - - (8,824) (8,824)
New financial assets originated RENTEREE 9,708 43 = 9,751
Exchange adjustments gk (63) (20) (402) (485)
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%+ZA=1+-H 9,645 754 4,315 14,714
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) £RTH (&)

39.

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) L£HREAMETEEEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EEREEBR BB (&
(continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for deposits and ¥ e N H b fE Uk 3k 08 B 18 B
other receivables are mainly due to: BEIFBIIRA:
2023
—E-=F
(Decrease)
increase (Decrease)
in lifetime increase
Increase in  ECL (not credit- in lifetime ECL
12m ECL impaired) (credit-impaired)
SHRABEER ZHAENGEE
12EAEE BB OAD)EMm BE ORD) BN
EEEREM (BEERE) (FERE)
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THERT THET TERT
Settlement of deposits and EERS REMERE
other receivables - (43) (3,974)
Written-off upon assignment of debts B R R - - (8,824)
New deposit and other receivables BRE4 (5 528,240,0007%8 7T
with gross carrying amount of H3T RS RE A R MUROR
HK$28,240,000 9,708 43 -
Change in parameters 288 - 30 3,341
2022
—T-F
Increase in (Decrease) increase
lifetime ECL (not in lifetime ECL
credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)
2HEHREE 2HEREE
BRI B8 O
(BEEEHAE) (EERE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTAET
Settlement of deposits and other receivables 45 B 1% 4 & E it e Ui 008 - (2,930)
Reclassify from loans to associates BREEARERERER
GE 994 -
New deposit and other receivables with SR 421E 51,788,000/ 7L &)
gross carrying amount of HK$1,788,000 iR kKA 52 =
Change in parameters 2848 706 8,020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

= t=A=T—BILFE

HEr-Z2—=

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

39. & TR (&)

Financial risk management objectives and (b) SEEMREEBZREE(E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERERBERBEFFE (&
(continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TEXFTRAGTERERLT A
allowances that has been recognised for loan T 270 1 T 18 B 4 Y1 BE
and interest receivables:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)  (credit-impaired) Total
2HANEEFE 20RHBGERE
(BEERE) (EE&RE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR FTET
As at 1 January 2022 R-E-_—f—-A—H 557 6,163 6,720
Changes due to financial R-E-—F—-F—HER
instruments recognised as at ERMIAMEREZS:
1 January 2022:
~ Transfer to lifetime ECL ~ERE2HEHEE
(credit-impaired) BE(EERE) (557) 557 -
— Impairment losses reversed —BEREER - (585) (585)
— Impairment losses recognised - RRREERE - 1,052 1,052
As at 31 December 2022 i
+-A=+—-H - 7,187 7,187
Changes due to financial RZZEZ=F-A—AHER
instruments recognised as at SRMIAMERES:
1 January 2023:
— Impairment losses reversed —REREER - (5,811) (5,811)
— Impairment losses recognised —HRREEE - 843 843
As at 31 December 2023 R-BZ-=%
+=A=+-8 - 2,219 2,219
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39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-ZT-=F+-A=+—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

39.

TR T A (&)

(b) ==REREEBERBE (&)

=B R R ETFE (F)

Changes in the loss allowance for loan and FEWEREA B EIEREZT
interest receivables are mainly due to: FTEEHR:

2023 2022

—EC-=F “E-fF

(Decrease) increase (Decrease) increase

in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)

EHRHBEE 2HEREE

&8 (OF4) & 18 CRd) 2 m

(FEHE) (EERE)

HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FET

Settlement of loan and interest receivables & & W EF L FI & (5.811) (585)

Change in parameters 288 843 1,052
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE =F+ZRA=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. 2@ T A (&)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) L2EEBEEBEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERERBERBEFFE (&
(continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss T X RARABE S ARIEL
allowances that has been recognised for loans BERER Y EEBEYE:
to associates:
Lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired)
2HEHREERE
(BEERE)
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 January 2022 RZE-_—F—-H—AH 994
Changes due to financial instruments R-ZZZ_F—HA—H®ER
recognised as at 1 January 2022: SR T AW LR :
— Reclassify to deposits and other receivables —ENoEERe R
H A & Y R IE (994)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZEZZF+ZA=+—8HK
31 December 2023 —EB-=f+=A=+-—H -
2022
Decrease in

lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired)
S HIFEEIEE
E 18R
(EEERE)
HK$'000

FHET

Reclassify to other receivable
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(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. 2@ T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and (b) <EEMEEEEREE(E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERRBERBEFFE (&)
(continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of TE®ITRBERTBEERED
loss allowances that has been recognised for T2 N IS 18 B 15 Y 1 BE -
financial guarantee contract:
Lifetime
ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) Total
2HES
128 A FEHE EEESE
EBE (FERE) mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT FHT
As at 1 January 2022 R-—E-_—_#—HF—H - 12,102 12,102
Changes due to financial RZE-—#F—H—H
instruments recognised RemIAMLR
as at 1 January 2022: 23
— Impairment losses reversed — B RIRESRE - (11,326) (11,326)
Transfer to 12m ECL BEZ2EAESREE
B 141 (141) -
Exchange adjustments P& 33 % - (635) (635)
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-—%+=-A8
=+—H 141 - 141
Changes due to finandial RZE-_=F—H—H
instruments recognised BRERIAMmLR
as at 1 January 2023: 23
— Impairment losses reversed —BEREEE (138) - (138)
Exchange adjustments BE 5 5B (3) - (3)
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%+=-A
=+—-H - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023

me

S
39.

=Ft-A=1+—HULHFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

39.

TR T A (&)

TRAREERRERIEK (&)

Credit risk and impairment assessment EEE R EFIE (&
(continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for financial B ER A MM BB REEE
guarantee contract are mainly due to: TEEHRP:
2023 2022
—_E_= —_E-—
Decrease
in lifetime
Decrease in ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired)
1288 ZHEHEE
BHEE BRI
& B (E8RE)
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET THETT
Change in parameters 285 (138) (11,326)
Liquidity risk REELEE

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
Directors to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the
Group had continuously incurring operating
losses. The liquidity of the Group primarily
depends on the future funding being available
and the ability of the Group to meet its
financial obligations as they fall due. Details of
the Group's undrawn credit facilities which are
set out in Note 33.

The following table details the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
margin loans payables with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest
time band regardless of the probability of
the financial institutions choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

39. & TR (&)

Financial risk management objectives and (b) LREMETEEERBE (&)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) TREBEZRERE (&
The table includes both interest and principal ERENERRESERELRS
cash flows. 28 o
More than  More than
Weighted Within oneyear two years Total
average  1yearoron butlessthan butless than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand  twoyears  fiveyears  cash flows amounts
i -ERg SR-% SHmE MR
THHE  REXEE EORWE  BONEE  RENER BEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR ThR TR ThER TER
2023 it 3
Trade and other payables FEARFRAMERTE - 35330 - - 35330 35,330
Amounts due to non-controllng interests TR B R F0E - 2,745 - - 2,745 2,745
Borrowings LE 5% 32,230 - - 32,230 31,937
Margin loans payables ERRELER 10% 2,065 - - 2,065 2,065
72,310 - - 72,370 12017
2022 ok
Trade and other payables EREAREMERNFE - 40,0% - - 40,0% 40,0%
Amounts due to non-contralling interests  [ET 3R RERTUB - 2,745 - - 2,745 2,745
Borrowings GE 7% 37,801 - - 37,801 37,781
Margin loans payables EHRESER 10% 4768 - - 4768 4768
Financial quarantee contracts BIBERAH - 247 - - 247 141
87,881 - - 87,881 85,531
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

39.

(b)

(c)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial
guarantee contract are the maximum amounts
the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount
if that amount is claimed by the counterparty
to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the
end of the reporting period, the management
of the Group considers that it is more likely
than not that no amount will be payable under
the arrangement. However, this estimate is
subject to change depending on the probability
of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee which is a function of the likelihood
that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit
losses.

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes. The Board is responsible to determine
the appropriate valuation technique and inputs
for fair value measurement.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is
available. For instruments with significant
unobservable inputs under Level 3, the Group
engages third party qualified valuers to perform
the valuation. The Board works closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model.
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39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. £ETA(E)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) SR TEMAFLEE (8)
instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial (i) FEFZREMEEL R
assets that are measured at fair FEHEZEHEENF
value on a recurring basis &

Some of the Group’s financial assets REENSDSHEETY
are measured at fair value at the end MNEMEHEREER AT
of each reporting period. The following Hit2 - TRIBH/ WD MEE
table gives information about how the TEBZESHEEZ N
fair values of these financial assets are EE(ERIEMRER 2
determined (in particular, the valuation BRI R ASE) 2 &
technical(s) and inputs used). o
Fair value hierarchy nFEER
Level 1 Level 3 Total
-8 E=f @t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE-=f -T--F ZBIZHE —F--f ZBEIZf —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TBT THR TBT THR TBT
Financial assets ~ £REE
Financial assets at ~ HATFEFA
FVTPL BHNER
&E 473 3,375 - - 473 3,375
Fquity instruments  ZAFERFA
at FvT0C A2 ERE
MEEIA - - - 2,865 - 2,865
473 3,375 - 2,865 473 6,240
Valuation technique(s) ~ Significant
Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December 2023 Fair value hierarchy ~ and key inputs unobservable inputs
R=%zzf HEANREREN  EATUREEA
SREE TZAZ+-RZAYE AVERR i 48
Held for trading non-derivative financial assets ~ HK$473,000 (2022: HK$3,375,000)  Level 1 Quoted closing prices NA
in an active market
REQAHFITEEREAR 4730007 g EEMENATRE  TERA
(ZBFZZF:337500047)
Private equity investments at FVTOCI HKSNIl (2022: HK$2,865,000) Level 3 Market approach — Price to-book value
multiple (Note)
EOTEAAEM2ANE LERARE  BAm(ZE2F:286500087m) £=4 M -mEEEY (M)

- Discount of lack of
marketability (Note)

S FAL kL
i (Mat)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

39.

(9]

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial

assets that are measured at

fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Note:

An increase in price-to-book value
multiple used in isolation would
result in an increase in fair value
measurement of the unlisted
equity investments at FVTOCI, and
vice versa. For the year ended 31
December 2022, a 10% increase/
decrease in price-to-book value
multiple and holding all other
variables constant would increase/
decrease the carrying amount of
the private equity investments at
FVTOCI by HK$287,000/HK$287,000
respectively.

An increase in discount for lack
of marketability used in isolation
would result in a decrease in fair
value measurement of the private
equity investments at FVTOCI, and
vice versa. For the year ended 31
December 2022, a 1% increase/
decrease in discount for lack of
marketability and holding all other
variables constant would decrease/
increase the carrying amount of
the private equity investments at
FVTOCI by HK$39,000/HK$39,000
respectively.

There were no transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

() Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)
(i)  Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
= =F+ZA=1+—HItFE

39. ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ(%ﬁ)
(0 ERMIBNAFETE(H)

(i) FB=RAFETEZHK

measurements

Assets — Private

equity securities

at FVTOCI

EE-RAVE

SFAHMET

Wz hE

[N

HK$'000

FAETT

At 1 January 2022 R-—E-——F—HF—0 7,261
Fair value changes NEEEE) (3,935)
Exchange adjustment B 57, 5 & (461)
At 31 December 2022 fi’\\\_ S _F+=-A=+—H 2,865
Fair value changes NEEEE) (2,802)
Exchange adjustment ME 5, B (63)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBE-_=F+="H=+—H -

Included in other comprehensive
income is an amount of approximately
HK$2,802,000 (2022: HK$3,935,000)
fair value loss relating to the private
equity securities classified as equity
instruments at FVTOCI held at the end
of the current reporting period and is
reported as changes of “investment

revaluation reserve”.

The Directors consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate
their values.

RARERRFIENIER
BAFEFAEMETEUK
HHRAT A2 ALERA
BHEEBE 2 ATFEEELY
2,802,000 L (ZE ==
£ 13,935,000 7T) 5t A
Hb 2w j’r%ih’ﬁ%
[REEMFHE] &

EER/ REAWBRERTIR
BEAAIENEMEREE
eBaEnkaEREE®E
ek

China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7
Annual Report 2023 =% = = F F 3}

253



254

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
40.

TR =F+A=t—BIFE

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on
6 May 2011 (the “Scheme 2011"). Under the Scheme
2011, the Company may grant share options to the
Directors or any person who is an employee of the
Group, any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interests and to reward other selected participants for
their contributions to the Group.

The purpose of the Scheme 2011 is to enable the
Company to grant options to selected employees to
subscribe for shares of the Company as incentives
or rewards for their contributions to the Group. The
Board may, at its discretion, invite any full-time or
part-time employees of the Company or any member
of the Group, including any executive and non-
executive directors of the Company, advisors and
consultants of the Company or any subsidiary of the
Company to take up options to subscribe for shares
of the Company. The total number of shares of the
Company available for issue under the Scheme 2011
was initially 10% of the issued share capital as at the
date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares of the Company available
for issue under the Scheme 2011 (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. An option
may be exercised at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Board to each
participant. Upon acceptance of the option, the
employee should pay HK$1.00 to the Company by
way of consideration for the grant. The subscription
price for the shares of the Company will be a price to
be determined by the Board and will be the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares on the GEM as
stated on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of granting of the options; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares on the GEM as stated on
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of
granting of the options; and (iii) the nominal value of
a share.
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40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2020,
55,800,000 share options had been granted under the
Scheme 2011. No share options were granted by the
Company during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022.

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022

RETBHERME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE =F+ZA=1+—HItFE
40. ﬂﬁﬂ“% (,%s)

HE_ZT_TF+_A=+—HL*F
F’EF_T——Eﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁk%
55,800,000 B E T _=F+_H
=t—BRZT-__F+t-R=+—
B 1EFE - ARQF] &S A AR

e

BN EERFRNT

BE_ZT_=fK-FT-_%+ZA

=t+—HLEE

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price (Note)

R A5 BRAE TEHE TRER (KEE)

HK$

BT

Scheme 2011 7/12/2020 - 711212020 - 6/12/2025 0.5506
“T—%5E —T-EFET-RtER - “ToTHET_ALRZE
“T-RF+-ANRH

The following table discloses the movement of the TEFEEELENEE T~ —

Company’s share options held by a Director and
consultants during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 31 December 2023:

tZA=t-BR-F-=%+-5
=T HLEFEFAENAQRBRE
Z =4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

40. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 40. [ERRRE (4E)
Outstanding at
31 December
Adjustment due 2022 and
Outstanding at ~ Exercised during ~ to rights issue 31 December
Grantees Option grant date 1 January 2022 the year (Note) 2023
RZB_ZF
+-A=1+-H
RZT-Z MRt R-To=F
—A—-8 Mm% +-A=1+-H
EBA BRERLEH MARITHE RERTTE (FzE) RATTHE
‘000 '000 ‘000 ‘000
Tin Tin Tin Tin
Director 7 December 2020 930 - 6 936
B ZE-TF+ZAtH
Consultants 7 December 2020 4,650 - 28 4,678
| i Sk 325 s Rl =
Total 5,580 - 34 5614
@it
Exercisable at the end of the year 5,614
RERAITHR
Weighted average exercise price 0.5540 NATE NATE 0.5506
(HK$ per share)
METFHTRE BTk
Note: Following the capital reorganisation on 22 October i RZFE-_—F+tA-+-HER

2021, the exercise price of the outstanding
share options was adjusted from HK$0.0554 to
HK$0.5540. The number of outstanding share
options were also adjusted from 55,800,000 share
options to 5,580,000 share options as a result of the
capital reorganisation.

Following the rights issue on 19 May 2022, the
exercise price of the outstanding share options
was adjusted from HK$0.5540 to HK$0.5506. The
numbers of outstanding share options were also
adjusted from 5,580,000 share options to 5,614,428
share options as a result of the rights issue.
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RZE_—FRAT+ABHKE
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T B ZE0.550658 7T o ALY
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40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Share options granted on 7 December 2020

On 7 December 2020, 55,800,000 share options
were granted. The estimated fair value of the
options granted on this grant date is approximately
HK$1,800,000. The fair value was calculated using the
Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as

follows:

Weighted average share price nwEFHRRE
Exercise price TEE
Expected volatility TE HA R 08
Expected life 8 HA 4F B

Risk-free rate I [ B M) R
Expected dividend yield TE HA R B s 2
Expected volatility was determined by using the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over
the previous 5 years. The expected life used in the
model has been adjusted, based on management’s
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of
approximately HK$1,800,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020 in relations to share options
granted by the Company.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair value of the share options
are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value
of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.

40.

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=E =Ft+-A=+—HLFE
ﬁﬂ“% (,%E)
R-ZB-FEFT-ALHRHENBRE

RZZEZTF+=H+H" 55800000
MEREERL NREHBRENE
wg*zmm N F{E#4) 741,800,000/ 7T ©

AFEDZ-_BARATE -ZERXH
AR

HK$0.05547% T
HK$0.0554/% 7T
97.4%

5 years#F

0.306%
NilZ

R E Y RA AL A REN BT
4 2 JE S RIE T AR - SRR 2
R RSB B 2 B
BRA I TR IR AR EL
Y-

AEBFARAERL A EREERE
E-E-FEFF+_A=Z+—BILFE
79 BA S% 4258 491,800,000/% JT °

“THEABRADERBERABREZ
RPE-AEBREAFEMANEE
KRBT EREF O REMGT - BRE
MEEERETIBERRNTAZE
A FrA R e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B=
a1.

=F+ZRA=+—HIFE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% of relevant payroll costs capped at HK$1,500
(2022: HK$1,500) per month to MPF, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities
in the PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in this
country participate in respective government
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) whereby
the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the
Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the
eligible employees. Contribution made to the Schemes
is calculated based on the certain percentages of
the applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the
requirements in the PRC. The relevant authorities
of the PRC are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the Schemes
is to pay the ongoing required contribution under the
Schemes.

The total expense recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of approximately HK$330,000 (2022:
HK$755,000) represents contribution paid and
payable to these schemes by the Group in respect
of the current financial year. As at 31 December
2023, contributions of approximately HK$17,000
(2022: HK$175,000) due in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2023 had not been paid over to
retirement benefits schemes. The amounts were paid
subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022,
the Group had no forfeited contribution available
to reduce its contributions to the retirement benefit
schemes in future years.
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42.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 9 September 2022, Jin Hai Development (HK)
Company Limited (the “Petitioner”) presented a
winding-up petition against Seal Eco, an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in the
Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong (the “High Court”) under Companies (Winding-
Up) Proceedings No. 323 of 2022 pursuant to the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the "Petition”).

A winding-up order was made by the High Court
against Seal Eco at the hearing of the Petition on
16 November 2022. The Official Receiver of Hong
Kong and the joint and several provisional liquidators
were appointed pursuant to the Companies (Winding
Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter
32 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Consequently, the
Group had deconsolidated the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries as the Directors considered that the
Group's control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
had been lost on 16 November 2022 (the
"Deconsolidation Date”).

Seal Eco is principally engaged in recycle of used
plastic products under distribution business segment.

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was
lost:

42.

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
= =F+ZA=1+—HItFE

HﬂiéﬁA)\E-EMTE’Aﬂ
RZZFEZZFNANLB 8B E(FH
BIBRAR (2BFANRESRBE
BlE32E R j (7B BB o 2 T8 {5 ) 15151
BEAR(BBR)BF T _F%323
FHEARARARIEZEFEZEMNBRRE
NEEMBEESFER ([RFER])
NEEERRERER

BREH([ZEHE]) -

BEEER-_Z-__F+—HA+<H
MZEFRATMREHTLERKBBR
R BAABEEREERALKLR KA
AR ERANDBER B EMENRE
NA) BB RFEBEBGEO KGRI EERE-
it - BRESRALAEEZIR-Z
ZZF+— A+ B (TBUBEE AR
HHXEHEUBSRE ARWE R

B 428 i 4 - $E@Eﬂﬁ%ékﬁﬂ%
mEANRHNBA

BREETERESHEEBIMAT
FREBREmRDU-

REEFRNEERBEST:

HK$'000

FHET

Plant and equipment B B 7% 323
Trade and other receivables JFE 5T B R K LA JE s R IE 3,272
Amount due from the Group RN £ B 508 2,173
Cash and cash equivalent ReERREEFE 219
Trade and other payables & A1 BR R % B Ath B AP R IE (12,798)
Loan from a shareholder xR E =% (750)
Amount due to the Group FERT A ERIA (181)
Amount due to non-controlling interests JE A< FE %8 AR AR R 42 %1 5K IE (900)
Net liabilities BEFHE (8,642)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e KRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—BHILtFE

42, DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Gain on deconsolidation of Deconsolidated

HUHGRE ATRKME AR (F)
HUH&R & ARBUBAR & ABRHKE 27

Subsidiaries: By Uk 25
HK$'000
FHET
Net liabilities deconsolidated BUBGR A AN B EFE (8,642)
Amount due to the Group FET A& B K18 181
Non-controlling interest FEVERR IR R AE 2 2,197
Release of exchange reserve upon BUBARE AR AR BRIE 3 &
deconsolidation 2,282
Gain on deconsolidation BUBSR & AR &= (3,982)

Net cash outflows arising on deconsolidation:

BUHSR A ARFTEENIR SR FER

HK$'000
FAET
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREFE 219
43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES HEME QT
(a) For the year ended 31 December 2023 (a) BE=ZFE==f%+=HA=1+-—
HIEFE
(i) China Agricultural Finance Group (i) HEEESRERERA
Limited (“AGR”) and its subsidiaries ([ HEEEEE])R
(collectively referred as the “AGR BB AT (#FBE T
Group”) EEEEMERE])

On 26 July 2023, the Group entered
into a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party, to
dispose the entire share capital of the
AGR to an independent third party,
at a consideration of HK$20,000. The
disposal was completed on 26 July
2023.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEI B EEEFR A7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) For the year ended 31 December 2023
(continued)

(i)

China Agricultural Finance Group
Limited (“AGR”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred as the “AGR
Group”) (continued)

AGR is the sole legal and beneficial
owner of the entire issued shares capital
of Powerline Gain Limited, a company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, Award Fortune Limited,
a company incorporated in British Virgin
Islands with limited liability, China AF
Capital Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability, and
China AF Investment Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability. China AF Investment Limited
is the sole legal and beneficial owner
of the entire issued shares capital of
Philippines Investment Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in British Virgin
Islands with limited liability. Philippines
Investment Holdings Limited is the legal
and beneficial owner of 51% of issued
shares capital of China-Philippines
Human Resources Services Ltd, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liabilities.

AMBRERMWE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-—G+-A=+—BILtEE
HEKE AT (&)
(@) #BE-TS=-=€F+=-g=+-

HitFE ()
() HFEEEZHZEEERAL
A([rEEEL/H )R

EWBERaE (BB

BEEEHEE]) (&

§ Bl R {5 & Bl R Powerline
Gain Limited (— X R &
JB Bz & B B 5T il A 2 /9
EREMFERAF)  Award
Fortune Limited ( —ZK A X
BEREAZESTMAINE
REERA) FBEEE
BAERAB (—RKRE
BEMKIHEREER
AkFHEEREAR
RAE (KR BB TMK
YHEBEREBEERAR)EH
EBEITRANME —ETE K
EnEAA-FEEER
& B BR 2 & APhilippines
Investment Holdings
Limited (— 210 5 8 iz &
HEdMKINERE
ERF)ZFEEITHRA
WHE—ZEZERERHESR
A ° Philippines Investment
Holdings Limited 4 JE A
Xif/lb)%&ﬂ‘%ﬁ@@ﬁj <_
KRB BEMAZEE R
BEERA)S1%E TR
KEVEEREHEB A

HK$'000
TAT

Consideration received:

BUARAE
2R & 20

Cash received
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLFE

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. LEMELT (&)
(a) For the year ended 31 December 2023 (@ BE=-E=-—=%+=-A=1+-

(continued) HILEE (8)

(i)  China Agricultural Finance Group (i) FEEEEMERERA
Limited (“AGR”) and its subsidiaries F([rEEEZ/H )R
(collectively referred as the “AGR BB LT (%#EEHF
Group”) (continued) EEELHER/) (&)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over KREERFENEENERE
which control was lost: ST

HK$'000

FHET

Trade and other payables JE At B R B EL A FE A SR IE (554)

Income tax payable FEA FR 1S %R (30)

Net liabilities BEFHE (584)

Gain on disposal of the AGR Group: HETRHEEZSRERN

Wz -

HK$'000

FHET

Consideration received 2R E 20

Net liabilities disposed of HEABEFRE 584

Non-controlling interest FEVERR IR SR A 2 2

Gain on disposal & W= 606
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEENRSRAFE:

Cash consideration received EREERE 20
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) For the year ended 31 December 2023

(continued)

(i)

Huge Famous Corporation Limited

(“Huge Famous”)

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—Z—

—=HF+ZA=1+—BLEE

13, HEWEAT (H)
(@) #BE-TS=-=€F+=-g=+-
HIEFE (&)

(ii)

On 31 August 2023, the Group
disposed the entire share capital of Huge
Famous to an independent third party,
at a consideration of HK$10,000. The
disposal was completed on 31 August

HHEERL A ([#HE])

R-_ZE-_=FNA=+—
B - A&EER—BELE
“HHEE®HBEN 2R
AR {EA10,000% T °
HEFHER-_Z-=F

2023. NA=Z+—HEK-
HK$'000
FHEIT
Consideration transferred: EEERE:
Other receivables H {th i U 5008 10
Analysis of assets and liabilities over KREEFENEENEE

which control was lost:

DT

HK$'000

FHET

Trade and other payables JE A<F B R K2 LAt JE £~ R 1B (440)

Net liabilities BEFHE (440)
Gain on disposal of Huge Famous: HES RIS

HK$'000

FHET

Consideration receivable FEW (B 10

Net liabilities disposed of HEBEFRE 440

Gain on disposal =G 450

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

Cash consideration received

HEMELERRSRAFR

EYHRERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
=F+ZRA=+—HIFE

me

S
43.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HEKEBAT (&)
(@) For the year ended 31 December 2023 (a) BE=ZE-_=fF+=ZHA=+-—
(continued) HIEFE (&)
(iij)  King Health International Holdings Giii) BEEEZERERA
Limited (“King Health”) ([#Z])
On 31 August 2023, the Group disposed RZFEZ=FN\A=+—

B AEER—RBILEA
—THERAENERK
ZNE 1%%;2%1;‘%% &=

the entire share capital of King Health
to an independent third party, at a
consideration of HK$1. The disposal was

completed on 31 August 2023. HERZZEZ=F/\H
=+t—HZ=mK-
HK$'000
FET
Consideration transferred: BERAE:
Other receivables H {th i Uk 508 —*

%j&? HENEENBE

Analysis of assets and liabilities over

which control was lost: R
HK$'000
FHET
Trade and other receivables JFE LT B R B L At R LK RR TR 16
Cash and cash equivalents ReLREF 6
Trade and other payables JFE A<F B R K% L i B < 3R (4,261)
Net liabilities BEFH (4,239)
* Amount less than HK$1,000 * 2 RIEH1,000/8 7T
Gain on disposal of King Health: R A O s
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration receivable FEW KB y
Net liabilities disposed of HEBEFE 4,239
Gain on disposal & W= 4,239
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: & FTE A IR &7 H F 58 -
Cash consideration received BERRERE =
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BReRREFE (6)

(6)
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43.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HEMEBLAT (&)
(@) For the year ended 31 December 2023 (@) BE=-ZE=-=F+=BA=+-—
(continued) HILEE (8)
(iv)  King Noble Holdings Limited (“King (iv)  King Noble Holdings
Noble”) Limited ([King Noble /)
On 20 December 2023, the Group N-_E—_=F+_-_H -+
disposed the entire share capital of King B NX&EBER—ZBLE
Noble to an independent third party, at =7 i &King Noblef) &
a consideration of HK$1. The disposal A A KRB AIBIT -
was completed on 20 December 2023. HEZEFONR -_E-=4&
+TZAZ+HEK-
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration transferred: EEERE:
Other receivables H A fE Y RIE —*

Analysis of assets and liabilities over
which control was lost:

REEFENEERAR
DT

HK$'000

FAETT

Trade and other payables JiE AF BR FR B E Ath B A F0E (2,063)
Net liabilities BEFEE (2,063)

Gain on disposal of King Noble:

& King NobleHy I 25 :

HK$'000

FETT

Consideration receivable U (B —*
Net liabilities disposed of HEBEFHE 2,063
Gain on disposal k= 2,063

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received

EYHRERE

@ Amount less than HK$1,000

HEMMELERNRSRAFRR

i’ & K F,0005% 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

43.

(b)

(@)

Luxury Regal Limited (“Luxury
Regal”) and its subsidiary
(collectively referred as the “Luxury
Regal Group”)

On 28 September 2022, the Group
entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third
party (“Purchaser 1), pursuant to
which the Group disposed of 34% of
the issued capital of Luxury Regal, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
at a consideration of HK$136,000 to
Purchaser 1. The disposal was completed
on 28 September 2022.

On 15 October 2022, the Group
entered into another sale and purchase
agreement with another independent
third party (“Purchaser 2"), pursuant to
which the Group disposed of another
33% of the issued shares capital of
Luxury Regal at a consideration of
HK$132,000 to Purchaser 2. The
disposal was completed on 15 October
2022.

On 31 October 2022, the Group
entered into another sale and purchase
agreement with another independent
third party (“Purchaser 3"), pursuant
to which the Group disposed of the
remaining 33% of the issued shares
capital of Luxury Regal at a consideration
of HK$132,000 to Purchaser 3. The
disposal was completed on 31 October
2022.
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(b)

8

BETEREF+ZHA=1+—

BLEFE

(i)

Luxury Regal Limited
([Luxury Regal /) R &t
B 45 (#%#% [Luxury
Regal% & /)
RZZEZZFHA-+N
H AEEE-ZHIE
=FUTEADEINL—1H
BEEH&S Bt A5H
A136,0005% 7T &) (X (B A
B H 11 E34%8 Luxury
Regal (A&EEBE2EMMEB A
AEETRA-HE
FHER-ZE-_FNA
—+tNABEKe

RZEZZF+A+H
H ASEERS 2B
E=AH([ERH2])EILS
—MEBEEHE B A
% B LA132,0007%8 7T B9 R
BREF2HE BH33%
B Luxury Regal®) 2 21T
BA-HEFEHEER-Z
—ZF+A+ARHEZTK

RZFEZZF+HA=+—
H- AEEES -ZE T
F=A([EF3ETLS
—mEEWmHE B K
£ E LA132,000/8 T 9K
B E 73 & FER33%
#Luxury Regalty B 217
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b)  For the year ended 31 December 2022
(continued)

(i)

Luxury Regal Limited (“Luxury
Regal”) and its subsidiary
(collectively referred as the “Luxury
Regal Group”) (continued)

Luxury Regal is the sole legal and
beneficial owner of the entire issued
shares capital of China AF Asset
Management Limited ("CAFML"),
a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, and which
is licensed and authorised by the
Securities and Futures Commission
to engage in Regulated Activity Type
4 (advising on securities) and Type 9
(asset management) as defined in the

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=1+—HILFE
43. HEMEBLF (&)
(b) BE-ZE-_—_F+=-A=+-—
HiEFE (%)
(i) Luxury Regal Limited

([Luxury Regal /) R &t

B LAl (#7245 [Luxury

Regal£/8 /) (&

Luxury Regal&# B 2 {3
BEEBEARAA([#
BEEEE]) 2D &
TTRANE—EERER
BAEN FEEEEER
REBEMAZNFRRD
A-EAESMHEER
ERZE R IRER
FEF LB GO AE

B4 (RBFREER)

REom (RHEEERE)

Securities and Future Ordinance. SZHEEE
HK$'000
FAETT
Consideration received: BRAARAE :
Cash received 2R e 400

Analysis of assets and liabilities over

RERBIENEERBE

which control was lost: DT
HK$'000
FHET
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFE 173
Other payables H e IR (14)
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE 159
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Annual Report 2023 —Z = = F 43}

267



268

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLFE

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HEMBLAT (&)
(b)  For the year ended 31 December 2022 b) BE-EBE=-=—F+=-—BA=+-—

(continued) HILEE (8)

(i) Luxury Regal Limited (“Luxury (i) Luxury Regal Limited
Regal”) and its subsidiary ([Luxury Regal /) & &Kt
(collectively referred as the “Luxury BAa (##EA [Luxury
Regal Group”) (continued) Regal%£/E /) (#&)

Gain on disposal of Luxury Regal Group: 4 & Luxury Regals B/

W :

HK$'000

FET

Cash received 2R & 400
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE (159)
Gain on disposal & W as 241

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMELENRESRAFRE:

Cash consideration received BEWBRSRE 400
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BReRREFE (173)
227

(i)  Konson Group (i) EEE
On 30 December 2021, the Group N-_EBE-_—F+=-_A=+
entered into a disposal agreement with H- A&EEE—-—FZELE
an independent third party, to dispose =HEIEERE AT
the entire share capital of Konson EEENEIPRAEAT —
to an independent third party, at a ZEIE=ZF REA
consideration of HK$8,000,000. The 8,000,000/ 7T #% Hi & =
disposal was completed on 22 April BHER -_ZE-__FIA
2022. T+ -HZEK-

HK$'000
FHET

Consideration received: BERRE:
Cash received BUIR & 8,000

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIE¥E&ER DT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-ZT-=F+-A=+—HLFE

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) For the year ended 31 December 2022

(continued)

(i)

Konson Group (continued)

Analysis of assets and liabilities over

43. HEKEBLE (&)

(b) BE—ZE-_—_F+=A=+-—

HitFE ()

(i) FEFH &)
RERBIENEERBE

which control was lost: ST
HK$'000
FET
Interest in associate REEE N a2 #Exs 13,546
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREFHAE 3
Amount due to the Group FE AN & B 5K I8 3)
Net assets BEFE 13,546
Loss on disposal of Konson Group: HEREEBENEIE:
HK$'000
FET
Cash received BEUIR & 8,000
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE (13,546)
Loss on disposal & &R (5,546)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEANRESRAFE:
Cash consideration received BUIE S RE 8,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents oM e IR EE (3)
7,997
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE =F+ZRA=+—HIFE

44. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN A 44,

SUBSIDIARY

Disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary
without change of control for the year ended

31 December 2023

On 16 November 2023, the Group entered into an
instrument of transfer with an independent third
party, to dispose 49% share capital of Seal Eco
Recycling Limited (“SERL”) to an independent third
party, at a consideration of HK$49. This resulted
in a decrease in the Group's equity interest in SERL
from 100% to 51%. The transaction was completed
on 16 November 2023. Approximately HK$14,000
representing the amounts of the interest of SERL
disposed was recognised in other reserves.

—ENEAREEERZ B

BE-Z-=F+=-A=+—HL#F
EHE—HYEZHESS ZMEL
AN ERE
R-FEZ_=F+—A+ B AEHFH
— BB E=FEI N — 1 EEE
Nm—Z2BUE=FEHEBNTER
RERLAB (BHNEERR]) 49%H)
AR AN - 1&?3%49/%7E EERAEER
B EERROKEHIO0% FEE
51% R PERE_=F+—A8
+AREZK -BELESHTERRES
B 8 414,0008 T E R E M fE R
MR o

HK$'000
FET

Consideration transferred: BaEZEA(E:
Other receivables H b EUL IR —*

A schedule of the effect of disposal of partial interest

tﬁ’%—F‘ﬂI,ﬁ\%H il 4 2 B8

in a subsidiary without losing control is as follow: HoEmTE —BERET:
HK$'000
FHET
Carrying amount of 49% equity interest in B B85 L EIRIRII% R IE
SERL disposed of HEREE (14)
Less: Consideration transferred B EEERE —*
Difference recognised in other reserves PR E M FH & RN E5
within equity (14)
& Amount less than HK$1,000 * ® K P1,000% 7T
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45.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ZT_=F+_A=t+—HIEFE
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45. BEALTRS
(@)  Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated a) BEAVBREMBITHES
financial statements, the Group has entered SN N2 EAE N ERGE A TETT
into the following significant transactions with UTEAZS:
related parties during the year:
Name of related party Nature of transaction 2023 2022
BEALER HE REHE —EC-=f i SS
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER
Gold Wide (Note i) Reimbursement of finance costs borne - 61)
by lenders
&5k (FI5H) BREREEZBERA
Darkstone Investment Group Limited  Interest on borrowings - (14)
(Note ii)
Darkstone Investment Group Limited ~ {E (7 &
(BifsEii)
Chan Kee Holdings Limited Purchases of grocery food products - (510)
("Chan Kee") (Note iii)
RasBERAR ([BRL)) BERMEM
B
So David Tat Man (Note ii) Interest on borrowings - (18)
& (P fEFRALE,
Notes: 3T -
(i) Gold Wide is an associate of the Group. 0) S ARNEBR VBT AL
(ii) So David Tat Man is the common director (ii) # = Y B Darkstone

of Darkstone Investment Group Limited
and the Company. During the year ended
31 December 2022, a loan agreement was
entered into between So David Tat Man
and King Health International Holdings
Limited (“King Health”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to
loan agreement, So David Tat Man agreed
to lend a loan of HK$400,000 to King
Health, at a fixed interest rate of 10% per
annum, repayable within 1 month. As at
31 December 2022, the loan and interest
receivables due to So David Tat Man had
been fully settled.

Investment Group Limited }z
RKARIMEREZ-HE
T ZF+ZA=1+— ElJJ:
FE BEXHAQAEE
iR Tﬁﬁ'ﬁlﬂﬁ ZRR AR
AEI([EAED L —0ER
e - BT, %ﬁ?ﬂﬂ%% BRIE X
A & 1) {2 & 42 4 & 51400,000
BT BEFRER”I0% A
MBEAREZE - R=_T==
F+ZA=1+—8 Ed&
ENHEREFRRAEEE
HEH -
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Annual Report 2023 =% = = F F 3}

271



272

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

45.

(a)

(iii)

On 4 February 2016, Maxford Wealth
Limited ("Maxford Wealth”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, formed an entity
named Right Ocean Asia Limited (“Right
Ocean”) with an independent third party,
Ms. Yoo Young Jun (“Ms. Yoo") (the spouse
of Mr. Chan Yung Chin (“Mr. Chan”), of
which Mr. Chan is the substantial shareholder
of Chan Kee. Pursuant to the agreements
entered into by Right Ocean and Mr. Chan,
Ms. Yoo and Mr. Chan shall procure Chan
Kee to enter into the trademark licence
agreement and the sole distributorship
agreement with Right Ocean, for the sole
and exclusive sale and distribution of the
grocery food products and right to use
the trademark granted by Chan Kee at nil
consideration within Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan for the period from 4 February 2016
to 31 December 2018.

On 25 March 2019, the trademark licence
agreement and the sole distributorship
agreement have been renewed for a period
of 3 years.

Details of the trademark licence agreement
and the sole distributorship agreement with
Right Ocean are set out in the Company's
announcements dated 4 February 2016 and
25 March 2019.

Upon the formation of Right Ocean, the
equity of Right Ocean is held as to 51%
by Maxford Wealth and 49% by Ms. Yoo.
Therefore, Right Ocean became a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEI|R £ EER A7
Annual Report 2023 =T = = F &

45,

BEEALRS (&)

(a)

(%

Bt : (#&)

(iii)

RZE—-—R"EZANA-
Maxford Wealth Limited
([Maxford Wealth |) (&2
AE2EWBEAR) B E
=FaEELt (e tl)
(REAEE(REE] 2
) (Rt rRaEmE
ERR)RT BB REE DR
MERRB(THE]NE
BB EHEREERT L
MipeE RZE—A~F=A
MABZE-_Z—NF+=A
=+ —AHHE - agtT kR
S B R R A BB B 5T L
PR AT Hp o M B — D dH
MEUAREREREE R
FIRBEEBE-—RBERHEER
DiEE MR M R A RS AR
SRR MRS

WZZB-AF=RA=+aH"
BIRS TS R E — D HE
BECEERH=F-

BRSNS HERE
—DHEEHEIFBEER
ARNHEBEA-T—XRF=
AmMBE-_Z—NAF=A
—t+HRBAZAM

RS BB % BB 2=
i Maxford Wealth# B51%
NABIZTRE49% © Bt -
BB BRNATIEZENB

nale



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a)

(b)

(iii)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, a
shareholder loan agreement was entered into
between Maxford Wealth and Right Ocean,
pursuant to which Maxford Wealth has
agreed to lend a loan of HK$11,000,000 to
Right Ocean, with a fixed interest rate of 5%
per annum and repayable on demand.

Another loan agreement was entered
into between Right Ocean and Chan Kee,
pursuant to which Right Ocean has agreed
to lend a loan of HK$6,000,000 to Chan
Kee, with Mr. Chan's personal guarantee,
a fixed interest rate of 7% per annum,
repayable within 36 months after the date
of drawdown for business operation. As at
31 December 2021, the loan and interest
receivables due from Chan Kee has been fully
settled.

Compensation of key management
personnel
The key management comprises all the

Directors, details of their remuneration are
disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The remuneration of the Directors is
determined by the remuneration committee

having regard to the performance of individuals
and market trends.

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=F+_A=t+—HIEFE
BEALXRS (&)
(@ (&)
st (48)

(iif) (&)

Bz -+ =A
=+—A1EFE  Maxford
Wealth B2 55 )8 5] 37 ik 3 B 5K
¥ 3% & Itk Maxford Wealth
EREMBESREER
11,000,000/ 7T + & F 7| &
R5% - HIRREKER-

BSERREIIL S —HER
e B EIEE R E MR
202 1 B 76,000,000/ 7T
(PR ERMEEAER)
B EFF R A7%  BRIRE
EEBE2 2 AH%36(@ A
NEE-NR_T_—F+_=
A=+—8 ERELAE
WERLFEEBELEH -

(b) FEEEASHMH

IREREEOREHEST KF
B H B A BN AR B B B IRk M
12

EEFMOBFTFHEEERE
BERIALTHRBETHBEM
BE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE U I IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

46.

RABIBARR K R

2023 2022
—=—= —F-—

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FETT

Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b R UL FRIR 384 231
Amounts due from subsidiaries N NG E 152,593 166,957
Cash and cash equivalents RekREeFE 17 15
152,994 167,203

Current liabilities REEE
Other payables H & < RKIB 9,618 11,929
Amounts due to subsidiaries R ENGIE S 85,124 84,336
Borrowings & 24,532 22,298
119,274 118,563
Net current assets REBEEFE 33,720 48,640
Net assets EEFE 33,720 48,640

Capital and reserves BEXR#E

Share capital % 7 1,300 1,300
Reserves Gk (a) 32,420 47,340
Total equity R 33,720 48,640
The Company’s statement of financial position was EEgRN_T_MEFLAT+-_AHE

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 12 July 2024 and are signed on its behalf
by:

So David Tat Man
BRIEX
Director

EF
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Liu Chun Fai
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Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

Annual Report 2023 —Z = = F 43}

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 46. AATEHERRABEEEE (F)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(a) Reserves (a) f#E
Share
Share  Contributed options Special Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve feserve reserve losses Total
ROEE  BARY EBRERE  RRIRE  HeRE  RiER Eh)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T T T Thn T Thn T
At 1 January 2022 R_E-—F-f-H - 650,298 1,800 28,769 (764) (628,335) 51,768
Loss and total comprehensive FERBRRZARY R
expense for the year - - - - - (7,248) (7,248)
Issuing of new shares upon rights & REETHR A
issue 3,607 - - - - - 3,607
Transaction costs attributable RERESTHRD
to ssuing of new shares upon BENRSRA
rights issue (787) - - - - - (787)
At 31 December 2022 W-E-ZF+-f
=1+-A 2820 650,298 1,800 28,769 (764) (635,583) 47,340
Loss and total comprehensive FERBRRZARY R
expense for the year - - - - - (14,920) (14,920
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZE+2R
=t-H 2,820 650,298 1,800 28,769 (764) (650,503) 32,420
China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

47. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 47. HBATHEE
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held BEAATRREHREEREER
by the Company at the end of the reporting period BB AR EFBFEHY N T :

are set out below:

Place of
Legal form of incorporation/ Paid-up issued/ Proportion of ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary entity operations registered capital by the Company Principal activities
EMAL/
WEARER EREERS EEBE HBRERST/ERRE KRR RAEER LA TEER
Directly Indirectly
HE 53
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC-=f -T--F ZBCIZE -—T-o-F

Kama Business Holdings Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Kama Business Holdings Limited BRERAR ERRAES 1ET2 Bk REER
Goodlink Corporation Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  One-stop value chain

services
BEERAR EREART &k AT ERR —$AEEBRE
Anson Development Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$100 100% 100% - - Inactive
EIRERERAA BREMAF B 10072 £ BEHK
Grand Protection Holdings Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ERERERAT EREARE EBRRHE &2 Bk REER
Kaley Development Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
REXRARRA EREARE EBRREE (B34 35l EXE
Hoi Fan Investment Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary shares of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
ARREERRT EREARR EBRRES B34 350 EXT
Wide Graceful Holdings Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary shares of US§1 100% 100% - - Securities holding
Wide Graceful Holdings Limited BREFAH EBREUEE IELZERR FEES
Cyberpress Limited (Note €) Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$100 - - - 100%  Inactive
FEARRA (Hizte) EREARR % 100872 EER EXT
Treasure Yield Investment Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
EERAARRA EREMEAR % 1AL ERK EXE
Joy Gold Trading Enterprises Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Joy Gold Trading Enterprises Limited BRELAR REREAES IELZERR RERR
King Health (Note b) Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 - - - 100%  Trading of grocery

food products and

consumables
& (fzh) EREERR EE 1B ERR E‘}éﬁu“u&‘}ﬁﬁu%

2%
Luster Shine Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Luster Shine Limited BREMLAR EBRAHE 1ET ERk RERR
All Ready Holdings Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
All Ready Holdings Limited BREFAH HERLES 1ETL LRk REARR
Skyline Top Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary shares of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
AERERRA EREAAR EBRRHE 1En2 Bk RAZR
Wise Success Holdings Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary shares of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding

US$50,000
Wise Success Holdings Limited AREMLAR RBEAHS 50,0002 £k REER
On Good Investment Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HK$10,000
RERERRAA BREAAR Bk 10,0008 7T 2 & Mk REERK
* English name for identification only
# Wholly foreign owned enterprise 3 INEEERE
€ Wholly domestic owned enterprise ¢ 2ENEDRE
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47.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 47. MEBATIEE (&)
Place of
Legal form of incorporation/ Paid-up issued/ Proportion of ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary entity operations registered capital by the Company Principal activities
EMAL/
MELRERE EREERA EXE BRERST/ERRE KARAMBHEEERLE TEXH
Directly Indirectly
HE GE:3
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE-ZfE “Z--F CZBCZE “T-oF
Ye Lei Investment Consulting (Shenzhen) — Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co,, Ltd.* RMB100,000 (Note a)
BEREFH ORI ERAR EREEAT HE ARH100,00072 REBR
B (fea)
Shenzhen Shanglei Agricultural Products Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 80% 80%  Inactive
Investment Co., Ltd.** RMB10,000,000 (Note a)
MITHERERREERAF BRAART P AFRH10,000,0007T.2 BXH
FMERA (Hzta)
Fujian Seton Investment Co., Ltd** Limited liability PRC Paid up capital of - - 100% 100%  Property holding
RMB50,000,000
REHAREFRAF BRAEAA PE ABH50,000,0007T.2 BENE
BRRA
King Noble Holdings Limited (Note b) Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of - - - 100%  Investment holding
US§50,000
King Noble Holdings Limited (Ffi5h) BREFAH RBRIHE 50,000% 7T 2 Eilfk REARR
Fine Champion Holdings Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
US$50,000
Fine Champion Holdings Limited BREMLAR EBRNES 50,0002 EBR REER
Total Famous Investment Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HK$10,000
ERRABRLT AREERT &R 10,0007 2 &K RARR
Chengwang Investment* Limited liability PRC Paid up capital of - - 100% 100%  Inactive
RMB100,000
EEREAY BREEAT HE AR¥100,00072 EXH
BRBA
Shenzhen Chuanshi Shengbank Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 80% 80%  Inactive
Investment Co., Ltd.** RMB10,000,000 (Note a)
MM ELENEEERAF BRAART E ARH10,000,0007T.2 BET
FMERA (Hzta)
Delightful Hope Limited (Note ¢) Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$100 - - 50% 50%  Investment holding
FRERAR (M) BREEAT EBRLHE 100572 &R REZR
China Smart Asia Limited (Note ¢) Limited liability HK Ordinary share of HK$1 - - 50% 50%  Investment holding
EATNERAA (ko) EREAAR 35 1Bz &Rk RAZR
Shengshi Fugiang® (Note ¢) Limited liability PRC Ordinary share of - - 50% 50%  Property holding
US$5,000,000
Bt ER (Fc) AREEAT P 5,000,000% 72 £ Bk BENE
Skyline Best Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
REEBRAF BRELAT ERRAHS 1ET 5Bk REER
Top Yield Properties Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
MEEEERAT BRELAR £k 1B ERk REER
Hongkong Shangligao Properties Co., Ltd.  Limited liability Taiwan Paid up capital of - - - 100%  Property holding
Taibei Branch (Note e) NTD1,000,000
ERBNGERARDAELA LA BREMAT =) 14 711,000,0007.2 BENE
(Mite) BRRE
Great Hero Global Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
BERRERAR BREERA EBRNHES 1R EBR RAZR
* English name for identification only
# Wholly foreign owned enterprise # INEEERE
+ Wholly domestic owned enterprise 3 TENERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

47. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 47. MIBATIEE (&)
Place of
Legal form of incorporation/ Paid-up issued/ Proportion of ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary entity operatior; registered capital by the Company Principal activities
ML
WEAREE ERiEHA EXE BRBRYT/ERRE KARAMBHEEERLE TEEH
Directly Indirectly
E& 5k

2023 2022 2023 2022
ZB-ZE -“T--F ZB-ZE -—T--F

Global Brands Management Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary share of - - 51% 51%  Inactive
HK$500,000

RRMBEERRAR BREMLAR B 500,000 702 E AR BEH

Splendor Health Holdings Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding

HRERERAF EREEAE ERERHE 1En2 Rk REER

Harmony Alliance Holdings Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding

Harmony Alliance Holdings Limited BREMAR KBRIES [Eird3:1 REER

Kingtop Asia Investment Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Group administration

BERABRAA EREARE &k BT ERR EEER

King Health Investment Holdings Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Trading of agricultural
HK$10,000 products

ERREBRERAR EREAAR &R 10,0008 7T 2 & Mk BERZS

Gold Goal International Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding

Gold Goal International Limited ARERAT REERHES 1R Bk REER

Success Royal Investment Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding

SRREARRA ARERAT &R BTz ERK BEN%

Brilliant Element Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of HK$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding

Brillant Element Limited ARERAR Bk 1B Bk REAR

Fantastic Alliance Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding

Fantastic Alliance BRERAT REETES [ES4:3:1)4 REAR

YIHE Enterprise Holding Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of - - 70% 70%  Investment holding
US$50,000

HAREERERAR EREARRA ABRREE 50,000% T2 Bk RERK

Huge Famous Corporation Limited (Note b)  Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - - 70%  Trading of grocery
HK$10,000 food products

#BERAR (Mib) BREEARA 30 10,0007 7T 2 & % BARMES

L & T Development (HK) Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Inactive
HK$10,000

EREEERARAA BREARR 3 10,0007 7T 2 & @k BXB

Maxford Wealth Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding

Maxford Wealth Limited EREMLAR RERAES [ESwa:1:1)4 REAER

Right Ocean Asia Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - 51% 51%  Trading of grocery
HK$10,000 food products

BAENERAH EREERR & 10,000 T2 Bk BHRMES

SERL (Note b) Limited liability HK Ordinary share of HK$100 - - 51% 100%  Inactive

BRHEERR (Mib) BREMRT R 10072 E A B2

Kingview Master Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding

Kingview Master Limited BREFAH RERIES (B3 REMR

Wider Profit Investment Limited (Note d) Limited liability HK Ordinary share of HK$1 - - 50% 50%  Investment holding

BEREARAR (Mid) ARERAF Eh BTz ERK RERR

* English name for identification only

# Wholly foreign owned enterprise 3 INEEERE

+ Wholly domestic owned enterprise 3 TENERE

278 China Eco-Farming Limited FEI|R £ EER A7

Annual Report 2023 —Z = = F 4§



47.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 47. MBATIEE (&)
Place of
Legal form of incorporation/ Paid-up issued/ Proportion of ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary entity operations registered capital by the Company Principal activities
EMAL/
MELRERE EREERA EXE BRERST/ERRE KRR RAEER LA TEXH
Directly Indirectly
HE GE:3
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE-ZfE “Z--F CZBCZE “T-oF
Glory Delights Investment Limited (Note d)  Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - 50% 50%  Investment holding
HK$10,000
EAREERAF (Fitd) BREEAT &k 10,000 702 & & REER
Shenzhen Xuyao Corporate Consultancy Limited liability PRC Paid up capital of - - 50% 50%  Property holding
and Management Co., Ltd.* (Note d) RMB100,000
AmBEERHAELARAT ARELAT P ARH100,0007T 2 81 8 BENE
(Mzkd) e
Shenzhen Intelligent Future Investment Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 40% 40%  Inactive
Co., Ltd. ** (Note d) RMB10,000,000 (Note a)
?ﬁﬂ‘\ﬁ%ﬂ%*%&ﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬂ* EREEAT HE AEM10,000,000%ZH BEH
(Mizkd) THARA (Bizta)
Supreme Faith Investment Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of HK$1 100% 100% - - Securities holding
ERREARAR BREERT £k BT ERR BEES
Treasure Max Investment Holdings Limited ~ Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
BEXREBRERAR EREAAR RBRRAHE B4 il REER
Inno-Bag Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary share of HK$2,000 - - 60% 60%  Trading of
consumables
RERRICEERDA BRERAR &k 2,000 T2 Sk HERES
Allied Realty Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Allied Realty Limited BREFAH EBRAHE (B3 1 RERR
China Agricultural Finance Group Limited ~ Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 - 100% - - Investment holding
(Note b)
PEEEEREEERAA (M) EREART EBRREE B4 3l REZR
Powerline Gain Limited (Note ) Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 - - - 100%  Investment holding
Powerline Gain Limited (if3e) BREAAT EBRAHE &2 Bk REER
Award Fortune Limited (Note e) Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 - - =% 100%  Investment holding
Award Fortune Limited (ff3e) BREAAT EBRAHE 1ET LRk REZR
China AF Corporate Finance Limited Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - - 100%  Inactive
(Note e) HK$2,000,000
PEACHBERARLE (Mite) BREERT 35 2,000,000/ 7.2 & R BXH
Success Future Holdings Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Success Future Holdings Limited BREMLAR AERNES 1ET Rk REER
China AF Capital Limited (Note b) Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - - 100%  Financial consultancy
HK$1,000,000
PEREERARAR (M) ARELRT B 1,000,0007 7T 2 & & BFEE
Main Supreme Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEERAR EREEAT ARANHES 1ZRZEBR REER
CAFFL Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Money lending
HK$10,000 services
PEEEHE EREEAT &k 10,0008 7T 2 & #k HERS
Deluxe Noble Holdings Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Deluxe Noble Holdings Limited BREAAH HBRUEE 1EL LR RERR
* English name for identification only
# Wholly foreign owned enterprise # INEEERE
+ Wholly domestic owned enterprise 3 TENERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BHE =F+ZRA=+—HIFE
47. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 47. MIBATIEE (&)
Place of
Legal form of incorporation/ Paid-up issued/ Proportion of ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary entity operations registered capital by the Company Principal activities
EMEAL/
WEARER EREERS EEBE BRBB/HRRE RARFERAEER LA TEER
Directly Indirectly
HE B
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC-=f -T-o-F CZBCIZE -T-o-F
China AF Investment Limited (Note b) Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - - 100%  Investment holding
HK$10,000
PEREREFRAF (Mib) BREMLAR &k 10,000 7.2 ERR RERHK
Philippines Investment Holdings Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 - - - 100%  Investment holding
(Note b)
Philippines Investment Holdings Limited BRELAR KBRAHS (B3 1 REER
(Mzb)
China-Philippines Human Resources Limited liability HK Ordinary shares of - - - 51%  Inactive
Services Limited (Note b) HK$10,000
REANTRERBERAR (Hib) BREMLAR &k 10,0008 7T 2 & &k BXH
Allied Wisdom Investment Holdings Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Inactive
Limited
RERAERERAR EREAAR KBEAHS [ESia:3:1)d BEH
Hong Kong Grain and Oil Manufacturing ~ Limited liability HK Ordinary share of - - 100% 100%  Inactive
Company Limited (Note f) HK$10,000

ERERRMHEARAR (M) EREEAT Bk 10,0007 2 EBK BEH

Cheer Up Global Limited Limited liability BVI Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Securities holding

Cheer Up Global Limited BREARR ERRNES [Eiwd:3:1)4 FEES

Ruidafeng Technology (Chengdu) Co., Ltd ** Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 100% - Inactive

RMB1,000,000 (Note a)
g BRR (R#) RO EREEAT HE AR¥1,000,00072 BEH
MRA (Hizta)
Sichuan Tixian Ji Brand Management and ~ Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 100% - Trading of grocery
Development Co., Ltd ** RMB10,000,000 (Note a) food products
M) RE LR ERERERAT AREEAT HE AR %10,000,0007 2 BHRRES
AMRA (Hzta)
Chengdu Fresh Season Preferred West Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 99% - Inactive
Coast Community Life Service RMB2,000,000 (Note a)
Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(Note g)**
REBREFEERFLREERERY  BRERLA HE AR#2,000,00072 BEH
% (BRA%) (Hig)+ MR (Mta)
Tixian Ji (Chengdu) Catering Management  Limited liability PRC Registered capital of - - 100% - Inactive
Co,, Ltd ** RMB1,000,000 (Note a)
RED (KB ERERAREALR EREALA E AR 1,000,000, 2 BEH
FMRA (Hzta)

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities RREFEER ZEME QR EET

at the end of both years. ERIERE

Notes: B & :

(@)  The registered capital has not been paid up at @ R-B_=FR-_ZF__F+_H
31 December 2023 and 2022. =t+— B FEfMRAEREE -

(b)  These subsidiaries were disposed/partial disposed of b)) ZEWBARARBZE=Z==
during the year ended 31 December 2023. (Details +Z A=+ RALEEHE HBH
are disclosed in Notes 43 and 44.) & (FBERIF43 44 FE )

* English name for identification only

# Wholly foreign owned enterprise 3 INEEERE

€ Wholly domestic owned enterprise ¢ 2ENEDRE
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47.

48.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(0

(e)

(9)

The Group owns 50% equity interest in Delightful
Hope Limited, China Smart Asia Limited and
Shengshi Fugiang respectively, and Shengshi Fugiang
owns 51% equity interest in Guangxi Southwest
Alliance Wood Industry Co., Ltd. (collectively
the "“Delightful Hope Group”). Based on the
shareholder’s agreement between the Group and
other investors, the Group has the power to appoint
2 out of 3 directors of the board of directors of
the Delightful Hope Group. Since the relevant
activities of the Group are determined by the board
of directors of the Delightful Hope Group based
on simple majority votes. Therefore, the Director
concluded that the Group has control over the
Delightful Hope Group and accordingly, they are
classified as subsidiaries.

The Group owns 50% equity interest in Wider
Profit Investment Limited, Glory Delights Investment
Limited and Shenzhen Xuyao Corporate Consultancy
and Management Co., Ltd. (“Xuyao Corporate’)
respectively and Xuyao Corporate owns 80% equity
interest in Shenzhen Intelligent Future Investment
Co., Ltd. (collectively the "Wider Profit Group”).
Based on the shareholder’s agreement between
the Group and other investors, the Group has the
power to appoint 3 out of 5 directors of the board
of directors of the Wider Profit Group. Since the
relevant activities of the Group are determined by
the board of directors of the Wider Profit Group
based on simple majority votes, the Directors
concluded that the Group has control over the Wider
Profit Group and accordingly, they are classified as
subsidiaries.

These subsidiaries were deregistered during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The subsidiary was disposed of subsequent to the
reporting period.

The subsidiary was deregistered of subsequent to the
reporting period.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

The Group settled a borrowing through the Forced
Sale of the Mortgaged Property during the year ended
31 December 2023.

Details of the Forced Sale are disclosed in Note 33(d).

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
47. MEX RS (&)
MisE: (48)

() REBRFRERD R EARTM
BER AR R E®RD B #EAB50%
% 42 - 1 A%t 5 A & 7 O R B BB
AMEXERAR (B FhE
B HEBS1%MRE - EREAEE
HBEMEEEZHENRERZE &
SEERZAFHEEESTSR =
FEEFHMEBES - ARAEE
HEESHAMEBRESTSENE
BEAZHEFAET At E2175
tE&Ewm AEESHSHEERRERZ
HliE mMEEREESEAKB AT -

(d) REBREREREER A A &
BEARAR KR BEDEFR
MEEARAR ([JBENE]) DRI
BEHS0%ME R BEZ D EHE AR
T Z R E B R QD FI80%AR
(fEAsEEEE]) - ERAEE
HBHEMBEEZRERE A5EH
ERZAGHEECESEENAE
EEFN=-RES -HRAEER
HEHRBEEECESSRMGE
AEHREET ESBLEH A&
EYiSHEEBEE T E mMEE
EESEANB AR -

€ ZEWEBLARARBZE-_T-_=F
+ZA=+—RHIEFEFH-

() ZHBRRRIRERREE-
(9 ZMBARRRERREH-

48. FEFHRERSH
KREFREBEE-_ZET_=F+_ A8
—+—BIEFEFBEEFYERT

HEEERBR
58 ) & S IF W EE R M RE33(d) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE
RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

49,

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those which cash flows were,
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's

49. RMEFTHELENREUR

TRAJNASERELZHELNERE
28 BRRAEMIFRCEFH BER
BELANBELARTHRERED X
ARBEREFRAEEFEARE TR
ERNEABERDMSRERELZ

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flow afE:
from financing activities:
Finance costs
Amounts payable
due to non- (included
controlling Margin loans in other
interests  Borrowings payables Lease liabilities payables) Total
FEf
FEft HEHA
FERRR EffEe (s AEf
EnE &% £ HERE  EfHE) Eh
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr T Tin Tk Tén Thn
At 1 January 2022 R-Z--F-A-H 3,645 41,040 6,090 506 9,873 61,154
Changes from cash flows: Biigke):
New borrowings raised HERREX - 1,100 - - - 1,100
Repayment of borrowings EEER - (2,917 - - - 2917)
Repayment of margin loans EERELER - - (1,774) - - (1,774
Repayment of lease liabilties EEHEEE - - - (527) - (527)
Interest paid BfHE - - (81) - (3.254) (3,339)
- (1817) (1,855) (527) (3,254) (7,453)
Non-cash changes: FE2RE
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries NEGAABHBAT (900) (750) - - - (1,650)
Foreign exchange movement HNEZD - (692) - - (150) (842)
Finance cost BERA - - 533 21 3718 427
(900) (1,442 533 21 3,568 1,780
At 31 December 2022 RZE--F+-A=1-H 2,145 37,181 4768 - 10,187 55,481
Changes from cash flows: Bzigke):
New borrowings raised HERER - 4318 = - - 4318
Repayment of borrowings BERER - (1525) = = - (1525)
Repayment of margin loans ERRELER 2 - (3,083) - - (3,083)
Interest paid BRI - - - - (549) (545)
- 2,193 (3,083) - (545) (835)
Non-cash changes: FE2EE
Mortgaged property Forced Sale BERMERHLE
off-set borrowing BHER - (8,190) = = (1,590) (9,780)
Finance costs payable transfer to borowing ~~ ERZEHANEABERA - 113 - - (113) =
Foreign exchange movement NEZY - (560) - - (101) (661)
Finance cost E s - - 380 - 258 2,962
- (8,637) 380 - 778 (7.479)
At 31 December 2023 R-BZZF+-R=t-A 2,745 31,937 2,065 - 10,420 47,167
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50.

51.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

CAPITAL COMMITMENT 50. EAREIE
2023 2022
—E=-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHEIT
Contracted for but not provided in the T ] #1E RN ER A BT 75
consolidated financial statements: MR PR -
Unpaid registered capital for subsidiaries [} /& 2 &) & &5 £ it B A
(Note 47(a)) (F5E47(a)) 46,150 33,956
Capital injection in an investment R—IERETE 570 -
Capital expenditure in respect of FUEE — M B R R
the acquisition of further equity RRSMIRE R & AR X
interests in a subsidiary (Note 23(a)) (FF3E23(@a)) 9,246 9,246
55,966 43,202

LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Up to the date of this report, the litigation against
Shengshi Fugiang as detailed in Note 30(c) is under
appeal sought by the Plaintiff and Shengshi Fugiang is
currently seeking for legal advice for the appeal.

51. HRABRHIRER
BHZEAREHE - a0k 5E30() 2t 7Y
HRTERIRENFABRERE L
o RBttERBRIES K EFHFAER
B
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BB E

The following is a summary of the published results and
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial
years prepared on the basis set out in the notes below:

AT R T M re R R RENANEE B
EREAMBRFELETNEXEREERAR

HIREE -

Year ended 31 December

HET-A=+-HL#FE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZB-ZF —T_-f T _TTF _FT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TET TEX
Continuing operations BERSEEK
Turnover 3 48,952 26,134 73,267 35,196 31,836
Loss before taxation BREAIEE (20,230) (69,706) (52,120) (73,412) (106,147
Taxation I 26 948 (500) 14,528 6,669
Loss after tax from continuing REBELEEBN
operations BRIREE (20,204) (68,758) (52,620) (58,884) (99,478)
Discontinued operations BRIEREER
Loss after tax from discontinued RECKRILEEEBR
operations BT EE - - - - -
Loss for the year AEEER (20,204) (68,758) (52,620) (58,884) (99,478)
Non-controlling interests JEPR AR AR R R (356) 6,399 1,350 39 67
Loss attributable to equity ARRESZRRERS
shareholders of the Company BB (20,560) (62,359) (51,270) (58,845) (99,411)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE BERFERBRRER
INTERESTS
Year ended 31 December
BZ+-A=t-BLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZE-=f -—E--F =—E--F =-—E-TE —E-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT THEL THT THET
Total assets BEE 123,782 162,095 238,713 270,125 354,864
Total liabilities BafrE (73,464) (90,161) (109,533) (94,990) (132,273)
Non-controlling interest R R ER (36,515) (36,316) (40,906) (36,560) (36,474)
Equity attributable to owners of AREHA AEGRER
the Company 13,803 35,618 88,274 138,575 186,117
The summary above does not form part of the audited A FHIEW THEKCERMERERDN —E5H -

financial statements.
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